Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

12-14-2010 12:00 AM

The role of the Mcm2 subunit in regulating the activities of the Mcm2-7 helicase

Brent E. Stead, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Dr. Megan Davey, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy degree in Biochemistry © Brent E. Stead 2010

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Biochemistry Commons

Recommended Citation

Stead, Brent E., "The role of the Mcm2 subunit in regulating the activities of the Mcm2-7 helicase" (2010). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 55. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/55

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

The role of the Mcm2 subunit in regulating the activities of the Mcm2-7 helicase

(Spine title: The role of Mcm2 in regulating Mcm2-7)

(Thesis format: Integrated-Article)

by

Brent E. Stead

Graduate Program in Biochemistry

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada

© Brent E. Stead 2010

CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATION

THE UNIVERSITY OF WESTERN ONTARIO School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies

Dr. David Edgell

Examiners:

Dr. Jennifer Surtees

Dr. Jim Karagiannis

The thesis by

Brent Edward Stead

entitled:

The role of the Mcm2 subunit in regulating the activities of the Mcm2-7 helicase

is accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Date

Chair of the Thesis Examination Board

ii

Supervisor:

Dr. Megan Davey

Supervisory Committee:

Dr. David Litchfield

Dr. David Haniford

Dr. Bonnie Deroo

ABSTRACT

The transmission of genetic information from parental to daughter cells requires the faithful duplication of an organism's genome. Uncontrolled DNA replication can result in proliferative diseases, such as cancer. DNA replication requires a single-stranded DNA template to be produced from duplex DNA. In eukaryotes, DNA unwinding for replication is performed by the heterohexameric replicative helicase complex comprised of the minichromosome maintenance proteins 2 through 7.

Each of the Mcm2-7 subunits likely has a unique role in DNA binding and unwinding by the Mcm2-7 complex. The present study examines the role of the *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* Mcm2 subunit in regulating the activities of Mcm complexes. Using *in vitro* assays for DNA unwinding and DNA binding with *E. coli*-purified Mcm subunits, this work demonstrates that Mcm2 requires nucleotide to actively regulate DNA binding and unwinding by Mcm complexes. These studies define Mcm2 as an active regulatory subunit within the Mcm2-7 complex.

Mcm2-7 is also targeted by various kinases that presumably modulate its activities. The Dbf4-dependent kinase (DDK) comprised of the Cdc7 catalytic subunit and Dbf4 regulatory subunit is one such kinase. Here, the residues of Mcm2 targeted for phosphorylation by DDK were mapped using recombinant proteins and verified in cells. The effects of phosphomimetic substitutions at these positions on the activities of the Mcm2-7 complex were examined. Interestingly, the ATPase activity of Mcm2 of the phosphomimetic Mcm2 is lower compared to wild type. A version of Mcm2-7 containing the phopshomimetic mutant of Mcm2 had a higher affinity for DNA, which in turn inhibited DNA unwinding by the complex. The biological function of phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK in budding yeast was also examined using cells containing a version of mcm2 that cannot be phosphorylated by DDK. This mutation rendered the cells sensitive to agents that cause DNA base damage. Additionally, the mutant allele interacted with genes involved in the DNA damage checkpoint as determined by synthetic genetic array analysis. In sum, a model in which DDK-dependent phosphorylation of Mcm2 regulates its ATPase activity to slow replication forks in the cell's response to DNA damage is proposed.

Keywords: Mcm2, Mcm2-7, helicase, Cdc7, Dbf4, DDK, ATPase, DNA replication, kinase, phosphorylation, cell stress, DNA damage, DNA damage response, checkpoint, budding yeast.

CO-AUTHORSHIP STATEMENT

The following thesis contains material from a previously published manuscript. Megan Davey is a co-author on all materials presented here and was responsible for supervising Brent Stead during his thesis. For all chapters in this thesis, Brent Stead wrote the draft and Megan Davey edited the manuscripts. Christopher Brandl is also an author on the works presented in Chapters 2, 3 and 4.

Brent Stead carried out all the experiments described in this thesis, prepared all the figures and tables with the following exceptions. Xiaoli Ma purified many of the wild type proteins and complexes used in these studies. Catherine D. Sorbara cloned and purified the mutant versions of Mcm3 and Mcm5 used in Chapter 2. Christopher Brandl carried out all tetrad dissections to generate strains in Chapters 2 and 3 and in the verification of the SGA analysis in Chapter 4. Matthew Sandre contributed to analyzing the phenotypes of dissected tetrads in Chapter 4.

DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my mother. Her love and support have made it possible to realize my dreams.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thesis would not have been possible with the supervision, guidance and support of my supervisor Megan Davey over the past five years. My sincerest thanks for all the thought-provoking discussions and assistance with all aspects of my project.

I am indebted to my colleagues, friends and family who have supported me throughout all my years at Western. I thank the members of the Davey lab, past and present. Without your assistance I would not be where I am now. A very special thanks to my family for all their love and support: my mom, dad and brothers Adam and Andrew.

Thanks to all the following people and organizations that have supported me throughout my project:

- Dr. Chris Brandl for your invaluable guidance throughout my project. The commitment of your time to all those tetrad dissections is immensely appreciated.
- Matthew Sandre, first and foremost for your friendship. I am very grateful for all your help these past years.
- Courtney Voss for being there for 5 years of great fun and for all the help with my project.
- Xiaoli Ma for her expert technical assistance.
- Dr. David Litchfield and Dr. David Haniford for your guidance as my advisory committee.
- Dr. David Edgell for insightful advice throughout my project.
- NSERC Post-graduate scholarship, Ontario Graduate Scholarship, Schulich Graduate award

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATION	ii
ABSTRACT	iii
CO-AUTHORSHIP STATEMENT	V
DEDICATION	vi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	viii
LIST OF TABLES	XV
LIST OF FIGURES	xvi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND NOMECLATURE	xix

CHAPTI	ER 1 INTRODUCTION
1.1 D	NA replication in eukaryotes1
1.2 M	echanisms of the minichromosome maintenance proteins 2-74
1.2.1	ATP site architecture of Mcms and related helicases5
1.2.2	DNA binding and unwinding by helicases8
1.2.3	Translocation of helicases11
1.2.4	Models of DNA binding by eukaryotic Mcms12
1.2.5	Mechanisms of DNA unwinding by Mcm2-7 and other helicases14
1.2.6	Other functions of Mcms17
1.3 R	egulation of Mcms17
1.3.1	Role of the Mcm subunits in DNA unwinding17
1.3.2	Cyclin-dependent kinases limit DNA replication to once per cell cycle18
1.3.3	Checkpoint kinases and casein kinase 2 phosphorylate Mcms18
1.3.4	DDK modifies Mcm subunits19

1.4	The	e cell's response to replicative stress and DNA damage	21
1.4	.1	DNA damage and the S phase checkpoint	21
1.4	.2	Replication fork pausing and restart	24
1.4	.3	DDK functions in the cell's response to DNA damage	25
1.4	.4	Mcms in the S phase checkpoint	25
1.5	Oth	er cellular functions of DDK	26
1.6	Yea	ast as a model organism	27
1.7	Sco	pe of Thesis	28
1.8	Ref	erences	31

CHAPTE	R 2 ATP HYDROLYSIS BY MCM2 IS REQUIRED TO REGULATE	E DNA
	BINDING BY MCM COMPLEXES	50
2.1 Int	roduction	50
2.2 Ma	aterials and Methods	51
2.2.1	Materials	51
2.2.2	Plasmids	52
2.2.3	Yeast strains	53
2.2.4	Mcm2 purification	53
2.2.5	Mcm3 ^{PK} and Mcm4 ^{PK}	54
2.2.6	ATP hydrolysis	55
2.2.7	DNA unwinding	56
2.2.8	Affinity Chromatography	57
2.2.9	Labeling of Mcm4 ^{PK} /6/7 and Mcm2-7 ^{3PK}	57
2.2.10	DNA Binding	58
2.3 Re	sults	59
2.3.1	Purification and reconstitution of Mcm subunits and complexes	58
2.3.2	Mutation of the Mcm2/6 interface disrupts ATP hydrolysis	60
2.2.3	Mcm2 _{K549A} interacts with Mcm4/6/7	64

2.	2.4	Mcm2 _{K549A} reduces ATP hydrolysis by Mcm4/6/7	67
2.	2.5	Inhibition of DNA unwinding by Mcm4/6/7 requires ATP binding and/or	
hy	droly	sis by Mcm2	68
2.	2.6	DNA binding by Mcm4/6/7	70
2.	2.7	Mcm2 requires ATP hydrolysis to inhibit ssDNA binding by Mcm4/6/7	73
2.	2.8	Mcm2 _{K549A} alters DNA binding of the Mcm2-7 complex	76
2.	2.9	An Mcm2 mutant with minimal ATP hydrolysis regulates Mcm4/6/7 and	
su	upports	s viability	78
2.	2.10	Mcm3/5 does not restore the activity of Mcm2 _{K549A}	80
2.	2.11	P-loop mutations do not affect inhibition by Mcm3/5	81
2.3	Dis	cussions	82
2.	3.1	ATP sites in Mcm proteins	82
2.	3.2	DNA binding by Mcm4/6/7	83
2.	3.3	Mechanism of Mcm2 inhibition of Mcm4/6/7	84
2.	3.4	Mcm4/6/7 inhibition by Mcm3/5	84
2.	3.5	Mcm2 function within Mcm2-7	85
2.5	Ref	èrences	87

CHAPTER 3 REGULATION OF MCM2-7 ACTIVITY BY DDK PHOSPHORYLATION OF MCM2 OCCURS THROUGH 3.1 3.2 3.2.1 3.2.2 3.2.3 3.2.4 3.2.5 DDK Purification 100 3.2.6

3.2	2.7	Viability Assays	.101
3.2	2.8	Proteins	.101
3.2	2.9	ATP hydrolysis	.102
3.2	2.10	DNA unwinding	.102
3.2	2.11	DNA binding by gel filtration	.103
3.2	2.12	DNA binding by electrophoretic mobility shift assays	.103
3.3	Res	ults	.103
3.3	8.1	DDK modifies Mcm subunits in vitro.	.103
3.3	8.2	DDK phosphorylates Mcm2 at serines 164 and 170 in vitro	.106
3.3	8.3	Serines 164 and 170 of Mcm2 are not essential for normal S. cerevisiae	
gro	owth		.107
3.3	8.4	Phosphomimetic mutations at S164 and S170	.111
3.3	8.5	Biochemical activities of the phosphomimetic Mcm2-7 complex	.112
3.3	8.6	Phosphomimetic Mcm2 has reduced ATP hydrolysis	.119
3.4	Dise	cussion	.122
3.4	l.1	Phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK and cell viability	.122
3.4	1.2	Regulation of Mcm2-7 activities by DDK phosphorylation of Mcm2	.123
3.4	1.3	The potential functions of DDK phosphorylation of Mcm2 in the cell	.124
3.5	Ref	erences	.126
СНА	PTEF	R 4 PHOSPHORYLATION OF <i>SACCHAROMYCES CEREVISIAE</i> MCM2 CDC7/DBF4 IS INVOLVED IN THE CELL'S RESPONSE TO DNA	BY
		DAMAGE	.133
4.1	Intro	oduction	.133
4.2	Mat	erials and methods	.136
4.2	2.1	Materials	.136

4.2.2	2 St	trains and manipulations	136
4.2.3	3 C	ell cycle arrest and fluorescence-activated cell sorting	137
4.2.4	4 SO	GA Analysis	138
4.3	Result	S	140
4.3.1	1 TI	he cell cycle of $mcm2_{AA}$ cells	140
4.3.2	2 Sy	ynthetic sick and lethal interactions with mcm2 _{AA}	142
4.3.3	3 Si	uppression of the caffeine sensitivity of the mcm2 _{AA} strain	144
4.3.4	4 G	rowth of <i>mcm2_{AA}</i> strain in agents that disrupt cell wall integrity	146
4.3.5	5 G	rowth of $mcm2_{AA}$ and $mcm2_{EE}$ cells in the presence of replicative stress	147
4.3.6	5 Sı	uppressors of the sensitivity of $mcm2_{AA}$ in the presence of MMS, 5-FU and	nd
HU			149
4.4	Discus	ssion	149
4.4.1	1 Pl	hosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK is not required for replication initiation	ı149
4.4.2	2 G	enetic interactions with <i>mcm2_{AA}</i>	150
4.4.3	3 TI	he requirement for phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK in response to DN	A
base	damag	ge	153
4.4.4	4 TI	he growth of $mcm2_{AA}xxx\Delta$ cells in replicative stress	154
4.4.5	5 TI	he role of Mcm2 phosphorylation by DDK in budding yeast	155
4.5	Refere	ences	156
CHAP	TER 5	CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS: MCM2 AS AN ACTIVE	
		REGULATOR OF MCM2-7 IN THE CELL'S REPONSE TO DNA	
		DAMAGE	166
5.1	Why s	tudy the regulation of Mcm2-7?	166

5.2	Mcm2 is an active regulator of Mcm complexes	.167
5.3	Allosteric regulation using ATP	.169

5.4	Mcm2 communicates its nucleotide-binding status to other subunits
5.5	The roles of nucleotide hydrolysis in regulating DNA binding and unwinding in
helica	ses
5.6	When is Mcm2 required to regulate DNA binding by Mcm2-7?
5.7	When is ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 regulated by Mcm2 phosphorylation?17
5.8	Putting it all together: a model for how phosphorylation of Mcm2 is required to
slow r	eplication forks170
5.9	How is DNA unwinding resumed if Mcm2 is phosphorylated?178
5.10	Validation of the <i>in vivo</i> Mcm2 target residues of DDK
5.11	Phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK and the S phase checkpoint
5.12	Conclusions
5.13	References
CIRR	ICULUM VITAE

LIST OF APPENDICES

APPENDIX A19	91
--------------	----

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Description	Page
3-1	Oligonucleotides used in these studies	96
3-2	Plasmids used in these studies	97
4-1	Saccharomyces cerevisiae strains used in this study	137
4-2	SSL interactions with $mcm2_{AA}$	144
4-3	Summary of phenotypes associated with suppressors of the caffein	ne
	sensitivity of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain	146

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Description	Page
1-1	Assembly of the complexes necessary for DNA replication during the cell cycle of <i>Saccharomyces cerevisiae</i>	4
1-2	The ATP sites of replicative helicases and subunit arrangement of Mcm2-7	7
1-3	The β -hairpins and ATP site in the X-ray crystallographic structure of SsoMCM and hexamers of SV40 LTag and BPV	e 10
1-4	Models of DNA binding by eukaryotic Mcm complexes	13
1-5	Potential mechanisms of DNA unwinding by Mcm helicases	16
1-6	Overview of kinases known to target the Mcm2-7 complex and the potential cellular functions of DDK phosphorylation	e 20
1-7	Overview of the yeast DNA damage checkpoint and the involvement of DDK	23
2-1	Coomassie Blue R250 stained SDS polyacrylamide (6%) gels of the Mcm mutant proteins and complexes.	ne 60
2-2	Mutations at the Mcm2/6 interface reduce ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2/6	63
2-3	Interaction of Mcm2 with Mcm4/6/7	66
2-4	Effect of Mcm2 on ATP hydrolysis by Mcm4/6/7	68
2-5	Mcm4/6/7 DNA unwinding inhibition by wild type and mutant Mcm2	70
2-6	Binding of Mcm4/6/7 to single stranded DNA	72
2-7	Mcm2 inhibits single stranded DNA binding by Mcm4/6/7	75
2-8	DNA binding by Mcm_{K549A} -7 is enhanced compared to Mcm_{2-7} .	77

2-9	Minimal ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 supports yeast cell viability and Mcm2	79
2-10	Inhibition of Mcm4/6/7 by Mcm3/5	81
3-1	Proteins used in these studies and phosphorylation of Mcms by DDK	105
3-2	Mapping of Mcm2 phosphorylation sites	107
3-3	Strains containing Mcm2 phosphorylation sites mutants are viable	110
3-4	Mcm2 phosphomimetic mutants	112
3-5	Reconstitution $Mcm2_{WT}$ -7 and $Mcm2_{EE}$ -7 complexes and biochemical activities	114
3-6	ssDNA binding by Mcm2 _{WT} -7 and Mcm2 _{EE} -7	117
3-7	Disrupting DNA binding rescues the DNA unwinding defect of $Mcm2_{EE}$ -7	119
3-8	Phosphomimetic substitutions of Mcm2 reduce ATP hydrolysis	121
4-1	Analysis of the cell cycle of $MCM2$ and $mcm2_{AA}$ strains	142
4-2	Suppressors of the sensitivity of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain to caffeine	145
4-3	The growth of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain in cell wall destabilizing agents	147
4-4	Growth of $mcm2_{AA}$ and $mcm2_{EE}$ cells under replicative stress	148
5-1	Model of the function of Mcm subunits within Mcm2-7	168
5-2	Structural changes of the ATP sites of BVP E1 upon nucleotide binding	171
5-3	Trans-interacting residues in SV40 LTag	173
5-4	Models of ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 regulating DNA binding and unwinding by Mcm2-7	175
5-5	Model of phosphorylation of Mcm2 in regulating DNA unwinding by Mcm2-7 during the cell's response to DNA damage	178

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND NOMECLATURE

μCi	Microcurie
μg, mg	Microgram, milligram
µl, ml	Microlitre, millilitre
μM, mM	Micromolar, millimolar
5-FOA	5-Fluorootic Acid
5-FU	5-fluorouracil
AAA+	<u>A</u> TPases <u>a</u> ssociated with a variety of cellular <u>a</u> ctivities
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
ARS	Autonomously replicating sequence
ATM	Ataxia telangiectasia, mutated
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
ΑΤΡγS	Adenosine 5'-[γ-thio]triphosphate
ATR	ATM and Rad3-related
BER	Base excision repair
bp	Base pair
BPV	Bovine papilloma virus
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
Cdc	Cell-division cycle
CDK	Cyclin-dependent kinase
Cdt	Cdc10-dependent transcript 1
CEN	Centromeric
Chk	Checkpoint kinase
CK2	Casein kinase 2
CMG	Cdc45-Mcm2-7-GINS
cpm	Counts per minute
Ctf	Chromosome transmission fidelity
Dbf	DumbBell Forming
Dbp	DNA Polymerase B
Ddc	DNA Damage Checkpoint
DDK	Dbf4-dependent kinase

DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dNTPs	Deoxyribonucleotides
DSB	Double strand break
dsDNA	Double-stranded DNA
DTT	Dithiothreitol
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EMSA	Electrophoretic mobility shift assay
EXT	Exterior
G1	Gap 1
G2	Gap 2
Gal	Galactose
GINS	Go, Ichi, Nii, and San; five, one, two, and three in Japanese
Glu	Glutamic acid
GO	Gene Ontology
HeLa	Human cervical cancer cells
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
HR	Homolgous recombination
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
HU	Hydroxyurea
kDa	Kilodalton
Leu	Leucine
mA	Milliamps
MALDI	Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization
Mat	Mating type
Mcm	Minichromosome maintenance
Mec	Mitosis entry checkpoint
MMS	Methyl methanesulfonate
Mrc	Mediator of the Replication Checkpoint
mtMCM	Mcm complex from Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum
NP-40	Nonyl phenoxypolyethoxylethanol
NT	N-terminal

ORI	Origin
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
РКА	Protein Kinase A
P-loop	Phosphate binding loop
pmol	Picomole
Pre-IC	Pre-initiation complex
Pre-RC	Pre-replicative complex
PS1	Pre-sensor 1
Psf	Partner of Sld Five
Rad	Radiation sensitive
RNR	Ribonucleotide reductase
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RPA	Replication protein A
S phase	Synthesis phase
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
Sld	Synthetic lethal with Dbp11
Spo	Sporulation
ssDNA	Single-stranded DNA
SSL	Synthetic sick or lethal
SsoMCM	Mcm complex from Sulfolobus solfataricus
SV40 LTAg	Simian virus 40 large T-antigen
Tel	Telomere maintenance
Tor	Target of rapamycin
Tris	tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane
Ura	Uracil
UTR	Untranslated region
V	Volts
YPD	Yeast Peptone Dextrose
YPGal	Yeast Peptone Galactose

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 DNA replication in eukaryotes

The cell cycle is comprised of a series of events that culminates in the division of a cell into two daughter cells. A cell's genome is duplicated prior to division such that the genetic information is passed from the parental to the daughter cells¹. The cell cycle is subdivided into the interphase, during which the cell acquires nutrients and duplicates its genome, and the mitosis phase when cell division occurs (the yeast cell cycle is reviewed in ref. 2). The interphase is further subdivided into the Gap 1 (G1), Synthesis (S) and Gap 2 (G2) phases (Figure 1-1; ref. 2). It is during the synthesis phase that DNA replication occurs. Studies in budding yeast have provided invaluable information about the progression of the cell cycle. Indeed, the cell division cycle (Cdc) factors that control cell cycle progression were first characterized in budding yeast by Leland Hartwell³. He later shared a Nobel Prize in Medicine with Paul Nurse and Timothy Hunt for their work on the control of the cell cycle.

DNA replication is a tightly controlled process that faithfully duplicates an organism's genome (reviewed in refs. 4; 5; 6). Aberrations in DNA replication can alter cell proliferation and result in disease states such as cancer^{7; 8; 9}. A complex series of protein-protein and protein-DNA interactions, as well as post-translational modifications of replication proteins is required for the accurate duplication of the DNA^{4; 5; 6}. Checkpoints in the cell cycle also dictate the competency of the cell for DNA replication¹⁰. Additionally, throughout DNA replication, factors are constantly surveying for damage to the DNA which ultimately triggers elaborate mechanisms to halt DNA replication, repair the damage and resume DNA replication after repair¹⁰. All these levels of control are potential points to regulate the activities of the replication machinery.

During G1 phase of the cell cycle (Figure 1-1), replication factors assemble sequentially at DNA sequences termed origins of replication (origins; reviewed in refs. 11; 12; 13). Origins are said to be "licensed" for replication by the ordered assembly of the pre-replication complex (pre-RC; Figure 1-1). Licensing of origins requires the stable association of replication licensing factors, and cells will not initiate DNA replication at an origin if it is not licensed^{14; 15}. First, the origin-recognition complex (ORC) comprised of the proteins Orc1 through 6 recognizes and binds to origins of replication¹⁶. The DNA sequences at origins in most eukaryotes lack any consensus, except for being A/T-rich^{17;} ¹⁸. Origins in the budding veast Saccharomyces cerevisiae however have well-defined autonomously-replicating sequences (ARS), so named for their ability to initiate DNA replication of exogenous DNA that otherwise lack replication origins^{16; 19; 20; 21}. After ORC has bound to origins, Cdc6 is recruited. These factors assist in the final step of pre-RC assembly, which is the binding of the heterohexameric minichromosome maintenance (Mcm) 2-7 complex and the essential pre-RC component $Cdt1^{22}$. After Mcm2-7 has bound, origins are licensed and ready for initiation^{14; 15}.

After assembly of the pre-RC, several factors are recruited to origins to form the pre-initiation complex (pre-IC; Figure 1-1). The essential serine/threonine kinase DDK (Dbf4-dependent kinase) comprised of the Cdc7 active subunit and Dbf4 regulatory subunit phosphorylates several subunits of the origin-bound Mcm2-7 complex^{23; 24; 25; 26; 27; 28; 29; 30; 31}. This process is discussed in greater detail below. After modification of Mcm2-7 by DDK, the essential replication factor Cdc45 and a heterotetrameric complex comprised of Sld5p, Psf1p, Psf2p and Psf3p, termed the GINS complex (for the Japanese words for 5, 1, 2, 3; go ishi ni san) associate^{32; 33; 34}. Together, the complex of Cdc45, the

Mcm2-7 complex and the GINS complex (also known as CMG) are believed to form the helicase holoenzyme and participate in DNA unwinding in eukaryotic cells³⁵. Consistent with its role in unwinding DNA in cells, the budding yeast Mcm2-7 complex unwinds DNA *in vitro*³⁶. Furthermore, association of Cdc45 and GINS activates the helicase activity of *Drosophila* Mcm2-7 *in vitro*³⁷. Sld2 and Sld3 are also part of the pre-IC and are phosphorylated by the cyclin dependent kinase (CDK) which facilitates the recruitment of Dpb11^{38; 39}. Dpb11 assists in recruiting CMG and polymerase $\varepsilon^{13; 38; 39; 40}$. The recruitment of polymerase ε on the leading strand and polymerase δ on the lagging strand (among other factors) begins the S phase and polymerase δ and ε travel with advancing replication forks to synthesize the daughter strands of DNA (reviewed in ref. 41). DNA that is unwound during replication is stabilized by replication protein A (RPA), the eukaryotic equivalent of the bacterial single stranded binding protein⁴².



Figure 1-1 Assembly of the complexes necessary for DNA replication during the cell cycle of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Depicted are the yeast cell cycle and the morphology of the budding yeast cell associated with each phase of the cycle. Details of the phases are provided in the main text. To the left are illustrations of the complexes involved in DNA replication associated with the stages of the cell cycle. Details of the constituents of each complex can be found in the main text. Some factors described in the main text are omitted for clarity of the figure.

1.2 Mechanisms of the minichromosome maintenance proteins 2-7

The minichromosome maintenance proteins 2 through 7 are members of the AAA+ (<u>A</u>TPases <u>a</u>ssociated with a variety of cellular <u>a</u>ctivities) superfamily of proteins. Members of this family convert the energy of ATP hydrolysis into mechanical force via conformational changes. Thus, as a helicase, Mcm2-7 couples the energy of ATP binding and hydrolysis to the mechanical force of unwinding duplex DNA during DNA replication. Consistent with the role of Mcm2-7 as the replicative helicase, each subunit of Mcm2 through 7 associates with origins of replication, is required for replication fork

progression and, additionally, complexes containing Mcms unwind DNA *in vitro*^{36; 43; 44;} 45; 46; 47; 48

1.2.1 ATP site architecture of Mcms and related helicases

The ATP site of the Mcm proteins is found at the interface between subunits, a common feature of the AAA+ superfamily of proteins. One subunit binds nucleotide, including the phosphates by the phosphate binding loop (P-loop) and the other subunit provides residues important for the hydrolysis of the bound nucleotide^{49; 50}. Figure 1-2A shows an example of the subunit interface between the Mcm2 and Mcm6 subunits. In this pair the Mcm2 subunit binds the nucleotide and the Mcm6 subunit contains the residues important for catalysis of the bound nucleotide, and these residues are also termed the "SRF motif" or arginine finger. In Archaea the replicative helicase is typically comprised of a complex of several copies of identical MCM subunits and has been well studied in Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum (mtMCM) and Sulfolobus solfataricus (SsoMCM)^{51; 52; 53; 54; 55; 56}. The structure of another AAA+ replicative helicase from the bovine papillomavirus (BPV), the E1 helicase, was solved as a hexamer in the presence of nucleotide and provides a structural view of a subunit interface⁵⁷. Highlighted in Figure 1-2B is a conserved lysine of the P-loop (blue) and conserved arginine in the SRF motif (green) and ADP bound at the subunit interface. The amino acid sequences of the P-loop and SRF motif of AAA+ proteins are similar. Shown in Figure 1-2C is an alignment of the ATP sites of Mcm2 through 7 from S. cerevisiae and mtMCM and SsoMCM. Found within the P-loop of each Mcm subunit is an invariant lysine residue that is highlighted in the sequence alignment (Figure 1-2C). This lysine is analogous to the lysine highlighted in Figure 1-2B. The importance of this residue for Mcm function is evident in the fact that

substitution of this lysine with an alanine in any of the Mcm subunits is lethal in the organism *S. cerevisiae*⁵⁸. Also highlighted in Figure 1-2C is the arginine of the SRF motif discussed above. A model of the subunit arrangement of Mcm2-7 is derived from the observed ATPase pairs, physical interaction of Mcm subunits and mutational studies (Figure 1-2D; refs. 36; 49; 50; 59).



2 .00



SRF motif

С	P-100p													SRF motif																
		630										640													0					
scMcm2	535	DI	N	١V	L	L	L	G D	Ρ	G .	ΤA	١K	S	Q	I	L	Κ	Y	٧	Е	K	ΤÆ	4	(109)	LT	ΕP	T	LS	R	FD
scMcm3	401	DI	N	L I	L	M	٧	G D	Ρ	s	ΤA	ĸ	S	Q	L	L	R	F	۷	L	N	ΤÆ	4	(109)	LΡ	D S	L	LS	R	FD
scMcm4	560	DI	N	L I	L	L	С	G D	Ρ	S	T S	ĸ	S	Q	L	L	Q	Y	۷	Н	К	11	г	(109)	LΡ	ΡΡ	L	LS	R	FD
scMcm5	408	DI	N	١V	L	L	L	G D	Ρ	G	ΤA	ĸ	S	Q	L	L	Κ	F	V	Е	K	V S	s	(109)	FQ	ΤТ	I.	LS	R	F D
scMcm6	567	DI	N	L I	С	۷	V	G D	Ρ	S	T S	ĸ	S	Q	F	L	Κ	Y	٧	٧	G	F /	4	(109)	ΜТ	ΑP	T.	M S	R	F D
scMcm7	452	DI	N	I۷	С	L	м	G D	Ρ	G	VA	ĸ	S	Q	L	L	Κ	A	I	С	К	1 9	s	(109)	LΡ	ΑA	L	LS	R	F D
ssoMCM	332	DI	H	I I	L	T.	Т	G D	Ρ	G '	ΤA	κ	S	Q	Μ	L	Q	F	T	S	R	V	4	(109)	LΡ	ΡT	I.	LS	R	FD
mtMCM	311	DI	H		L	Г	٧	G D	Ρ	G	10	iκ	S	Q	M	L	Κ	Y	۷	S	К	L	4	(109)	LΡ	SΤ	Т	LS	R	FD
												*																	*	



Α

в



Figure 1-2 The ATP sites of replicative helicases and subunit arrangement of Mcm2-7. A. The ATP sites of Mcms are found at subunit interfaces. Depicted is one such interface formed by Mcm2 and Mcm6. One subunit (Mcm2) contains a phosphate binding loop (P-loop) and the other subunit (Mcm6) contains residues important for catalysis of the bound nucleotide (SRF motif). **B.** Crystal structure of the ATP site at a subunit interface in the BPV E1 hexamer (PDB ID=2GXA). Highlighted in green is a conserved lysine (K439) in the P-loop and in blue a conserved arginine (R538) in the SRF motif of a neighbouring subunit. **C.** A partial protein sequence alignment encompassing the P-loop and SRF motifs of budding yeast (sc) Mcm2 through 7 and the MCM subunits from the archaea *Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum* (mtMCM) and *Sulfolobus solfataricus* (ssoMCM) is shown. Highlighted below the alignment (*) are two key residues in each motif, a conserved lysine in the P-loop and a conserved arginine, often termed the arginine finger, in the SRF motif. **D.** The subunit arrangement of the Mcm2-7 heterohexameric complex (C-terminal view) developed from mutational studies of the ATP sites of Mcms. Figure modified from ref. 49.

1.2.2 DNA binding and unwinding by helicases

The available x-ray crystallographic structures of the simian virus 40 large Tantigen (SV40 LTag), BPV E1 helicase, mtMCM and SsoMCM, coupled with biochemical analyses, have provided a great deal of insight into residues important for DNA binding and unwinding. In archaeal MCMs, residues in both the N- and C-termini make contacts with DNA. These residues form β -hairpin structural motifs (two antiparallel β -strands connected by a linker of amino acids) and are highlighted in the crystal structure of near full-length mtMCM in Figure 1-3A⁶⁰. In the archaeal MCMs, the β hairpins make distinct contributions to DNA binding and unwinding. There are four β hairpins in the SsoMCM crystal structure thought to be involved in DNA binding and unwinding: two N-terminal β -hairpins (Figure 1-3A; NT and H2I hairpins) and two Cterminal β -hairpins (Figure 1-3A; EXT and PS1 hairpins). Alignment of the protein sequences of the archaeal MCMs with those of the eukaryotic Mcm subunits reveals that the amino acid sequences of the H2I, EXT and PS1 hairpins share similarities, suggesting this mechanism of DNA binding is common among all Mcms (Figure 1-3B; ref. 61). The NT hairpin sequence does not align well, but structural predictions suggest its existence in Mcms⁶². In the structures of the SV40 LTag helicase (also solved as a hexamer; Figure 1-3C) and BPV E1 helicase complex (Figure 1-3D), one can see the central channel of the hexamer into which the PS1 hairpins protrude (red). The structure of BPV E1 was solved in the presence of single stranded DNA (green; Figure 1-3D). The contributions of the PS1 hairpin to DNA unwinding are discussed below.







Figure 1-3 The β-hairpins and ATP site in the X-ray crystallographic structure of SsoMCM and hexamers of SV40 LTag and BPV E1. A. The structure of near full-length SsoMCM (PDB ID=3F9V). Highlighted are key structural features: the P-loop (green), the SRF motif (blue) and the various hairpin structures that contact DNA (red; EXT= external, PS=pre-sensor, NT=N-terminal, H2I=helix 2-insert). B. The structure of the helicase domain of the SV40 large T-antigen (PDB ID=1SVM). Highlighted in red are the PS1 β-hairpins. C. The structure of the E1 helicase was solved in the presence of ssDNA (PDB ID=2GXA). Highlighted in red are the PS1 β-hairpins located in the central channel of the helicase in close proximity to the bound DNA (green).

The additional β-hairpins observed in the crystal structures of SsoMCM also have roles in DNA binding and unwinding. The helix-2-insert hairpin (H2I) is predicted to protrude the furthest into the central channel in models of the hexameric structure of SsoMCM and is thus positioned close to DNA⁶⁰. The position of the H2I hairpin is likely reflective of its critical role in DNA binding and DNA unwinding in the closely related archaeal mtMCM complex⁶³. Curiously, mutations of the H2I β-hairpin increase the affinity of the mtMCM complex for ssDNA and dsDNA, but decrease DNA unwinding by the complex⁶³. Recently, mutational studies of the EXT hairpin have also been shown to affect DNA binding and unwinding⁶⁴. The NT hairpin also projects into the central channel of SsoMCM and mtMCM^{54; 55}. Mutations of the NT-hairpin proportionally decrease DNA binding and unwinding by SsoMCM⁵⁴. Structure-guided alignments predict that the NT hairpin exists in Mcm4 and Mcm5⁶². Mutational studies of the NT hairpins in Mcm4 and Mcm5⁶².

1.2.3 Translocation of helicases

Evidence of movement of the domain containing the PS1 β -hairpins with respect to DNA being coupled to the hydrolysis of ATP is found in studies of the structure of the homohexameric E1 helicase of the bovine papillomavirus^{57; 65; 66}. The position of the PS1 β -hairpin with respect to DNA is dependent on the ATP-binding status of a subunit⁵⁷. The domains containing the PS1 β -hairpins of the BPV E1 hexamer had different positions relative to the DNA sequentially around the ring as the subunits varied from the ATP, ADP and apo forms successively around the hexameric ring⁵⁷. One can envision these conformations like a spiral staircase in the central channel of the hexamers. Likewise, the structures of the SV40 LTag in the ATP, ADP and apo form also demonstrate the movement of the domain containing the PS1 β -hairpins when bound to nucleotide^{67; 68}. A concerted movement of the PS1 β -hairpins in response to ATP hydrolysis in the ring has been proposed to "sweep" ssDNA through the central channel of this helicase.

1.2.4 Models of DNA binding by eukaryotic Mcms

Mcm complexes binding to DNA is a necessary prelude to DNA unwinding. Complexes of Mcms, like other ring-shaped helicases, are proposed to bind DNA by encircling it within a central channel. Mcm4/6/7 likely uses a "ring-maker" mechanism of DNA binding⁶⁹. In a ring-maker mechanism, the hexameric helicase forms around the DNA from smaller oligomers⁷⁰. Mcm4/6/7 is thought to be a trimer in the absence of ATP. In the presence of ATP, a shift to hexamer-sized Mcm4/6/7 promotes the binding to linear or circular single stranded DNA (Figure 1-4A; ref. 69). In contrast, incubation of Mcm4/6/7 with ATP to promote formation of hexamers before incubation with DNA inhibits the ability of the complex to bind to single stranded DNA⁶⁹. A ring-breaker mechanism for DNA binding by Mcm2-7 has been proposed^{71; 72} in which a transient gap forms in the helicase to allow passage of DNA into the central channel⁷⁰. A putative 'gate' at the Mcm2/5 interface opens to allow the passage of single stranded DNA into the central channel of Mcm2-7 (Figure 1-4B). Mutational analysis at the Mcm2/5 interface demonstrates that mutation of the P-loop of Mcm5 opens the gate whereas a mutation of the Mcm2 SRF motif closes the gate³⁶. The ATPase activity of neighbouring subunits is proposed to influence the opening and closing of the gate, including hydrolysis at the Mcm2/6 and Mcm3/5 interfaces⁷¹.

The pre-RC components ORC, Cdc6 and Cdt1 influence the oligomeric structure and DNA binding properties of Mcm2-7^{73; 74}. Mcm2-7 exists as a hexamer in solution, but incubation with the other pre-RC components and origin DNA results in two Mcm2-7 hexamers loaded head-to-head by their N-terminal faces^{73; 74}. The double hexamer can slide along DNA, but does not do so directionally⁷³. Since replication forks are bidirectional, it is speculated that once activation by DDK and association of the pre-IC components occurs, single hexamers may unwind DNA. Alternatively, DNA unwinding may be performed by double hexamers and this model is discussed in greater detail below.



Figure 1-4 Models of DNA binding by eukaryotic Mcm complexes A. The proposed "ring-maker" mechanism used by Mcm4/6/7 to bind DNA. Shown is the putative the ATP-dependent transition of trimers to hexamers which likely promotes binding of DNA in the central channel of Mcm4/6/7. **B.** The proposed ring-breaker or 'gate' mechanism used by Mcm2-7 to bind DNA. A putative gate between the Mcm2/5 subunit interface allows the passage of DNA into the central channel of Mcm2-7. ATP hydrolysis by neighbouring subunits influences the activity of the gate⁷¹.

1.2.5 Mechanisms of DNA unwinding by Mcm2-7 and other helicases

DNA unwinding by complexes of Mcm proteins was first noted with a heterohexameric sub-complex comprised of Mcm4, Mcm6 and Mcm7 originally isolated from HeLa cells⁴⁷. The Mcm4/6/7 complex has proved a valuable tool in studying how complexes of Mcms unwind DNA^{47; 69; 72; 75; 76; 77; 78; 79; 80; 81}. More recently, DNA unwinding by a variety of Mcm complexes has been observed including Mcm2-7^{36; 37; 48;} ⁸². The mechanism by which Mcm2-7 unwinds DNA is presently unknown. Studies of other replicative helicases, including SV40 LTag, BPV E1 and the archaeal MCM complexes have generated multiple models of DNA unwinding by hexameric helicase complexes. First is the "ploughshare" model in which a ploughshare is dragged behind the hexamers to split the strands of DNA (Figure 1-5A; ref. 83). The lack of identifiable structures that could perform this function in the structure of SsoMCM and mtMCM make this an unlikely mechanism by which Mcm2-7 unwinds DNA^{54; 60}. Second, a rotary pump model in which the hexamers are anchored and twist the DNA to introduce negative supercoiling, and thus unwind DNA has also been proposed (Figure 1-5B; ref. 84). This model was partially based on the observation that more Mcm subunits are bound to chromatin than are required for replication initiation (reviewed in ref. 46). In budding yeast, Drosophila, and Xenopus however, the concentrations of Mcms can be reduced without compromising DNA unwinding^{85; 86; 87}. Additionally, it has now been shown that the excess Mcms are required to license dormant origins in the cell stress response weakening the argument for the rotary pump model^{88; 89; 90}. These dormant origins are utilized during the recovery from the S phase checkpoint^{88; 89; 90}. Furthermore, the ploughshare and rotary pump models were proposed at a time before DNA unwinding by the Mcm2-7 complex had been detected³⁶.
The structures of archaeal Mcms reveal two putative channels that can accommodate DNA (Figure 1-5C; ref. 60). A central channel can accommodate either dsDNA or ssDNA and two side channels can accommodate ssDNA. These channels are also seen in electron micrograph images of Mcm2-7 bound to origin DNA73; 74. As mentioned earlier, in the context of the pre-RC the Mcm2-7 complex encircles dsDNA as a dodecamer of two hexamers contacting each other via their N-terminal faces (Figure 1-5D; refs. 73; 74). This has implications for how Mcm complexes may unwind DNA and the mechanisms presented here take this into consideration (Figures 1-5E through J). In the "steric exclusion model", ssDNA passes through the central channel of the helicase and the other strand is excluded (Figure 1-5E). Translocation of the helicase in the 3' to 5' direction along the single-strand DNA unwinds duplex regions upstream. The Mcm4/6/7 helicase has been shown to unwind synthetic fork substrates 3' to 5' in vitro by this mechanism⁷⁸. The crystal structure of BPV E1 bound to single-strand DNA also suggests a steric exclusion model is used by that helicase (Figure 1-5E; ref. 57). In the double hexamer steric exclusion model, the ssDNA that passes through the central channel exits via one of the side channels (Figure 1-5F). In the double side extrusion model, dsDNA enters the central channel, and one ssDNA passes through one side channel and the other ssDNA passes through the second side channel (Figure 1-5G & H). These models can be thought of as a modified version of the ploughshare model where the ploughshare is likely the H2I β-hairpin⁹¹. This mechanism has been proposed previously for the SV40 LTag^{67; 68}. The single side-channel extrusion model predicts that dsDNA is accommodated in the first part of the central channel, after which one ssDNA then passes through one side channel and the other continues through the latter part of the central channel (Figure 1-5I). Lastly, the asymmetric looping model proposes that one strand of ssDNA is extruded through one side channel and the second ssDNA is extruded through a putative C-terminal side channel (Figure 1-5J). Common to these mechanisms is the importance of coupling ATP binding and/or hydrolysis to changes in DNA binding and unwinding by the complex⁹².



Figure 1-5 Potential mechanisms of DNA unwinding by Mcm helicases. Details of each model are given in the main text. **A.** The ploughshare model depicting a hexameric helicase with a ploughshare dragging behind it to separate dsDNA. **B.** The rotary pump model depicting single hexamers twisting dsDNA to unwind it. **C & D.** Schematic representations of a cross-section of a single hexameric Mcm complex (C) and a double hexameric Mcm complex (D). The central channel and two side channels are depicted in the lighter shade. **E-J.** Models of DNA unwinding by Mcm complexes. The steric exclusion model for a single hexamer (E) and double hexamers (F). The double side extrusion model of a single hexamer (G) and double hexamers (H). The single side extrusion model (I) and asymmetric looping model (J). (C-J) adapted from ref. 60.

1.2.6 Other functions of Mcms

In addition to their role as the replicative helicase, Mcm2 through 7 have potential functions in other cellular processes. The Mcm2 and Mcm5 subunits interact with and are required for transcriptional activation of RNA Pol II-mediated transcription^{93; 94} and in human cells, Mcm5 is implicated in interferon-gamma-induced transcription⁹⁵. Furthermore, subunits of Mcm2-7 interact with histones^{96; 97; 98}, chromatin remodelling factors⁹⁹ and checkpoint and recombination proteins. Recently, whole animal studies in mice show that decreasing the levels of Mcm subunits result in genomic instability and cell proliferation defects which are exacerbated by cell stress¹⁰⁰.

1.3 <u>Regulation of Mcms</u>

1.3.1 Role of the Mcm subunits in DNA unwinding

Each of the Mcm2 through 7 subunits is essential for DNA replication and replication fork progression (reviewed in ref. 46). Early biochemical studies with human, mouse and budding yeast Mcm4/6/7 demonstrated that Mcm2, Mcm3 and Mcm5 inhibit DNA unwinding by Mcm4/6/7^{47; 96; 101; 102; 103}. One explanation for this observation is that the Mcm2, Mcm3 and Mcm5 subunits of Mcm2-7 regulate DNA unwinding as opposed to participating directly in the catalysis of DNA unwinding. Since the ATP sites of Mcms are essential, this model predicts that ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 is required for its regulatory function. Chapter 2 of this thesis explores the active role of ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 in regulating DNA binding by complexes of Mcms.

1.3.2 Cyclin-dependent kinases limit DNA replication to once per cell cycle

The subunits of Mcm2-7 are modified by multiple kinases (See Figure 1-6A for an overview). In the G1 phase of the cell cycle, Cyclin-dependent kinases (Cdk) 1 and 2 phosphorylate Mcms and contribute to limiting DNA replication to once per cell cycle^{75;} ^{76; 104; 105; 106; 107; 108; 109}. Modification of budding yeast Mcm subunits that are not origin-bound causes those subunits to be excluded from the nucleus¹¹⁰. Conversely, in human cells, phosphorylation of Mcm3 by Cdk1 promotes its incorporation into the Mcm2-7 complex and subsequent binding to chromatin¹¹¹. The difference in these observations remains to be reconciled. However, these are not the essential functions of Cdk in DNA replication. Sld2 and Sld3 are essential replication proteins and phosphorylation of Sld2 and Sld3 by Cdk is required for the recruitment of Dpb11^{39; 112; 113}. Dpb11, in turn, recruits polymerase ε to the origin^{40; 114; 115}.

1.3.3 Checkpoint kinases and casein kinase 2 phosphorylate Mcms

Mcms are also subject to modification by other kinases. Studies of human cell lines using siRNA depletion and phospho-specific antibodies show that ATM (<u>a</u>taxia <u>t</u>elangiectasia <u>m</u>utated; Tell in yeast) phosphorylates the Mcm3 subunit and ATR (<u>a</u>taxia <u>t</u>elangiectasia and rad3 <u>r</u>elated; Mec1 in yeast) phosphorylates the Mcm2 subunit in response to ionizing radiation and HU¹¹⁶. Similarly in *Xenopus*, Mcm2 is phosphorylated by ATR and ATM in the response to DSB¹¹⁷. Although not modified by ATM or ATR, a physical interaction between human Mcm7 and ATR has been reported and is important for the S phase checkpoint¹¹⁶. Additionally, in the presence of HU, Mcm4 in HeLa cells is phosphorylated consecutively by ATR and Cdk2. Phosphorylation by Cdk2 has been shown to inhibit DNA unwinding by the Mcm4/6/7 complex¹¹⁸.

Using *in vitro* kinase assays and mass spectrometry, casein kinase 2 (CK2) phosphorylation sites in human Mcm2 were identified²⁹. CK2 is involved in a wide variety of cellular processes including cell cycle progression, transcription, apoptosis and viral infections (reviewed in ref. 119). The functional relevance of this modification has not been explored. Taken together, these studies demonstrate that Mcm2-7 can serve as a substrate for multiple kinases. The effect that each of these phosphorylation events has on the activities of Mcm2-7 awaits further studies.

1.3.4 DDK modifies Mcm subunits

The Dbf4-dependent kinase, DDK comprised of the Cdc7 catalytic subunit and Dbf4 regulatory subunit is essential for replication initiation and is also required during the DNA damage checkpoint^{30; 31; 120; 121; 122; 123; 124; 125}. DDK modifies at least the Mcm2, Mcm4 and Mcm6 subunits of Mcm2-7^{23; 24; 25; 26; 27; 28; 29; 30; 31}. Modification of Mcm4 during initiation facilitates the recruitment of the essential replication factor Cdc45 in both humans and yeast (Figure 1-6B; refs. 30; 31; 120). In fact, in budding yeast, modification of Mcm4 is thought to be the essential function of DDK since phosphomimetic substitution of the DDK target sites of Mcm4 support growth in the absence of both the *cdc7* and *dbf4* genes¹²⁰.

DDK also phosphorylates Mcm2. In human cells several studies mapped the phosphorylation sites of Mcm2 by DDK, however there is disagreement as to the identity of the sites and mutations at these different positions have different effects on human cell lines^{29; 126; 127}. Tsuji *et al.* demonstrated that alanine substitutions of three DDK target serine residues in the N-terminus of Mcm2 are unable to rescue a replication defect in HeLa cells¹²⁶. Another report suggests that DDK modification of Mcm2 is responsible for

exit from cellular quiescence¹²⁷. In budding yeast, Bruck and Kaplan (2009) demonstrated that the expression of a version of Mcm2 that cannot be phosphorylated by DDK is not viable²⁸. In Chapter 3, I provide evidence that under control of the endogenous *MCM2* promoter or the *MCM6* promoter, this mutation supports viability. Growth defects of alanine substitutions of the Mcm2 DDK phosphosites are only observed when the cell is exposed to DNA damage. Chapter 4 of this thesis explores the role of DDK-dependent regulation of Mcm2 in response to DNA damage.



Figure 1-6 Overview of kinases known to target the Mcm2-7 complex and the potential cellular functions of DDK phosphorylation. A. Kinases that modify the subunits of Mcm2-7. CDK modifies Mcm2, Mcm3 and Mcm4 to inhibit re-replication. The Mcm3 subunit is modified by ATM (Tel1 in yeast) during the stress response in human cells. Casein kinase 2 (CK2) in human cells also modifies the Mcm2 subunit and the consequences of this event are currently unknown. The checkpoint kinases ATM (Tel1) and ATR (Mec1 in yeast) modify *Xenopus* Mcm2 in response to DNA damage. DDK modifies the Mcm2, Mcm4 and Mcm6 subunits. **B.** The consequences of the modification of Mcm2, Mcm4 and Mcm6 subunits by DDK. Phosphorylation of Mcm4 is required for the initiation of replication. The functional significance of the phosphorylation of the Mcm6 subunit is presently unknown. Studies from budding yeast and humans suggest that the modification of Mcm2 is also thought to be involved in the exit from cellular quiescence¹²⁷.

1.4 The cell's response to replicative stress and DNA damage

1.4.1 DNA damage and the S phase checkpoint

Cells are constantly inundated with DNA damage and events causing cellular stress. If left unrepaired, deleterious mutations of the genome can result in diseases and/or cell death. Eukaryotic cells have developed intricate mechanisms to remedy such errors and one such mechanism is the S phase checkpoint. DNA damage can occur from many environmental factors, for instance the exposure of cells to chemicals such as the DNA-alkylating agent methyl methanesulfonate (MMS), or exposure to ionizing radiation^{128;} ¹²⁹. When such errors are encountered, the cell pauses DNA replication in order to repair the damaged DNA, ensuring deleterious mutations are not passed on to subsequent generations of the cell.

The present discussion will focus on the response to DNA damage in budding yeast; however the proteins and processes involved are generally well conserved in eukaryotes¹³⁰. It is also important to note that the S phase checkpoint consists of several stages: the establishment of the checkpoint, the maintenance of the response and finally recovery from the S phase checkpoint¹³¹. In budding yeast, damage is surveyed by a series of S phase checkpoint sensor proteins, including Ddc1/Rad17/Mec3 (homologs of the 9-1-1 complex in humans), Rad24 and Rad9 (See Figure 1-7 for an overview; refs. 132; 133; 134; 135). These proteins communicate with transducers of the S phase checkpoint, such as the Mec1/Te11 complex and Rad9 in budding yeast, which elicit various responses through their respective kinase activities (note that Rad9 has been implicated as both a sensor and a transducer; refs. 133; 136; 137; 138). Central to this pathway is the activation of the effector kinase Rad53 by phosphorylation (Reviewed in

refs. 131; 139). Rad53, in turn, phosphorylates many targets to cause cell cycle arrest, repress transcription of cyclins and stabilize replication forks¹³¹. Other kinases, such as Chk1, can carry out these functions¹³¹. However, a recent report shows that the activation of the checkpoint can be Rad53-independent; Mec1/Tel1 can activate Chk1 independently of Rad53¹⁴⁰. The different pathways are likely triggered by different damage signals and the consequences of their activation also differ.



Figure 1-7 Overview of the yeast DNA damage checkpoint and the involvement of DDK. Sensors such as Rad9, Ddc1/Rad17/Mec3 and Rad24 detect DNA damage and replication fork blockage. These sensor proteins then transmit signals to transducers of the checkpoint including Rad53 and the Mec1/Te11 complex. The transducers then activate the effector kinases (Chk1 and DDK, among many others) to elicit various responses such as replication fork pausing and invoking the DNA repair pathways. Shown in parentheses are the mammalian orthologs of the yeast proteins. Note that Chk1 is the functional homolog of Rad53 in mammalian cells and Chk2 is its sequence homolog.

Many cellular stresses induce the checkpoint and/or invoke DNA repair mechanisms. N-methylated DNA adducts, such as those caused by MMS, are repaired by base excision repair (BER; ref. 141). Defective BER can itself be cytotoxic and result in double strand breaks (DSBs) that are repaired by homologous recombination¹⁴². Oxidative DNA damage is also repaired via BER^{143; 144}. Ionizing radiation causes DSBs that are repaired primarily by homologous recombination (HR) and also by nonhomologous end joining, which fuses two ends of DNA together^{145; 146; 147}. Moreover, treatment of cells with hydroxyurea (HU) inhibits ribonucleotide reductase resulting in the induction of the S phase checkpoint which then pauses replication fork progression^{121;} ¹⁴⁸. Treatment of cells with HU also strongly promotes homologous recombination, likely to bypass the increased number of collapsed replication forks in HU treated cells^{149; 150}.

1.4.2 Replication fork pausing and restart

Replication fork pausing requires the Mrc1-Tof1-Csm3 complex in budding yeast^{151; 152; 153}. A direct interaction between Mcm6 and the Tof1 protein of the fork pausing complex has been detected implicating the Mcm2-7 complex in fork pausing and/or fork restart¹⁵⁴. Many factors in addition to Mrc1 and Tof1 are important for the maintenance of stable replication forks. Replication factors, histones and chromatin remodelling factors, as well as post-translational modifications of these factors, all contribute to the establishment and maintenance of replication forks (Reviewed in ref. 155).

After repair of the DNA damage, the DNA damage checkpoint signal must be attenuated for cell growth to continue. The central checkpoint kinase Rad53 must be dephosphorylated and the protein phosphatases Ptc2 and Ptc3 perform this function in budding yeast^{156; 157; 158}. The mechanism(s) by which DNA unwinding at a stalled replication fork is resumed is presently unknown.

1.4.3 DDK functions in the cell's response to DNA damage

DDK acts in most, if not all, stages of the S phase checkpoint (Figure 1-7). The Dbf4 subunit of DDK is modified by Rad53, an event that inhibits the firing of late origins^{122; 123; 159; 160}. Rad53-dependent phosphorylation of Dbf4 decreases its association with origins. The activity of DDK is also required after replication initiation to maintain stable replication forks; mutations that destabilize replication forks have an increased sensitivity to genotoxic stress when the activity of the homolog of Cdc7 in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*, Hsk1 is decreased by mutation¹⁶¹. Moreover, cells containing mutations in *cdc7* or *dbf4* are sensitive to HU treatment, suggesting that DDK has an active role in the S phase checkpoint^{39; 112; 113; 120}. Lastly, DDK is also involved in translesion DNA synthesis^{162; 163; 164}. In this capacity, Cdc7 functions in the RAD6 epistasis group in the response to UV- and MMS-induced DNA damage¹⁶³. The function of DDK in translesion DNA synthesis remains to be determined.

1.4.4 Mcms in the S phase checkpoint

In addition to being targeted by the checkpoint kinases ATR and ATM in human cells as discussed above, Mcms have other roles in the S phase checkpoint. The Mcm subunits are present in copy numbers in the cell that exceed the number of replication origins^{165; 87; 166; 167; 168; 169}. In human cells and *Xenopus*, the excess Mcms are thought to license dormant origins in the response to cell stress^{88; 89; 90}.

1.5 Other cellular functions of DDK

A recent report demonstrates that the Cdc7 homolog in fission yeast phosphorylates Ams2, a regulator of histone expression, targeting it for degradation after the initiation of S phase¹⁷⁰. Precedence for regulation of histones by DDK is also found in the studies of Baker *et al.* (2010) who demonstrated that Cdc7 directly phosphorylates histone H3 during DNA replication, an event thought to be important for genome integrity and for DNA repair¹⁷¹. Additionally, DDK binds to Cdc5, a polo-like kinase that regulates mitotic progression and cytokinesis¹⁷². Cells containing a mutant version of *dbf4* that abolishes a Dbf4-Cdc5 interaction aberrantly segregate chromosomes after nuclear misorientation¹⁷².

The initiation of meiosis is also dependent on DDK^{173; 174; 175; 176}. In this process, DDK phosphorylates Mer2, an accessory factor for Spo11^{173; 174}. Spo11 is an endonuclease that generates DSBs necessary for meiotic recombination¹⁷⁷. DDK also regulates the localization of the monopolin complex as well as the polo-like kinase cdc5 which are required for the proper orientation of chromosomes at the kinetochore^{175; 178}. Collectively, it is evident that DDK has a wide array of cellular functions throughout the cell cycle to promote timely and accurate DNA replication as well as roles in meiosis and mitosis.

1.6 <u>Yeast as a model organism</u>

Fundamental processes, such as DNA replication, share a marked degree of similarity between distant species from budding yeast to humans. These similarities make studying DNA replication in yeast an attractive system to aid in understanding these processes compared to studies in more complex systems because of the relative simplicity of manipulating the yeast genome. When deprived of nutrients, a diploid *S. cerevisiae* cell can undergo sporulation to produce four haploids that can multiply and divide similarly to the parental cell. If a mutation is introduced into a gene of one chromosome of a diploid yeast cell and that cell is sporulated, two of the spores derived from that cell will contain a wild type copy of the gene and the other two spores will contain the mutant version of the gene^{179; 180}. Thus, the ability of the yeast to live in the haploid state allows for easy analysis of mutations in genes including study of gene mutations in the absence of the wild type copy of the gene¹⁸¹, generating haploid deletions of non-essential genes^{182; 183} and facilitating synthetic lethal and suppression studies¹⁸⁴, all of which are employed in this thesis.

In addition, simple mating crosses of two haploid yeasts can generate diploid strains containing multiple genetic events, a process exploited in synthetic genetic array (SGA) analysis¹⁸⁴. In such an analysis, each non-essential gene is replaced by a drug-selectable or nutrient-selectable marker. A query strain, such as one containing a genetic mutation of interest, can be systematically crossed with all non-essential genes to determine the combinatorial or "synthetic" effects of the query mutation coupled with a the gene deletion. Synthetic lethal interactions or suppression of phenotypes can yield valuable information into the cellular processes in which a gene may function. SGA

analysis is used in this thesis to explore the biological role of phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK. Additionally, genome-wide strain collections are commercially available and relatively easy to manipulate on a large scale. The Magic Marker yeast collection employed in this thesis allows for the generation of haploid yeast cells from diploid cells by nutrient marker and drug-resistance selection steps¹⁸⁵. Specifically, the mating type **a** locus (*MFA1*) is linked to the *HIS3* gene allowing selection of *MAT* **a** cells after sporulation of diploid cells and selection on media lacking histidine.

1.7 <u>Scope of Thesis</u>

The Mcm2-7 complex is widely accepted as the eukaryotic replicative helicase, however detailed studies about the regulation of its activities and the contributions of each subunit to the catalytic activity of the complex have not been fully explored. Based on the evidence that Mcm2 inhibits DNA unwinding by Mcm4/6/7^{47; 96; 101; 102; 103}, I hypothesize that the Mcm2 subunit functions as an active regulator of the activities of Mcm2-7. Furthermore, DDK modifies Mcm2^{23; 24; 27; 29; 126; 127} providing a potential mechanism to regulate the activity of Mcm2. Thus, I propose that the DDK-dependent phosphorylation of Mcm2 modulates its activities. Lastly, DDK's essential function in yeast cells is to phosphorylate Mcm4 during replication initiation¹²⁰. DDK however, also functions in the cell's response to DNA damage. I theorize that phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK is required for the cell's response to DNA damage. Understanding how DNA replication is regulated is crucial in understanding how aberrations in the process can lead to disease states, such as cancer.

I present evidence in Chapter 2 that the Mcm2 subunit of the Mcm2-7 complex serves as a regulator of DNA binding by Mcm complexes rather than participating directly in the catalysis of DNA unwinding. Using nucleotide analogues and an ATP site mutant of *mcm2* I demonstrate that Mcm2 requires nucleotide for its regulatory function. The regulatory function is dependent upon ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2. This regulatory activity is independent of Mcm3 and Mcm5, which are two other subunits thought to be important for regulation of Mcm2-7.

In Chapter 3, I examine the consequences of DDK-dependent phosphorylation of Mcm2 on its *in vitro* activities. Specifically, I demonstrate that serine to glutamic acid mutations in Mcm2 provide a phosphomimetic phenotype for DDK-dependent phosphorylation. I purify an *E. coli*-expressed version of the Mcm2 phosphomimetic mutant and conduct detailed biochemical analyses of its activities. A complex of Mcm2-7 containing the mutant version of Mcm2 unwinds DNA poorly but has a higher affinity for ssDNA, much like ATP site mutants of Mcm2. I show through *in vitro* and *in vivo* methods that phosphorylation of Mcm2 regulates its ATPase activity.

The work presented in Chapter 4 explores how phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK is required for the response to DNA base damage. Through the use of a genome-wide screen for synthetic lethal and suppressor interactions with a phosphosite mutant of Mcm2, genes are identified that are involved in the cell's response to DNA damage. Cells containing a version of Mcm2 that cannot be phosphorylated by DDK are sensitive to agents that damage DNA bases. Collectively, these data suggest a role for Mcm2 in the cell's response to DNA damage.

Cdc7 has quickly become a heavily studied target of anti-cancer therapeutics largely due to its dual roles in both replication initiation and genome maintenance^{186; 187;}

¹⁸⁸. Potential molecules that are typically ATP analogues inhibiting the active site of Cdc7 are currently under pharmacological investigation and have been found to be effective in inhibiting tumour growth in animal models^{189; 190; 191}. Chapter 5 proposes a comprehensive model of the regulation of DNA unwinding during the S phase through the DDK-dependent phosphorylation of Mcm2 in response to DNA damage summarizing the works in this thesis. These studies have broad implications on the understanding of the regulation of DNA replication and must be considered when exploring DDK as a potential anti-cancer target.

1.8 <u>References</u>

- 1. Meselson, M. & Stahl, F. W. (1958). THE REPLICATION OF DNA IN ESCHERICHIA COLI. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **44**, 671-82.
- Hartwell, L. H. (1974). Saccharomyces cerevisiae cell cycle. *Bacteriol Rev* 38, 164-98.
- 3. Hartwell, L. H., Culotti, J. & Reid, B. (1970). Genetic control of the cell-division cycle in yeast. I. Detection of mutants. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **66**, 352-9.
- 4. Kelly, T. J. & Brown, G. W. (2000). Regulation of chromosome replication. *Annu Rev Biochem* **69**, 829-80.
- 5. Stillman, B. (1996). Cell cycle control of DNA replication. *Science* 274, 1659-64.
- Masai, H., Matsumoto, S., You, Z., Yoshizawa-Sugata, N. & Oda, M. (2010). Eukaryotic chromosome DNA replication: where, when, and how? *Annu Rev Biochem* 79, 89-130.
- Hook, S. S., Lin, J. J. & Dutta, A. (2007). Mechanisms to control rereplication and implications for cancer. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 19, 663-71.
- Jeggo, P. A. & Lobrich, M. (2006). Contribution of DNA repair and cell cycle checkpoint arrest to the maintenance of genomic stability. *DNA Repair (Amst)* 5, 1192-8.
- 9. Liu, W. F., Yu, S. S., Chen, G. J. & Li, Y. Z. (2006). DNA damage checkpoint, damage repair, and genome stability. *Yi Chuan Xue Bao* **33**, 381-90.
- Foiani, M., Pellicioli, A., Lopes, M., Lucca, C., Ferrari, M., Liberi, G., Muzi Falconi, M. & Plevani, P. (2000). DNA damage checkpoints and DNA replication controls in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Mutat Res* 451, 187-96.
- Bell, S. P. & Dutta, A. (2002). DNA replication in eukaryotic cells. *Annu Rev Biochem* 71, 333-74.
- Diffley, J. F. (2004). Regulation of early events in chromosome replication. *Curr Biol* 14, R778-86.
- Tanaka, S. & Araki, H. (2010). Regulation of the initiation step of DNA replication by cyclin-dependent kinases. *Chromosoma* 119, 565-74.
- Blow, J. J. & Laskey, R. A. (1986). Initiation of DNA replication in nuclei and purified DNA by a cell-free extract of Xenopus eggs. *Cell* 47, 577-87.

- Blow, J. J. & Laskey, R. A. (1988). A role for the nuclear envelope in controlling DNA replication within the cell cycle. *Nature* 332, 546-8.
- Rao, H. & Stillman, B. (1995). The origin recognition complex interacts with a bipartite DNA binding site within yeast replicators. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 92, 2224-8.
- Vashee, S., Cvetic, C., Lu, W., Simancek, P., Kelly, T. J. & Walter, J. C. (2003). Sequence-independent DNA binding and replication initiation by the human origin recognition complex. *Genes Dev* 17, 1894-908.
- Antequera, F. (2004). Genomic specification and epigenetic regulation of eukaryotic DNA replication origins. *EMBO J* 23, 4365-70.
- 19. Fangman, W. L. & Brewer, B. J. (1991). Activation of replication origins within yeast chromosomes. *Annu Rev Cell Biol* **7**, 375-402.
- Xu, W., Aparicio, J. G., Aparicio, O. M. & Tavare, S. (2006). Genome-wide mapping of ORC and Mcm2p binding sites on tiling arrays and identification of essential ARS consensus sequences in S. cerevisiae. *BMC Genomics* 7, 276.
- 21. Chang, F., Theis, J. F., Miller, J., Nieduszynski, C. A., Newlon, C. S. & Weinreich, M. (2008). Analysis of chromosome III replicators reveals an unusual structure for the ARS318 silencer origin and a conserved WTW sequence within the origin recognition complex binding site. *Mol Cell Biol* 28, 5071-81.
- 22. Tsakraklides, V. & Bell, S. P. (2010). Dynamics of pre-replicative complex assembly. *J Biol Chem* **285**, 9437-43.
- Sato, N., Arai, K. & Masai, H. (1997). Human and Xenopus cDNAs encoding budding yeast Cdc7-related kinases: in vitro phosphorylation of MCM subunits by a putative human homologue of Cdc7. *EMBO J* 16, 4340-51.
- Lei, M., Kawasaki, Y., Young, M. R., Kihara, M., Sugino, A. & Tye, B. K. (1997). Mcm2 is a target of regulation by Cdc7-Dbf4 during the initiation of DNA synthesis. *Genes Dev.* 11, 3365-3374.
- 25. Brown, G. W. & Kelly, T. J. (1998). Purification of Hsk1, a minichromosome maintenance protein kinase from fission yeast. *J Biol Chem* **273**, 22083-90.

- Snaith, H. A., Brown, G. W. & Forsburg, S. L. (2000). Schizosaccharomyces pombe Hsk1p is a potential cds1p target required for genome integrity. *Mol Cell Biol* 20, 7922-32.
- Francis, L. I., Randell, J. C., Takara, T. J., Uchima, L. & Bell, S. P. (2009). Incorporation into the prereplicative complex activates the Mcm2-7 helicase for Cdc7-Dbf4 phosphorylation. *Genes Dev* 23, 643-54.
- Bruck, I. & Kaplan, D. (2009). Dbf4-Cdc7 phosphorylation of Mcm2 is required for cell growth. *J Biol Chem* 284, 28823-31.
- Montagnoli, A., Valsasina, B., Brotherton, D., Troiani, S., Rainoldi, S., Tenca, P., Molinari, A. & Santocanale, C. (2006). Identification of Mcm2 phosphorylation sites by S-phase-regulating kinases. *J Biol Chem* 281, 10281-90.
- Sheu, Y. J. & Stillman, B. (2006). Cdc7-Dbf4 phosphorylates MCM proteins via a docking site-mediated mechanism to promote S phase progression. *Mol Cell* 24, 101-13.
- Masai, H., Taniyama, C., Ogino, K., Matsui, E., Kakusho, N., Matsumoto, S., Kim, J. M., Ishii, A., Tanaka, T., Kobayashi, T., Tamai, K., Ohtani, K. & Arai, K. (2006). Phosphorylation of MCM4 by Cdc7 kinase facilitates its interaction with Cdc45 on the chromatin. *J Biol Chem* 281, 39249-61.
- 32. Aparicio, T., Ibarra, A. & Mendez, J. (2006). Cdc45-MCM-GINS, a new power player for DNA replication. *Cell Division* **1**, 18.
- 33. Gambus, A., Jones, R. C., Sanchez-Diaz, A., Kanemaki, M., van Deursen, F., Edmondson, R. D. & Labib, K. (2006). GINS maintains association of Cdc45 with MCM in replisome progression complexes at eukaryotic DNA replication forks. *Nat Cell Biol* 8, 358-66.
- 34. Labib, K. & Gambus, A. (2007). A key role for the GINS complex at DNA replication forks. *Trends Cell Biol* **17**, 271-8.
- 35. Moyer, S. E., Lewis, P. W. & Botchan, M. R. (2006). Isolation of the Cdc45/Mcm2-7/GINS (CMG) complex, a candidate for the eukaryotic DNA replication fork helicase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103, 10236-41.
- Bochman, M. L. & Schwacha, A. (2008). The Mcm2-7 Complex Has In Vitro Helicase Activity. *Molecular Cell* 31, 287-293.

- Ilves, I., Petojevic, T., Pesavento, J. J. & Botchan, M. R. (2010). Activation of the MCM2-7 helicase by association with Cdc45 and GINS proteins. *Mol Cell* 37, 247-58.
- Muramatsu, S., Hirai, K., Tak, Y. S., Kamimura, Y. & Araki, H. (2010). CDKdependent complex formation between replication proteins Dpb11, Sld2, Pol (epsilon}, and GINS in budding yeast. *Genes Dev* 24, 602-12.
- Zegerman, P. & Diffley, J. F. (2007). Phosphorylation of Sld2 and Sld3 by cyclindependent kinases promotes DNA replication in budding yeast. *Nature* 445, 281-5.
- 40. Araki, H., Leem, S. H., Phongdara, A. & Sugino, A. (1995). Dpb11, which interacts with DNA polymerase II(epsilon) in Saccharomyces cerevisiae, has a dual role in S-phase progression and at a cell cycle checkpoint. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A* **92**, 11791-5.
- 41. Burgers, P. M. (2009). Polymerase dynamics at the eukaryotic DNA replication fork. *J Biol Chem* **284**, 4041-5.
- 42. Wold, M. S. (1997). Replication protein A: a heterotrimeric, single-stranded DNA-binding protein required for eukaryotic DNA metabolism. *Annu Rev Biochem* 66, 61-92.
- 43. Labib, K., Tercero, J. A. & Diffley, J. F. (2000). Uninterrupted MCM2-7 function required for DNA replication fork progression. *Science* **288**, 1643-7.
- Pacek, M., Tutter, A. V., Kubota, Y., Takisawa, H. & Walter, J. C. (2006). Localization of MCM2-7, Cdc45, and GINS to the site of DNA unwinding during eukaryotic DNA replication. *Mol Cell* 21, 581-7.
- 45. Ying, C. Y. & Gautier, J. (2005). The ATPase activity of MCM2-7 is dispensable for pre-RC assembly but is required for DNA unwinding. *EMBO J* **24**, 4334-44.
- Forsburg, S. L. (2004). Eukaryotic MCM proteins: beyond replication initiation. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* 68, 109-31.
- 47. Ishimi, Y. (1997). A DNA helicase activity is associated with an MCM4, -6, and 7 protein complex. *J Biol Chem* 272, 24508-13.
- 48. Kanter, D. M., Bruck, I. & Kaplan, D. L. (2008). Mcm subunits can assemble into two different active unwinding complexes. *J Biol Chem* **283**, 31172-82.

- Davey, M. J., Indiani, C. & O'Donnell, M. (2003). Reconstitution of the Mcm2-7p heterohexamer, subunit arrangement, and ATP site architecture. *J Biol Chem* 278, 4491-9.
- Bochman, M. L., Bell, S. P. & Schwacha, A. (2008). Subunit organization of Mcm2-7 and the unequal role of active sites in ATP hydrolysis and viability. *Mol Cell Biol* 28, 5865-73.
- Kelman, Z., Lee, J. K. & Hurwitz, J. (1999). The single minichromosome maintenance protein of *Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum* DH contains DNA helicase activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 96, 14783-8.
- Chong, J. P., Hayashi, M. K., Simon, M. N., Xu, R. M. & Stillman, B. (2000). A double-hexamer archaeal minichromosome maintenance protein is an ATPdependent DNA helicase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97, 1530-5.
- 53. Shechter, D. F., Ying, C. Y. & Gautier, J. (2000). The intrinsic DNA helicase activity of Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum delta H minichromosome maintenance protein. *J Biol Chem* **275**, 15049-59.
- McGeoch, A. T., Trakselis, M. A., Laskey, R. A. & Bell, S. D. (2005). Organization of the archaeal MCM complex on DNA and implications for the helicase mechanism. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 12, 756-762.
- Fletcher, R. J., Bishop, B. E., Leon, R. P., Sclafani, R. A., Ogata, C. M. & Chen, X. S. (2003). The structure and function of MCM from archaeal M. Thermoautotrophicum. *Nat Struct Biol* 10, 160-7.
- Pucci, B., De Felice, M., Rossi, M., Onesti, S. & Pisani, F. M. (2004). Amino Acids of the Sulfolobus solfataricus Mini-chromosome Maintenance-like DNA Helicase Involved in DNA Binding/Remodeling. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 49222-49228.
- 57. Enemark, E. J. & Joshua-Tor, L. (2006). Mechanism of DNA translocation in a replicative hexameric helicase. *Nature* **442**, 270-275.
- Schwacha, A. & Bell, S. P. (2001). Interactions between two catalytically distinct MCM subgroups are essential for coordinated ATP hydrolysis and DNA replication. *Mol Cell* 8, 1093-104.

- 59. Gomez, E. B., Catlett, M. G. & Forsburg, S. L. (2002). Different phenotypes in vivo are associated with ATPase motif mutations in Schizosaccharomyces pombe minichromosome maintenance proteins. *Genetics* 160, 1305-18.
- Brewster, A. S., Wang, G., Yu, X., Greenleaf, W. B., Carazo, J. M., Tjajadia, M., Klein, M. G. & Chen, X. S. (2008). Crystal structure of a near-full-length archaeal MCM: functional insights for an AAA+ hexameric helicase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A 105, 20191-6.
- Moreau, M. J., McGeoch, A. T., Lowe, A. R., Itzhaki, L. S. & Bell, S. D. (2007). ATPase site architecture and helicase mechanism of an archaeal MCM. *Mol Cell* 28, 304-14.
- Leon, R. P., Tecklenburg, M. & Sclafani, R. A. (2008). Functional conservation of beta-hairpin DNA binding domains in the Mcm protein of Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum and the Mcm5 protein of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Genetics* 179, 1757-68.
- Jenkinson, E. R. & Chong, J. P. (2006). Minichromosome maintenance helicase activity is controlled by N- and C-terminal motifs and requires the ATPase domain helix-2 insert. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103, 7613-8.
- Brewster, A. S., Slaymaker, I. M., Afif, S. A. & Chen, X. S. (2010). Mutational analysis of an archaeal minichromosome maintenance protein exterior hairpin reveals critical residues for helicase activity and DNA binding. *BMC Mol Biol* 11, 62.
- Enemark, E. J., Chen, G., Vaughn, D. E., Stenlund, A. & Joshua-Tor, L. (2000).
 Crystal structure of the DNA binding domain of the replication initiation protein E1 from papillomavirus. *Mol Cell* 6, 149-58.
- Sanders, C. M., Kovalevskiy, O. V., Sizov, D., Lebedev, A. A., Isupov, M. N. & Antson, A. A. (2007). Papillomavirus E1 helicase assembly maintains an asymmetric state in the absence of DNA and nucleotide cofactors. *Nucleic Acids Res* 35, 6451-7.
- Li, D., Zhao, R., Lilyestrom, W., Gai, D., Zhang, R., DeCaprio, J. A., Fanning, E., Jochimiak, A., Szakonyi, G. & Chen, X. S. (2003). Structure of the replicative helicase of the oncoprotein SV40 large tumour antigen. *Nature* 423, 512-518.

- Gai, D., Zhao, R., Li, D., Finkielstein, C. V. & Chen, X. S. (2004). Mechanisms of conformational change for a replicative hexameric helicase of SV40 large tumor antigen. *Cell* 119, 47-60.
- 69. Ma, X., Stead, B. E., Rezvanpour, A. & Davey, M. J. (2010). The effects of oligomerization on Saccharomyces cerevisiae Mcm4/6/7 function. *BMC Biochem* 11, 37.
- 70. Davey, M. J. & O'Donnell, M. (2003). Replicative helicase loaders: ring breakers and ring makers. *Curr Biol* **13**, R594-6.
- Bochman, M. L. & Schwacha, A. (2010). The Saccharomyces cerevisiae Mcm6/2 and Mcm5/3 ATPase active sites contribute to the function of the putative Mcm2-7 'gate'. *Nucleic Acids Res* 38, 6078-88.
- 72. Bochman, M. L. & Schwacha, A. (2007). Differences in the single-stranded DNA binding activities of MCM2-7 and MCM467: MCM2 and MCM5 define a slow ATP-dependent step. *J Biol Chem* 282, 33795-804.
- Evrin, C., Clarke, P., Zech, J., Lurz, R., Sun, J., Uhle, S., Li, H., Stillman, B. & Speck, C. (2009). A double-hexameric MCM2-7 complex is loaded onto origin DNA during licensing of eukaryotic DNA replication. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 106, 20240-5.
- Remus, D., Beuron, F., Tolun, G., Griffith, J. D., Morris, E. P. & Diffley, J. F. (2009). Concerted loading of Mcm2-7 double hexamers around DNA during DNA replication origin licensing. *Cell* 139, 719-30.
- 75. Hendrickson, M., Madine, M., Dalton, S. & Gautier, J. (1996). Phosphorylation of MCM4 by cdc2 protein kinase inhibits the activity of the minichromosome maintenance complex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 93, 12223-8.
- Ishimi, Y. & Komamura-Kohno, Y. (2001). Phosphorylation of Mcm4 at specific sites by cyclin-dependent kinase leads to loss of Mcm4,6,7 helicase activity. J Biol Chem 276, 34428-33.
- Ishimi, Y., Komamura-Kohno, Y., You, Z., Omori, A. & Kitagawa, M. (2000).
 Inhibition of Mcm4,6,7 helicase activity by phosphorylation with cyclin A/Cdk2.
 J Biol Chem 275, 16235-41.

- Kaplan, D. L., Davey, M. J. & O'Donnell, M. (2003). Mcm4,6,7 uses a "pump in ring" mechanism to unwind DNA by steric exclusion and actively translocate along a duplex. *J Biol Chem* 278, 49171-82.
- You, Z., Ishimi, Y., Masai, H. & Hanaoka, F. (2002). Roles of Mcm7 and Mcm4 subunits in the DNA helicase activity of the mouse Mcm4/6/7 complex. *J Biol Chem* 277, 42471-9.
- You, Z., Komamura, Y. & Ishimi, Y. (1999). Biochemical analysis of the intrinsic Mcm4-Mcm6-Mcm7 DNA helicase activity. *Mol Cell Biol* 19, 8003-15.
- You, Z. & Masai, H. (2005). DNA binding and helicase actions of mouse MCM4/6/7 helicase. *Nucleic Acids Res* 33, 3033-47.
- Tran, N. Q., Dang, H. Q., Tuteja, R. & Tuteja, N. (2010). A single subunit MCM6 from pea forms homohexamer and functions as DNA helicase. *Plant Mol Biol* 74, 327-36.
- Takahashi, T. S., Wigley, D. B. & Walter, J. C. (2005). Pumps, paradoxes and ploughshares: mechanism of the MCM2-7 DNA helicase. *Trends Biochem Sci* 30, 437-44.
- Laskey, R. A. & Madine, M. A. (2003). A rotary pumping model for helicase function of MCM proteins at a distance from replication forks. *EMBO Rep* 4, 26-30.
- Crevel, G., Hashimoto, R., Vass, S., Sherkow, J., Yamaguchi, M., Heck, M. M. & Cotterill, S. (2007). Differential requirements for MCM proteins in DNA replication in Drosophila S2 cells. *PLoS One* 2, e833.
- Oehlmann, M., Score, A. J. & Blow, J. J. (2004). The role of Cdc6 in ensuring complete genome licensing and S phase checkpoint activation. *J Cell Biol* 165, 181-90.
- Lei, M., Kawasaki, Y. & Tye, B. K. (1996). Physical interactions among Mcm proteins and effects of Mcm dosage on DNA replication in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Mol Cell Biol* 16, 5081-90.
- Ge, X. Q., Jackson, D. A. & Blow, J. J. (2007). Dormant origins licensed by excess Mcm2-7 are required for human cells to survive replicative stress. *Genes Dev* 21, 3331-41.

- Ibarra, A., Schwob, E. & Mendez, J. (2008). Excess MCM proteins protect human cells from replicative stress by licensing backup origins of replication. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105, 8956-61.
- Woodward, A. M., Gohler, T., Luciani, M. G., Oehlmann, M., Ge, X., Gartner, A., Jackson, D. A. & Blow, J. J. (2006). Excess Mcm2-7 license dormant origins of replication that can be used under conditions of replicative stress. *J Cell Biol* 173, 673-83.
- Brewster, A. S. & Chen, X. S. (2010). Insights into the MCM functional mechanism: lessons learned from the archaeal MCM complex. *Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol* 45, 243-56.
- Singleton, M. R., Dillingham, M. S. & Wigley, D. B. (2007). Structure and Mechanism of Helicases and Nucleic Acid Translocases. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* 76, 23-50.
- Snyder, M., Huang, X. Y. & Zhang, J. J. (2009). The minichromosome maintenance proteins 2-7 (MCM2-7) are necessary for RNA polymerase II (Pol II)-mediated transcription. *J Biol Chem* 284, 13466-72.
- 94. Holland, L., Gauthier, L., Bell-Rogers, P. & Yankulov, K. (2002). Distinct parts of minichromosome maintenance protein 2 associate with histone H3/H4 and RNA polymerase II holoenzyme. *Eur J Biochem* 269, 5192-202.
- 95. Zhang, J. J., Zhao, Y., Chait, B. T., Lathem, W. W., Ritzi, M., Knippers, R. & Darnell, J. E., Jr. (1998). Ser727-dependent recruitment of MCM5 by Stat1alpha in IFN-gamma-induced transcriptional activation. *EMBO J* 17, 6963-71.
- Ishimi, Y., Komamura, Y., You, Z. & Kimura, H. (1998). Biochemical function of mouse minichromosome maintenance 2 protein. *J Biol Chem* 273, 8369-75.
- 97. Ishimi, Y., Komamura-Kohno, Y., Arai, K. & Masai, H. (2001). Biochemical activities associated with mouse Mcm2 protein. *J Biol Chem* **276**, 42744-52.
- Groth, A., Corpet, A., Cook, A. J., Roche, D., Bartek, J., Lukas, J. & Almouzni, G. (2007). Regulation of replication fork progression through histone supply and demand. *Science* 318, 1928-31.

- 99. Tan, B. C., Chien, C. T., Hirose, S. & Lee, S. C. (2006). Functional cooperation between FACT and MCM helicase facilitates initiation of chromatin DNA replication. *EMBO J* 25, 3975-85.
- Chuang, C. H., Wallace, M. D., Abratte, C., Southard, T. & Schimenti, J. C. (2010). Incremental Genetic Perturbations to MCM2-7 Expression and Subcellular Distribution Reveal Exquisite Sensitivity of Mice to DNA Replication Stress. *PLoS Genet* 6, e1001110.
- Lee, J. K. & Hurwitz, J. (2000). Isolation and characterization of various complexes of the minichromosome maintenance proteins of *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *J Biol Chem* 275, 18871-8.
- 102. Sato, M., Gotow, T., You, Z., Komamura-Kohno, Y., Uchiyama, Y., Yabuta, N., Nojima, H. & Ishimi, Y. (2000). Electron microscopic observation and singlestranded DNA binding activity of the Mcm4,6,7 complex. *J Mol Biol* **300**, 421-31.
- Yabuta, N., Kajimura, N., Mayanagi, K., Sato, M., Gotow, T., Uchiyama, Y., Ishimi, Y. & Nojima, H. (2003). Mammalian Mcm2/4/6/7 complex forms a toroidal structure. *Genes Cells* 8, 413-21.
- Hua, X. H., Yan, H. & Newport, J. (1997). A role for Cdk2 kinase in negatively regulating DNA replication during S phase of the cell cycle. *J Cell Biol* 137, 183-92.
- 105. Dahmann, C., Diffley, J. F. & Nasmyth, K. A. (1995). S-phase-promoting cyclindependent kinases prevent re-replication by inhibiting the transition of replication origins to a pre-replicative state. *Curr Biol* 5, 1257-69.
- 106. Piatti, S., Bohm, T., Cocker, J. H., Diffley, J. F. & Nasmyth, K. (1996). Activation of S-phase-promoting CDKs in late G1 defines a "point of no return" after which Cdc6 synthesis cannot promote DNA replication in yeast. *Genes Dev* 10, 1516-31.
- 107. Findeisen, M., El-Denary, M., Kapitza, T., Graf, R. & Strausfeld, U. (1999). Cyclin A-dependent kinase activity affects chromatin binding of ORC, Cdc6, and MCM in egg extracts of Xenopus laevis. *Eur J Biochem* 264, 415-26.
- Fujita, M., Yamada, C., Tsurumi, T., Hanaoka, F., Matsuzawa, K. & Inagaki, M. (1998). Cell cycle- and chromatin binding state-dependent phosphorylation of

human MCM heterohexameric complexes. A role for cdc2 kinase. *J Biol Chem* **273**, 17095-101.

- Pereverzeva, I., Whitmire, E., Khan, B. & Coue, M. (2000). Distinct phosphoisoforms of the Xenopus Mcm4 protein regulate the function of the Mcm complex. *Mol Cell Biol* 20, 3667-76.
- 110. Liku, M. E., Nguyen, V. Q., Rosales, A. W., Irie, K. & Li, J. J. (2005). CDK phosphorylation of a novel NLS-NES module distributed between two subunits of the Mcm2-7 complex prevents chromosomal rereplication. *Mol Biol Cell* 16, 5026-39.
- 111. Lin, D. I., Aggarwal, P. & Diehl, J. A. (2008). Phosphorylation of MCM3 on Ser112 regulates its incorporation into the MCM2-7 complex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A 105, 8079-84.
- Tanaka, S., Umemori, T., Hirai, K., Muramatsu, S., Kamimura, Y. & Araki, H. (2007). CDK-dependent phosphorylation of Sld2 and Sld3 initiates DNA replication in budding yeast. *Nature* 445, 328-32.
- Masumoto, H., Muramatsu, S., Kamimura, Y. & Araki, H. (2002). S-Cdkdependent phosphorylation of Sld2 essential for chromosomal DNA replication in budding yeast. *Nature* 415, 651-5.
- 114. Masumoto, H., Sugino, A. & Araki, H. (2000). Dpb11 controls the association between DNA polymerases alpha and epsilon and the autonomously replicating sequence region of budding yeast. *Mol Cell Biol* 20, 2809-17.
- 115. Kamimura, Y., Masumoto, H., Sugino, A. & Araki, H. (1998). Sld2, which interacts with Dpb11 in Saccharomyces cerevisiae, is required for chromosomal DNA replication. *Mol Cell Biol* 18, 6102-9.
- 116. Cortez, D., Glick, G. & Elledge, S. J. (2004). Minichromosome maintenance proteins are direct targets of the ATM and ATR checkpoint kinases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101, 10078-83.
- 117. Yoo, H. Y., Shevchenko, A. & Dunphy, W. G. (2004). Mcm2 is a direct substrate of ATM and ATR during DNA damage and DNA replication checkpoint responses. *J Biol Chem* 279, 53353-64.

- Ishimi, Y., Komamura-Kohno, Y., Kwon, H. J., Yamada, K. & Nakanishi, M. (2003). Identification of MCM4 as a target of the DNA replication block checkpoint system. *J Biol Chem* 278, 24644-50.
- St-Denis, N. A. & Litchfield, D. W. (2009). Protein kinase CK2 in health and disease: From birth to death: the role of protein kinase CK2 in the regulation of cell proliferation and survival. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 66, 1817-29.
- 120. Sheu, Y. J. & Stillman, B. (2010). The Dbf4-Cdc7 kinase promotes S phase by alleviating an inhibitory activity in Mcm4. *Nature* **463**, 113-7.
- 121. Santocanale, C. & Diffley, J. F. (1998). A Mec1- and Rad53-dependent checkpoint controls late-firing origins of DNA replication. *Nature* **395**, 615-8.
- 122. Duncker, B. P., Shimada, K., Tsai-Pflugfelder, M., Pasero, P. & Gasser, S. M. (2002). An N-terminal domain of Dbf4p mediates interaction with both origin recognition complex (ORC) and Rad53p and can deregulate late origin firing. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **99**, 16087-92.
- 123. Duncker, B. P. & Brown, G. W. (2003). Cdc7 kinases (DDKs) and checkpoint responses: lessons from two yeasts. *Mutat Res* **532**, 21-7.
- 124. Tercero, J. A. & Diffley, J. F. (2001). Regulation of DNA replication fork progression through damaged DNA by the Mec1/Rad53 checkpoint. *Nature* 412, 553-7.
- 125. Lopes, M., Cotta-Ramusino, C., Pellicioli, A., Liberi, G., Plevani, P., Muzi-Falconi, M., Newlon, C. S. & Foiani, M. (2001). The DNA replication checkpoint response stabilizes stalled replication forks. *Nature* **412**, 557-61.
- Tsuji, T., Ficarro, S. B. & Jiang, W. (2006). Essential role of phosphorylation of MCM2 by Cdc7/Dbf4 in the initiation of DNA replication in mammalian cells. *Mol Biol Cell* 17, 4459-72.
- 127. Chuang, L. C., Teixeira, L. K., Wohlschlegel, J. A., Henze, M., Yates, J. R., Mendez, J. & Reed, S. I. (2009). Phosphorylation of Mcm2 by Cdc7 promotes pre-replication complex assembly during cell-cycle re-entry. *Mol Cell* 35, 206-16.
- Mondello, C., Smirnova, A. & Giulotto, E. (2010). Gene amplification, radiation sensitivity and DNA double-strand breaks. *Mutat Res* 704, 29-37.

- Wyatt, M. D. & Pittman, D. L. (2006). Methylating agents and DNA repair responses: Methylated bases and sources of strand breaks. *Chem Res Toxicol* 19, 1580-94.
- Melo, J. & Toczyski, D. (2002). A unified view of the DNA-damage checkpoint. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 14, 237-45.
- 131. Segurado, M. & Tercero, J. A. (2009). The S-phase checkpoint: targeting the replication fork. *Biol Cell* **101**, 617-27.
- 132. Melo, J. A., Cohen, J. & Toczyski, D. P. (2001). Two checkpoint complexes are independently recruited to sites of DNA damage in vivo. *Genes Dev* **15**, 2809-21.
- Kondo, T., Matsumoto, K. & Sugimoto, K. (1999). Role of a complex containing Rad17, Mec3, and Ddc1 in the yeast DNA damage checkpoint pathway. *Mol Cell Biol* 19, 1136-43.
- 134. Toh, G. W. & Lowndes, N. F. (2003). Role of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae Rad9 protein in sensing and responding to DNA damage. *Biochem Soc Trans* **31**, 242-6.
- Naiki, T., Wakayama, T., Nakada, D., Matsumoto, K. & Sugimoto, K. (2004). Association of Rad9 with double-strand breaks through a Mec1-dependent mechanism. *Mol Cell Biol* 24, 3277-85.
- 136. de la Torre-Ruiz, M. A., Green, C. M. & Lowndes, N. F. (1998). RAD9 and RAD24 define two additive, interacting branches of the DNA damage checkpoint pathway in budding yeast normally required for Rad53 modification and activation. *EMBO J* **17**, 2687-98.
- Paulovich, A. G. & Hartwell, L. H. (1995). A checkpoint regulates the rate of progression through S phase in S. cerevisiae in response to DNA damage. *Cell* 82, 841-7.
- 138. Paulovich, A. G., Margulies, R. U., Garvik, B. M. & Hartwell, L. H. (1997). RAD9, RAD17, and RAD24 are required for S phase regulation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae in response to DNA damage. *Genetics* 145, 45-62.
- Branzei, D. & Foiani, M. (2006). The Rad53 signal transduction pathway: Replication fork stabilization, DNA repair, and adaptation. *Exp Cell Res* 312, 2654-9.

- Segurado, M. & Diffley, J. F. (2008). Separate roles for the DNA damage checkpoint protein kinases in stabilizing DNA replication forks. *Genes Dev* 22, 1816-27.
- Meira, L. B., Burgis, N. E. & Samson, L. D. (2005). Base excision repair. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 570, 125-73.
- 142. Nikolova, T., Ensminger, M., Lobrich, M. & Kaina, B. (2010). Homologous recombination protects mammalian cells from replication-associated DNA double-strand breaks arising in response to methyl methanesulfonate. *DNA Repair* (*Amst*) 9, 1050-63.
- Dizdaroglu, M. (2005). Base-excision repair of oxidative DNA damage by DNA glycosylases. *Mutat Res* 591, 45-59.
- 144. Rybanska, I. & Pirsel, M. (2003). Involvement of the nucleotide excision repair proteins in the removal of oxidative DNA base damage in mammalian cells. *Neoplasma* 50, 389-95.
- 145. Shiloh, Y. (2003). ATM and related protein kinases: safeguarding genome integrity. *Nat Rev Cancer* **3**, 155-68.
- Jackson, S. P. (2002). Sensing and repairing DNA double-strand breaks. Carcinogenesis 23, 687-96.
- 147. Lieber, M. R. (2010). The mechanism of double-strand DNA break repair by the nonhomologous DNA end-joining pathway. *Annu Rev Biochem* **79**, 181-211.
- 148. Slater, M. L. (1973). Effect of reversible inhibition of deoxyribonucleic acid synthesis on the yeast cell cycle. *J Bacteriol* **113**, 263-70.
- Arnaudeau, C., Lundin, C. & Helleday, T. (2001). DNA double-strand breaks associated with replication forks are predominantly repaired by homologous recombination involving an exchange mechanism in mammalian cells. *J Mol Biol* 307, 1235-45.
- 150. Lundin, C., Erixon, K., Arnaudeau, C., Schultz, N., Jenssen, D., Meuth, M. & Helleday, T. (2002). Different roles for nonhomologous end joining and homologous recombination following replication arrest in mammalian cells. *Mol Cell Biol* 22, 5869-78.

- 151. Katou, Y., Kanoh, Y., Bando, M., Noguchi, H., Tanaka, H., Ashikari, T., Sugimoto, K. & Shirahige, K. (2003). S-phase checkpoint proteins Tof1 and Mrc1 form a stable replication-pausing complex. *Nature* **424**, 1078-83.
- 152. Lou, H., Komata, M., Katou, Y., Guan, Z., Reis, C. C., Budd, M., Shirahige, K. & Campbell, J. L. (2008). Mrc1 and DNA polymerase epsilon function together in linking DNA replication and the S phase checkpoint. *Mol Cell* **32**, 106-17.
- Foss, E. J. (2001). Tof1p regulates DNA damage responses during S phase in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Genetics* 157, 567-77.
- 154. Komata, M., Bando, M., Araki, H. & Shirahige, K. (2009). The direct binding of Mrc1, a checkpoint mediator, to Mcm6, a replication helicase, is essential for the replication checkpoint against methyl methanesulfonate-induced stress. *Mol Cell Biol* 29, 5008-19.
- Schleker, T., Nagai, S. & Gasser, S. M. (2009). Posttranslational modifications of repair factors and histones in the cellular response to stalled replication forks. *DNA Repair (Amst)* 8, 1089-100.
- 156. Leroy, C., Lee, S. E., Vaze, M. B., Ochsenbien, F., Guerois, R., Haber, J. E. & Marsolier-Kergoat, M. C. (2003). PP2C phosphatases Ptc2 and Ptc3 are required for DNA checkpoint inactivation after a double-strand break. *Mol Cell* 11, 827-35.
- 157. Guillemain, G., Ma, E., Mauger, S., Miron, S., Thai, R., Guerois, R., Ochsenbein,
 F. & Marsolier-Kergoat, M. C. (2007). Mechanisms of checkpoint kinase Rad53 inactivation after a double-strand break in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Mol Cell Biol* 27, 3378-89.
- Szyjka, S. J., Aparicio, J. G., Viggiani, C. J., Knott, S., Xu, W., Tavare, S. & Aparicio, O. M. (2008). Rad53 regulates replication fork restart after DNA damage in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Genes Dev* 22, 1906-20.
- 159. Weinreich, M. & Stillman, B. (1999). Cdc7p-Dbf4p kinase binds to chromatin during S phase and is regulated by both the APC and the RAD53 checkpoint pathway. *EMBO J* 18, 5334-46.
- Zegerman, P. & Diffley, J. F. (2010). Checkpoint-dependent inhibition of DNA replication initiation by Sld3 and Dbf4 phosphorylation. *Nature* 467, 474-8.

- Dolan, W. P., Le, A. H., Schmidt, H., Yuan, J. P., Green, M. & Forsburg, S. L. (2010). Fission Yeast Hsk1 (Cdc7) Kinase is Required After Replication Initiation for Induced Mutagenesis and Proper Response to DNA Alkylation Damage. *Genetics* 185, 39-53.
- 162. Harkins, V., Gabrielse, C., Haste, L. & Weinreich, M. (2009). Budding yeast Dbf4 sequences required for Cdc7 kinase activation and identification of a functional relationship between the Dbf4 and Rev1 BRCT domains. *Genetics* 183, 1269-82.
- Pessoa-Brandao, L. & Sclafani, R. A. (2004). CDC7/DBF4 functions in the translesion synthesis branch of the RAD6 epistasis group in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Genetics* 167, 1597-610.
- Ostroff, R. M. & Sclafani, R. A. (1995). Cell cycle regulation of induced mutagenesis in yeast. *Mutat Res* 329, 143-52.
- 165. Bailis, J. M., Luche, D. D., Hunter, T. & Forsburg, S. L. (2008). Minichromosome maintenance proteins interact with checkpoint and recombination proteins to promote s-phase genome stability. *Mol Cell Biol* 28, 1724-38.
- 166. Donovan, S., Harwood, J., Drury, L. S. & Diffley, J. F. (1997). Cdc6p-dependent loading of Mcm proteins onto pre-replicative chromatin in budding yeast. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 94, 5611-6.
- Raghuraman, M. K., Winzeler, E. A., Collingwood, D., Hunt, S., Wodicka, L., Conway, A., Lockhart, D. J., Davis, R. W., Brewer, B. J. & Fangman, W. L. (2001). Replication dynamics of the yeast genome. *Science* 294, 115-21.
- Wyrick, J. J., Aparicio, J. G., Chen, T., Barnett, J. D., Jennings, E. G., Young, R. A., Bell, S. P. & Aparicio, O. M. (2001). Genome-wide distribution of ORC and MCM proteins in S. cerevisiae: high-resolution mapping of replication origins. *Science* 294, 2357-60.
- 169. Ghaemmaghami, S., Huh, W. K., Bower, K., Howson, R. W., Belle, A., Dephoure, N., O'Shea, E. K. & Weissman, J. S. (2003). Global analysis of protein expression in yeast. *Nature* 425, 737-41.
- Takayama, Y., Mamnun, Y. M., Trickey, M., Dhut, S., Masuda, F., Yamano, H., Toda, T. & Saitoh, S. (2010). Hsk1- and SCF(Pof3)-dependent proteolysis of S.

pombe Ams2 ensures histone homeostasis and centromere function. *Dev Cell* **18**, 385-96.

- 171. Baker, S. P., Phillips, J., Anderson, S., Qiu, Q., Shabanowitz, J., Smith, M. M., Yates, J. R., 3rd, Hunt, D. F. & Grant, P. A. (2010). Histone H3 Thr 45 phosphorylation is a replication-associated post-translational modification in S. cerevisiae. *Nat Cell Biol* 12, 294-8.
- Miller, C. T., Gabrielse, C., Chen, Y. C. & Weinreich, M. (2009). Cdc7p-Dbf4p regulates mitotic exit by inhibiting Polo kinase. *PLoS Genet* 5, e1000498.
- 173. Wan, L., Niu, H., Futcher, B., Zhang, C., Shokat, K. M., Boulton, S. J. & Hollingsworth, N. M. (2008). Cdc28-Clb5 (CDK-S) and Cdc7-Dbf4 (DDK) collaborate to initiate meiotic recombination in yeast. *Genes Dev* 22, 386-97.
- Sasanuma, H., Hirota, K., Fukuda, T., Kakusho, N., Kugou, K., Kawasaki, Y., Shibata, T., Masai, H. & Ohta, K. (2008). Cdc7-dependent phosphorylation of Mer2 facilitates initiation of yeast meiotic recombination. *Genes Dev* 22, 398-410.
- 175. Matos, J., Lipp, J. J., Bogdanova, A., Guillot, S., Okaz, E., Junqueira, M., Shevchenko, A. & Zachariae, W. (2008). Dbf4-dependent CDC7 kinase links DNA replication to the segregation of homologous chromosomes in meiosis I. *Cell* 135, 662-78.
- 176. Wan, L., Zhang, C., Shokat, K. M. & Hollingsworth, N. M. (2006). Chemical inactivation of cdc7 kinase in budding yeast results in a reversible arrest that allows efficient cell synchronization prior to meiotic recombination. *Genetics* 174, 1767-74.
- 177. Murakami, H. & Keeney, S. (2008). Regulating the formation of DNA doublestrand breaks in meiosis. *Genes Dev* 22, 286-92.
- Lo, H. C., Wan, L., Rosebrock, A., Futcher, B. & Hollingsworth, N. M. (2008). Cdc7-Dbf4 regulates NDT80 transcription as well as reductional segregation during budding yeast meiosis. *Mol Biol Cell* 19, 4956-67.
- 179. Desborough, S. & Lindegren, G. (1959). Chromosome mapping of linkage data from Saccharomyces by tetrad analysis. *Genetica* **30**, 346-83.
- Lindegren, C. C. (1953). Concepts of gene-structure and gene-action derived from tetrad analysis of Saccharomyces. *Experientia* 9, 75-80.

- 181. Boeke, J. D., Trueheart, J., Natsoulis, G. & Fink, G. R. (1987). 5-Fluoroorotic acid as a selective agent in yeast molecular genetics. *Methods Enzymol* **154**, 164-75.
- 182. Winzeler, E. A., Shoemaker, D. D., Astromoff, A., Liang, H., Anderson, K., Andre, B., Bangham, R., Benito, R., Boeke, J. D., Bussey, H., Chu, A. M., Connelly, C., Davis, K., Dietrich, F., Dow, S. W., El Bakkoury, M., Foury, F., Friend, S. H., Gentalen, E., Giaever, G., Hegemann, J. H., Jones, T., Laub, M., Liao, H., Liebundguth, N., Lockhart, D. J., Lucau-Danila, A., Lussier, M., M'Rabet, N., Menard, P., Mittmann, M., Pai, C., Rebischung, C., Revuelta, J. L., Riles, L., Roberts, C. J., Ross-MacDonald, P., Scherens, B., Snyder, M., Sookhai-Mahadeo, S., Storms, R. K., Veronneau, S., Voet, M., Volckaert, G., Ward, T. R., Wysocki, R., Yen, G. S., Yu, K., Zimmermann, K., Philippsen, P., Johnston, M. & Davis, R. W. (1999). Functional characterization of the S. cerevisiae genome by gene deletion and parallel analysis. *Science* 285, 901-6.
- 183. Wach, A., Brachat, A., Pohlmann, R. & Philippsen, P. (1994). New heterologous modules for classical or PCR-based gene disruptions in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Yeast* 10, 1793-808.
- Tong, A. & Boone, C. (2005). Synthetic Genetic Array (SGA) Analysis in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. In *Methods in Molecular Biology*, Vol. 313, pp. 171-92. The Humana Press, Inc., Totowa, NJ, U. S. A.
- 185. Pan, X., Yuan, D. S., Xiang, D., Wang, X., Sookhai-Mahadeo, S., Bader, J. S., Hieter, P., Spencer, F. & Boeke, J. D. (2004). A robust toolkit for functional profiling of the yeast genome. *Mol Cell* 16, 487-96.
- Kulkarni, A. A., Kingsbury, S. R., Tudzarova, S., Hong, H. K., Loddo, M., Rashid, M., Rodriguez-Acebes, S., Prevost, A. T., Ledermann, J. A., Stoeber, K. & Williams, G. H. (2009). Cdc7 kinase is a predictor of survival and a novel therapeutic target in epithelial ovarian carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res* 15, 2417-25.
- 187. Ito, S., Taniyami, C., Arai, N. & Masai, H. (2008). Cdc7 as a potential new target for cancer therapy. *Drug News Perspect* 21, 481-8.
- 188. Swords, R., Mahalingam, D., O'Dwyer, M., Santocanale, C., Kelly, K., Carew, J. & Giles, F. (2010). Cdc7 kinase a new target for drug development. *Eur J Cancer* 46, 33-40.

- Sawa, M. & Masai, H. (2009). Drug design with Cdc7 kinase: a potential novel cancer therapy target. *Drug Des Devel Ther* 2, 255-64.
- 190. Menichincheri, M., Bargiotti, A., Berthelsen, J., Bertrand, J. A., Bossi, R., Ciavolella, A., Cirla, A., Cristiani, C., Croci, V., D'Alessio, R., Fasolini, M., Fiorentini, F., Forte, B., Isacchi, A., Martina, K., Molinari, A., Montagnoli, A., Orsini, P., Orzi, F., Pesenti, E., Pezzetta, D., Pillan, A., Poggesi, I., Roletto, F., Scolaro, A., Tato, M., Tibolla, M., Valsasina, B., Varasi, M., Volpi, D., Santocanale, C. & Vanotti, E. (2009). First Cdc7 kinase inhibitors: pyrrolopyridinones as potent and orally active antitumor agents. 2. Lead discovery. *J Med Chem* **52**, 293-307.
- Ermoli, A., Bargiotti, A., Brasca, M. G., Ciavolella, A., Colombo, N., Fachin, G., Isacchi, A., Menichincheri, M., Molinari, A., Montagnoli, A., Pillan, A., Rainoldi, S., Sirtori, F. R., Sola, F., Thieffine, S., Tibolla, M., Valsasina, B., Volpi, D., Santocanale, C. & Vanotti, E. (2009). Cell division cycle 7 kinase inhibitors: 1Hpyrrolo[2,3-b]pyridines, synthesis and structure-activity relationships. *J Med Chem* 52, 4380-90.

CHAPTER 2 ATP HYDROLYSIS BY MCM2 IS REQUIRED TO REGULATE DNA BINDING BY MCM COMPLEXES^a

2.1 <u>Introduction</u>

The ability of Mcm2 to inhibit Mcm4/6/7 is the starting point for the studies presented in this chapter^{1; 2; 3}. Current models suggest that Mcm2 modulates the helicase activity of Mcm4/6/7 by disrupting the oligomeric structure of the complex. The functional form of Mcm4/6/7 is likely a hexameric ring comprised of two Mcm4/6/7 trimers that binds to DNA by encircling it within a central channel^{1; 2; 4; 5; 6; 7; 8}. This mode of DNA interaction is likely important for DNA unwinding^{6; 9; 10; 11}. Based on the observation that Mcm2 interacts with Mcm4/6/7 in the absence of ATP and disrupts the hexameric structure to form tetramers containing Mcm2, 4, 6 and 7^{1; 2; 3}, current models propose that modulation of Mcm4/6/7 activity by Mcm2 occurs by a "passive" process and is simply a consequence of the interaction between Mcm2 and Mcm4/6/7.

Here, I examine the mechanism of Mcm2 modulation of Mcm4/6/7 activities and relate these findings to the Mcm2-7 complex from *S. cerevisiae*. Specifically, I tested the hypothesis that Mcm2 inhibits Mcm4/6/7 activity via a passive mechanism using a Mcm2 mutant (Mcm2_{K549A}) that was severely compromised in its ability to hydrolyze ATP with the expectation that the mutant would inhibit Mcm4/6/7 activity. Surprisingly, I found that Mcm2_{K549A} was unable to inhibit DNA unwinding by Mcm4/6/7. This same mutant interacted with Mcm4/6/7, suggesting that association of Mcm2 with Mcm4/6/7 is not sufficient for Mcm2 to exert its effects. Rather, based on observations with ATP analogues and Mcm2_{K549A}, I suggest that the ADP-bound state of Mcm2 is required for

^a This chapter has been published: Stead BE, Sorbara CD, Brandl, CJ and Davey, MJ. **ATP Binding and Hydrolysis by Mcm2 Regulate DNA Binding by Mcm Complexes**. J. *Mol. Biol.* (2009) **391**, 301–313.
inhibition of DNA binding and thus DNA unwinding by Mcm4/6/7. The relevance of this result to the intact complex was apparent from the finding that the Mcm2-7 complex containing $Mcm2_{K549A}$ in place of wild type Mcm2 possesses a higher affinity for single stranded DNA than wild type Mcm2-7. I suggest that ATP hydrolysis at the Mcm2 site modulates Mcm2-7 DNA binding by a mechanism in which the ATP binding status of Mcm2 is communicated to other Mcm subunits.

2.2 <u>Materials and Methods</u>

2.2.1 Materials

Sources of reagents were Sigma Aldrich for ATP, ADP and ATP γ S (\geq 99 % purity for each); New England BioLabs for molecular biology enzymes; and Integrated DNA Technologies for helicase substrates, unless otherwise indicated. M13mp18 single stranded DNA was phenol extracted from PEG-precipitated phage¹² and is greater than 95 % circular single stranded DNA. Purification of individual Mcm subunits was carried out as described previously¹³, with the exceptions described below. For Mcm6, the EAH Sepharose step was omitted. Mcm4/6/7 was reconstituted from individual subunits as described in Kaplan et al⁶. Mcm2-7 was reconstituted from individual subunits as described¹³ except that a Mono S column was used as an extra purification step (Buffer H, 20 ml 0-500 mM NaCl gradient) before the MonoQ column and the gel filtration column was omitted. For ATPases, Mcm6 was purified by gel filtration as described in Ref. 13. Molar concentrations of proteins are expressed as monomer for Mcm2 and Mcm6, dimer for Mcm3/5 and hexamer for Mcm4/6/7 and Mcm2-7.

2.2.2 Plasmids

 $mcm2_{K549R}$ was generated by amplifying a portion of the MCM2 coding region pET11a-*MCM2*¹³ from 5'using the mutagenic primer, d(CCAGGTACCGCCAGATCTCA)-3'and 5'а second primer. d(TCGGGCTTTGTTAG)-3' with Elongase polymerase (Invitrogen). A second round of amplification used the megaprimer product¹⁴ generated in the first reaction and 5'd(AATTGTGAGCGGATAACAATTCCCCTC)-3' to amplify the MCM2 coding region containing the K549R mutation as well as NdeI and BamHI sites at the 5' and 3' ends. $mcm2_{K5494}$ was generated similarly, except that the mutagenic primer was 5'd(GATCCAGGTACCGCCGCATC)-3'. The mutant PCR products were digested with BamHI and NdeI and ligated into the same sites of pET24a (Novagen) to yield pET24a $mcm2_{K549R}$ and pET24a- $mcm2_{K549A}$. Mutations were confirmed by sequencing the MCM2 coding region (Robarts Research Institute DNA Sequencing Facility).

pMD279, for disruption of MCM2, is YIplac211¹⁵ with the 349 bp intergenic region upstream of MCM2 as well as the MCM2 coding sequence in which nucleotides 876-2211 were replaced with a 1.3 kb BsaI fragment encoding HIS3. pMD240 allows expression of genes from the MCM6 promoter in yeast. Nucleotides 120907 to 122297 of S. cerevisiae chromosome VII were amplified using the primers 5'-5'd(TATATCTGCAGCAACAAGCCTAATTC)-3' and d(ATAATCTAGACATATGAAAAAAACCAGTTTTAACCT). The resulting 1.4 kbp PCR fragment was digested with PstI and XbaI and inserted into the same sites of YCplac111. The 2.8 kbp NdeI-BamHI fragment from each of pET11a-MCM2, pET24a $mcm2_{K549R}$ and pET24a- $mcm2_{K549A}$ was inserted into the same sites of pMD240 to yield pMD269, pMD270 and pMD271, respectively.

 $mcm5_{K422A}$ was generated from pET16b- $MCM5^{13}$ using the mutagenic primer 5'd(GATCCAGGTACCGCCGCTAGCCAACTATTGAAATTTGTG)-3' and a second primer 5'd(GCATATAAGGCCTTATCCAGTG)-3'. The resulting 1 kb fragment was digested with KpnI and StuI and then inserted into the same sites of pET16b-MCM5 to yield pET16b- $mcm5_{K422A}$. The mutation was confirmed by sequencing the MCM5 ORF across the amplified region.

2.2.3 Yeast strains

MCM2 was disrupted in yeast using two-step gene replacement¹⁶. pMD279 was linearized by digestion with EcoNI and transformed into BY4743 (*MATa*/ α *his3* Δ 1/*his3* Δ 1 *leu2* Δ 0/*leu2* Δ 0 *lys2* Δ 0/*LYS2 MET15/met15* Δ 0 *ura3* Δ 0/*ura3* Δ 0; ref. 17). Ura+ colonies were grown on YPD and then on synthetic minimal media containing 5-FOA to select cells that had lost *URA3*. Colonies that grew on 5-FOA were plated on media lacking histidine, resulting in YMD33. Disruption in one of the *MCM2* loci was confirmed by PCR. After transforming YMD33 with pMD269, the strain was sporulated, tetrads dissected and Leu+, His+ spores selected, yielding YMD46. To carry out plasmid shuffling¹⁸, the *LEU2* marker on pMD269 in YMD46 was switched to *URA3* by transforming YMD46 with the XhoI-HpaI fragment of pLU12 ¹⁹ generating YMD54.

2.2.4 Mcm2 purification

Mcm2 proteins were purified as described¹³ with an appended step to remove a nuclease contaminant. Mcm2-containing fractions from the MonoQ step were pooled (approximately 3 ml, 2.7 mg/ml) and dialyzed overnight against Buffer H (20 mM

HEPES-NaOH pH 7.5, 0.1 mM EDTA, 2 mM DTT, and 10 % (v/v) glycerol). The dialysate was applied to a 10 ml ssDNA-Sepharose column²⁰, washed with 100 ml of Buffer H and eluted with a 100 ml, 0-500 mM NaCl gradient.

2.2.5 $Mcm3^{PK}$ and $Mcm4^{PK}$

A Protein Kinase A recognition motif was fused to Mcm4 by inserting the 3.1 kb NdeI-ClaI fragment from pET11a-*MCM4*¹³ into the same sites of pHKEp²¹. Similarly, the 2.9 kb NdeI-BlpI fragment from pET21b-MCM3¹³ was inserted into the same sites of pHKEP²¹. Mcm4^{PK} purified similarly to untagged Mcm4¹³, however a ssDNA-Sepharose chromatography step was inserted between the Heparin agarose and Mono S steps. Pooled fractions from the Heparin agarose column (100 ml, 0.2 mg/ml) were applied to a 20 ml ssDNA Sepharose column equilibrated in Buffer H. The column was washed with 200 ml of Buffer H and eluted with a 200 ml, 0-500 mM NaCl gradient. Mcm4^{PK}-containing fractions were dialyzed against Buffer H and applied to a Mono S 5/50 GL column (GE Healthcare) as described previously¹³.

Mcm3^{PK} was purified similarly to tagged Mcm6¹³, with the following modifications. The Mcm3^{PK}-containing fractions from the Ni-affinity chromatography column were dialyzed against Buffer H and applied to a 15 ml SP Sepharose column (GE Healthcare) equilibrated in Buffer H and eluted with a 0-500 mM NaCl gradient in Buffer H. Mcm3^{PK}-containing fractions were pooled and dialyzed against Buffer A then applied to a MonoQ 10/100 GL column (GE Healthcare) and eluted with an 80 ml, 0-500 mM NaCl gradient. Both Mcm3^{PK} and Mcm4^{PK} reconstituted similarly to untagged Mcm3 and Mcm4 into Mcm4/6/7 and Mcm2-7, respectively. The activity of Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 was

comparable to Mcm4/6/7 in DNA unwinding assays and the activity of Mcm2-7^{3PK} was similar to Mcm2-7 in ATPase assays.

2.2.6 ATP hydrolysis

ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 (mutant and wild type) in the presence and absence of Mcm6 as well as Mcm4/6/7 with and without Mcm2 was assayed using thin layer chromatography. Each 15 μ l reaction contained 1 mM [γ^{32} P]-ATP (20 Ci/mmol; Perkin Elmer Life Sciences), 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 10 mM magnesium acetate and 2 mM DTT as well as 1 µM each of Mcm2 (wild type or mutant) and/or Mcm6 for Mcm2/6 analysis or 200 nM Mcm4/6/7 and/or 400 nM Mcm2 for Mcm4/6/7 analysis. At the indicated times, $2 \mu l$ of each reaction in the Mcm2/6 analysis was removed and quenched with 2 µl of 50 mM EDTA, pH 8. Mcm4/6/7 analyses were performed over 90 minutes, with 30-minute intervals. One µl was spotted onto polyethyleneimine cellulose thin layer chromatography sheets (EM Science), which were developed in 0.6 M potassium phosphate pH 3.4 for 10 min. The dried TLC sheets were exposed to a PhosphorStorage screen before scanning with a Storm 860 scanner (GE Healthcare). The "volume" of the spots corresponding to P_i and ATP were used to determine the extent of hydrolysis. A background volume was subtracted and the molar concentration of P_i produced was determined by: 10^3 x (volume P_i)/(volume P_i + volume ATP). To calculate ATP hydrolysis rates of the Mcm2/6 complexes, the background levels of hydrolysis by the individual subunits were subtracted. For the Mcm4/6/7 + Mcm2 reactions, the background levels of hydrolysis by Mcm2 were subtracted. The rate of ATP hydrolysis was determined by linear regression of plots of time x pmol P_i/pmol protein using Prism 5 software (GraphPad Software). The rates are the mean of three replicate experiments.

2.2.7 DNA unwinding

DNA unwinding measurements were performed with a DNA substrate containing 30 nucleotides of duplex with 60 nucleotides of single stranded DNA on one strand and a 5' the other as described in ref. 6. Primer 2T biotin tag on 5'd(ATGTCCTAGCAAGCCAGAATTCGGCAGCGTC-(T)₆₀)-3' was 5'-end labeled with ³²P and annealed to 1B 5'-biotin-d(GACGCTGCCGAATTCTGGCTTGCTAGGACAT)-3' by boiling 2 min in 10 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.5, 30 mM sodium citrate and 300 mM NaCl and then slow cooling to room temperature. Each reaction (6 µl) contained 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 10 mM magnesium acetate, 100 µM EDTA, 5 mM DTT, 5 mM ATP, 67 nM streptavidin, 1 nM substrate with 100 or 200 nM Mcm4/6/7 (as indicated) and the indicated concentrations of Mcm2 (mutant or wild type) and Mcm3/5 (mutant or wild type). The mixtures were incubated at 37°C for 10 min and then unwinding was stopped by the addition of 1 µl Proteinase K (10 mg/ml) for 2 min at 37°C followed by the addition of 1.5 µl of 20 mM EDTA pH 8.0, 1 % SDS, 0.02 % bromophenol blue, 5 % (v/v) glycerol and 0.02 % xylene cyanol FF. The samples were analyzed by native (TBE) PAGE (8 %) and dried gels were exposed to PhosphorStorage screens before scanning with a Storm 860 scanner (GE Healthcare). The volume of the bands corresponding to ssDNA product and dsDNA substrate as well as a background volume were used to calculate the extent of DNA unwinding after subtracting the background volume: % DNA unwound = volume $ssDNA/(volume ssDNA + volume dsDNA) \times 100$.

2.2.8 Affinity Chromatography

Mcm4/6/7 (600 nM) was incubated on ice for 15 min with or without equimolar Mcm2 or Mcm2_{K549A} in 100 μ l of 5 mM imidazole, 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.9, 5 mM ATP and 100 mM NaCl. Forty μ l of HIS-Select Nickel Affinity resin (50 % slurry in the same buffer; Sigma Aldrich) was added and the mixtures were incubated for a further 10 min. Resin was pelleted by brief centrifugation at 1000 rpm in a table top centrifuge. Approximately 40 % of the input protein bound to the resin. Supernatant was removed and the resin washed 5 times with 100 μ l of 5 mM imidazole, 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.9, 5 mM ATP and 350 mM NaCl and eluted with 20 μ l of SDS loading dye. Ten percent of the load, 8 % of the wash and 40 % of the eluate were analyzed by SDS-PAGE (6 %) stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue R-250. In addition, the eluate was probed with anti-Mcm2 antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, sc6680) using rabbit anti-goat IgG conjugated to horse radish peroxidase (Sigma Aldrich) and chemiluminescence (Pierce) to detect the signal.

2.2.9 Labeling of $Mcm4^{PK}/6/7$ and $Mcm2-7^{3PK}$

Mcm4^{PK} /6/7 (100 pmol) or Mcm2-7^{3PK} (50 pmol) was radiolabeled by incubation with 50 μ Ci [γ^{32} P]-ATP (3000 Ci/mmol; Perkin Elmer Life Sciences), 12.5-25 units of Protein Kinase A catalytic subunit (from bovine heart; Sigma Aldrich), 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0 and 20 mM magnesium acetate for one hour at 21°C. Labeled protein was separated from [γ^{32} P]-ATP using a 5 ml Sephadex G-25 column (GE Healthcare) equilibrated in Buffer A containing 100 mM NaCl and 50 µg/ml BSA. The labeled complexes typically had specific activities of 1-1.5 µCi/pmol complex. Greater than 99 % of unincorporated ³²P-ATP is removed by gel filtration.

2.2.10 DNA Binding

DNA binding assays were performed in 100 µl buffer containing 10 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 10 mM magnesium acetate, 100 µM EDTA and 2 mM DTT as well as 5 mM ATP, ADP or ATPyS, as indicated. When added, each assay contained 10 pmol of Mcm2 or Mcm 2_{K549A} 1 pmol of Mcm $4^{PK}/6/7$, 100 fmol of Mcm $2-7^{3PK}$ and/or Mcm $2_{K549A}-7^{3PK}$. Proteins, buffer and nucleotide were incubated on ice for 10 min before addition of M13mp18 ssDNA (2 pmol (as M13 DNA molecule) in the Mcm4/6/7 assays and the indicated amounts for Mcm2-7 assays in 1.5 μ l) and the mixtures were incubated for 10 min at 37 °C. Two µl of the reaction were removed for liquid scintillation counting (load) and the remainder applied to a 5-ml 4 % plain agarose bead column (Agarose Bead Technologies) equilibrated in Buffer A containing 100 mM NaCl, 10 mM magnesium acetate, and 40 µg/ml BSA. The column was eluted with the same buffer and 8 drop fractions ($\sim 200 \text{ ul}$) collected. Twenty ul of the indicated fractions was analyzed by liquid scintillation counting. The amount (in fmol) of labeled Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 or Mcm2-7^{3PK} in each fraction was determined by: [cpm fraction * (fraction volume/fraction volume counted)]/[(cpm load/fmol in load) * (load volume/load volume counted)]. A representative graph from at least three replicates of each experiment is shown.

2.3 <u>Results</u>

2.3.1 Purification and reconstitution of Mcm subunits and complexes

The Mcm2-7 complex contains six ATP sites encoded by each of the subunits that are important for the function of this complex²². To determine the effects of ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 on its potential function as a regulator, I mutated the invariant lysine residue (K549) of the Mcm2 P-loop, a motif found in many nucleotide binding proteins^{23;}

 24 , to alanine and aginine. Previous studies have indicated that the $mcm2_{K549A}$ allele does not support viability^{25; 26}. Viability of the $mcm2_{K549R}$ mutant has not yet been tested and is discussed further below. Mcm2, Mcm2_{K549A}, Mcm2_{K549R}, Mcm6 and Mcm6_{R708A} were purified as described in Material and Methods and an aliquot of the final purification step of each protein was examined on Coomassie Blue R250-stained SDS gels (Figure 2-1A). The purified proteins did not contain contaminating ATPase, nuclease or helicase activities that would interfere with my assays (Figure 2-2B, Figure 2-5A and data not shown). Mcm complexes were assembled from individual subunits as described previously^{6; 13}. Peak fractions from the final column step of each reconstitution are shown in Figure 2-1B. The components of co-migrating or closely migrating bands within the Mcm complexes were confirmed by Western blotting and/or MALDI mass spectrometry (data not shown). For the wild type Mcm4/6/7 and Mcm2-7 complexes, ATPase and DNA unwinding assays were performed on peak fractions to confirm that the complexes had formed (data not shown). Note that the addition of 100 mM sodium glutamate to the assays containing Mcm2-7 was required to detect DNA unwinding, consistent with a previous study²⁷.



Figure 2-1 Coomassie Blue R250 stained SDS polyacrylamide (6%) gels of the Mcm mutant proteins and complexes. The migration of size standards and individual Mcm proteins are on the left and right of each panel, respectively. Shown in (A) are Mcm2, $Mcm2_{K549A}$, $Mcm2_{K549R}$, Mcm6 and $Mcm6_{R708A}$. B. Mcm complexes used in this study are shown.

2.3.2 Mutation of the Mcm2/6 interface disrupts ATP hydrolysis

ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 is dependent on Mcm6^{13; 25}. The ATP site of Mcm2/6 is at the interface of the two proteins, with a conserved arginine residue from Mcm6 contributing to hydrolysis of ATP bound to Mcm2 (Figure 2-2A; ref. 13). Mcm2_{K549A}, Mcm2_{K549R} and wild type Mcm2 were purified identically from *Escherichia coli* expression strains and ATP hydrolysis assayed. Neither Mcm2 nor Mcm6 alone hydrolyzed ATP at rates that were significantly above background levels seen in the absence of protein ($\leq 0.5 \pm 0.1 \text{ min}^{-1}$; Figure 2-2B). However, when Mcm2 and Mcm6 were combined, ATP hydrolysis roughly 10-fold above levels with individual proteins was detected $(4.9 \pm 0.2 \text{ min}^{-1})$; Figure 2-2B and C). These results confirmed that ATPase activity requires both Mcm2 and Mcm6 and verified there were no contaminating ATPases in the individual preparations. Substitution of Mcm2_{K549A} for wild type Mcm2 had a severe effect on ATP hydrolysis, with a rate near background levels $(0.3 \pm 0.1 \text{ min})$ ¹). Also consistent with the proposed arrangement in Figure 2-2A, mutation of the conserved catalytic arginine in Mcm6 to an alanine (Mcm 6_{R708A}) had the same effect on ATP hydrolysis as the Mcm 2_{K549A} mutant. Mcm 6_{R708A} in combination with Mcm2hydrolyzed ATP with a rate near background levels $(0.3 \pm 0.1 \text{ min}^{-1})$; Figure 2-2B and C). A more conservative substitution of lysine 549 of Mcm2 to an arginine (Mcm 2_{K549R}) had a less drastic effect on ATP hydrolysis, reducing the rate to ~18 % of the activity with wild type Mcm2 ($0.9 \pm 0.0 \text{ min}^{-1}$; Figure 2-2B and C). My Mcm2/6 ATPase analyses indicate that both the conserved lysine 549 of Mcm2 and arginine 708 of Mcm6 are required for ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2/6. The reduced hydrolysis observed with each of the mutants may be due to a direct effect on the hydrolysis of the ATP and/or due to reduced ATP binding. I detected interactions between Mcm2 and Mcm6 with each of the mutant proteins, indicating that the lack of ATPase activity is not due to lack of proteinprotein interaction. Mcm2-Mcm6 interaction was examined to determine whether the deficiencies in ATPase activity observed with the Mcm2 and Mcm6 mutants could be explained by a failure of the mutant proteins to interact. I took advantage of a 10 X histidine tag on the N-terminus of Mcm6 that allows Mcm6 to bind to nickel (Ni) affinity resin. In contrast, Mcm2 does not bind to resin (Figure 2-2D). However, when Mcm6 is present, Mcm2 is retained on the resin (Figure 2-2D and E). Consistent with a previous study²⁸, a substoichiometric amount of Mcm2 co-purifies with Mcm6 via affinity chromatography. When Mcm2_{K549A}, Mcm2_{K549R} or Mcm6_{R708A} were substituted in place of their wild type counterparts, interaction between Mcm2 and Mcm6 was still observed (Figure 2-2D and E). This experiment indicates that interaction between Mcm2 and Mcm6 is not disrupted by the mutations and that the change in activity observed with these mutations is not due to disruption of protein-protein interactions.



9 10 11

1 2

kDa

Figure 2-2 Mutations at the Mcm2/6 interface reduce ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2/6. A. Schematic of the Mcm2/6 ATPase site, located at the subunit interface, is shown. The Ploop of Mcm2, which includes the invariant lysine residue (549), is indicated. "SRF" represents conserved residues in Mcm6 likely required for ATP hydrolysis by $Mcm2^{13}$. **B.** ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 ("2WT" filled square), Mcm2_{K549A} ("2KA" filled triangle), Mcm2_{K549R} ("2KR" filled circle), Mcm6 ("6WT" filled diamond), Mcm6_{R708A} ("6RA" empty triangle), Mcm2 + Mcm6 ("2WT/6WT" empty square), Mcm2_{K549A} + Mcm6 ("2KA/6WT" empty circle) Mcm2K549R + Mcm6 ("2KR/6WT" X) and Mcm2 + Mcm6_{R708A} ("2WT/6RA" empty diamond) was measured. Reactions were quenched at 30, 60 and 90 min and μ M P_i produced at each time point was determined. The reactions were performed in triplicate and the mean and standard deviation of each time point is plotted. The standard deviation bars are often eclipsed by the symbols. Addition of single stranded DNA did not affect ATP hydrolysis (data not shown) as previously observed¹³; ²⁵. **C.** The rates less the background hydrolysis of the individual proteins from part (B) are shown with the standard deviation. D-E. Mcm2 and Mcm6 interaction was assayed using Ni affinity chromatography and the His-tag on Mcm6. **D.** Coomassie-stained gels of the load ("L") final wash ("W") and elution ("E") from each experiment. Lanes 1-3 contain wild type Mcm2 and Mcm6; lanes 4-6, Mcm2_{K549R} (2KR) with wild type Mcm6; lanes 7-9, Mcm 2_{K549A} with wild type Mcm6; lanes 10-12 wild type Mcm2 with Mcm 6_{R708A} ; lanes 13-15 Mcm2 only; lanes 16-18, Mcm2_{K549R} only; lanes 19-21, Mcm2_{K549A} only; lanes 22-24, Mcm6 only; and lanes 25-27, Mcm6_{R708A} only. The migration of molecular size markers through the gel is on the left and the migration of Mcm2 and Mcm6 on the right. **E.** Western blot of the elutions from the experiment in (A) using anti-Mcm2 antibody.

2.2.3 Mcm_{K549A} interacts with $Mcm_{4/6/7}$

Previous studies in *S. pombe* and mammalian systems have demonstrated that Mcm2 forms a complex with Mcm4/6/7 in the absence of ATP^{1; 2; 3}. To determine whether Mcm2_{K549A} is altered in its interaction with Mcm4/6/7, I examined Mcm2's interaction with Mcm4/6/7 by taking advantage of a histidine-tag on the N-terminus of Mcm6¹³ that allows Mcm4/6/7 to bind nickel (Ni) affinity resin (Figure 2-3A, lane 3). Mcm2 only binds Ni resin if it is bound to Mcm4/6/7 (Figure 2-3A, lanes 6 and 9, Figure 2-3B, lanes 3 and 5). Equimolar ratios of Mcm2 (monomer) and Mcm4/6/7 (hexamer) with 5 mM ATP were used in these assays. When the binding experiment was repeated with Mcm2_{K549A}, a comparable level of interaction between Mcm2_{K549A} and Mcm4/6/7 was detected (Figure 2-3A, lane 12 and Figure 2-3B, lane 6). The ability of Mcm2_{K549A} to

interact with Mcm4/6/7 was confirmed by co-elution of $Mcm2_{K549A}$ with Mcm4/6/7 through gel filtration columns in the presence and absence of ATP (Figure 2-3C through G). If Mcm2 interacts with Mcm4/6/7 then one would expect Mcm2 to elute from the gel filtration column earlier in the presence of Mcm4/6/7 than in its absence. In the absence of Mcm4/6/7, Mcm2 eluted in fractions 20 to 42 (Figure 2-3C). The Mcm2 peak was broad, diluting the protein below levels easily detectable by Coomassie stain and therefore Western blotting was used to detect Mcm2 in experiments with Mcm2 alone. A control experiment with Mcm_{K549A} alone indicated that it eluted similarly to wild type Mcm2, except that there was a slight tendency to aggregate, as indicated by the small proportion of Mcm_{K549A} in the void and very early fractions (Figure 2-3D). There was no discernible change to the elution profile of Mcm4/6/7 when Mcm2 was added (compare Figure 2-3E and F). However, the elution profile of Mcm2 was altered dramatically. The Mcm2 peak was more defined and it eluted earlier from the gel filtration column (fraction 14), co-eluting with Mcm4/6/7 as detected on Coomassie-stained gels (Figure 2-3F) and by Western blotting with anti-Mcm2 antibody (data not shown). The elution of Mcm_{K549A} was also shifted in the presence of $Mcm_{4/6/7}$ (Figure 2-3G), similar to wild type Mcm2 with Mcm4/6/7. Interaction of Mcm2 with Mcm4/6/7 was also detected in the absence of nucleotide (data not shown). Densitometric analysis of the gel filtration fractions indicates that the ratio of Mcm2 to Mcm4, 6, or 7 is 1:1, even when excess Mcm2 was used (data not shown). Furthermore, the ratio of Mcm2 to Mcm4/6/7 was identical with Mcm_{K549A} . These observations confirmed that Mcm_{K549A} interacts with Mcm4/6/7 and does so under helicase assay conditions. The resolution of the gel filtration column in the size range of Mcm4/6/7 hexamers and Mcm2/4/6/7 tetramers (414-630 kDa) is limited and the elution profile of Mcm4/6/7 with or without Mcm2 is relatively broad, thus I made no conclusions about the size of the Mcm complexes from these experiments. More importantly, I was able to conclude that there was little or no difference in the elution profile of Mcm4/6/7 with wild type or mutant Mcm2 over a range of protein concentrations (for example, up to 8-fold excess Mcm2; data not shown).



Figure 2-3 Interaction of Mcm2 with Mcm4/6/7. A. Affinity chromatography-based assay for Mcm4/6/7 interaction with Mcm2. Mcm4/6/7 and/or Mcm2 (mutant or wild type) were mixed and then bound to nickel resin. The resin was washed and then eluted with SDS loading dye. Ten percent of the load ("L"), 8 % of the wash ("W") and 40 % of the elution ("E") for each experiment are shown. Mcm2 flows through the column when analyzed alone (not shown). The Mcm4/6/7 alone experiment (lanes 1-3) was analyzed on a separate gel. B. Western blot analysis of the elutions from (A). Anti-Mcm2 antibody was used to confirm the presence or absence of Mcm2 (wild type or mutant) in the elutions of the experiments in (A). Lanes 1 and 2 are controls with known amounts of Mcm2, lanes 3 through 6 are the elutions of the affinity resin experiments. The input protein(s) are shown above the lane. The migrations of size markers through the gel are shown on the left. C-G. Gel filtration analysis of Mcm2 interaction with Mcm4/6/7 was performed at 4°C in Buffer A containing 100 mM NaCl, 10 mM magnesium acetate and 5 mM ATP using a 2.4 ml Superose 6 PC 3.2/30 column (GE Healthcare). Fifty µl of 1.2 µM Mcm4/6/7 and/or 1.2 µM Mcm2 (mutant or wild type) were incubated on ice for 15 min in gel filtration buffer before centrifugation at 4°C at 13,000 rpm for 10 min. The supernatant was applied to the gel filtration column and a void volume (0.8 ml) followed by 50 µl fractions were collected. Proteins were detected either by Western blotting using anti-Mcm2 antibody (C and D) or by Coomassie-staining of SDS polyacrylamide gels (E, F and G). A minor contaminant migrates between Mcm6 and Mcm2 through the gel in the load, but is not detected in the purified fractions. The fraction numbers are indicated above the gels as well as the load (L) and the void (V). The elution positions of size standards (thyroglobulin, 670 kDa; apoferritin, 443 kDa; bovine gamma globulin, 158 kDa; ovalbumin, 44 kDa; and myoglobin, 17 kDa) are indicated above the fractions.

2.2.4 Mcm2_{K549A} reduces ATP hydrolysis by Mcm4/6/7

A study with *S. pombe* proteins has shown that Mcm2 almost completely inhibits ATP hydrolysis by Mcm4/6/7¹. When I tested the effects of Mcm2 on ATP hydrolysis by *S. cerevisiae* Mcm4/6/7, addition of Mcm2 decreased ATP hydrolysis to 68% of the activity of Mcm4/6/7 in the absence of Mcm2 (40.6 ± 6.0 min⁻¹ without Mcm2 and 27.8 ± 5.5 min⁻¹ with Mcm2; Figure 2-4). Increasing the molar ratio of Mcm2 to Mcm4/6/7 did not increase the inhibition (data not shown). To examine whether ATP hydrolysis contributed by Mcm2 masks any reduction of Mcm4/6/7 activity, I used the mutant version of Mcm2. In the presence of Mcm2_{K549A}, ATP hydrolysis by Mcm4/6/7 was reduced to $11.5 \pm 5.1 \text{ min}^{-1}$ (Figure 2-4). These results suggest that Mcm2 reduces ATP

hydrolysis by Mcm4/6/7, even in the absence of ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2. Furthermore, the inhibition of Mcm4/6/7 by $Mcm2_{K549A}$ confirms the ability of the mutant to interact with Mcm4/6/7.



Figure 2-4 Effect of Mcm2 on ATP hydrolysis by Mcm4/6/7. ATP hydrolysis was measured with Mcm4/6/7 in the presence and absence of Mcm2 or Mcm2_{K549A} as described in "Materials and Methods". Three separate experiments were performed and the rates of hydrolysis were determined, less background hydrolysis by Mcm2 or Mcm2_{K549A} and plotted with the standard error of the mean. Addition of ssDNA did not affect activity (data not shown).

2.2.5 Inhibition of DNA unwinding by Mcm4/6/7 requires ATP binding and/or

hydrolysis by Mcm2

Mcm2 inhibits DNA unwinding by purified Mcm4/6/7 complexes from a variety of eukaryotic systems^{1; 2; 6; 29; 30}. Current models suggest a passive mechanism of inhibition, simply requiring interaction of Mcm2 and Mcm4/6/7^{1; 2}. In contrast, active regulation of Mcm4/6/7 DNA unwinding would require the essential ATP site of Mcm2. I examined regulation of DNA unwinding by Mcm4/6/7 using oligonucleotide substrates established previously⁶. DNA unwinding is detected as the appearance of single stranded DNA (ssDNA) product accompanied by the loss of double stranded DNA (dsDNA) substrate on native polyacrylamide gels (Figure 2-5A). To examine whether mutation of the essential Mcm2 ATP site affected its ability to modulate Mcm4/6/7 helicase activity, wild type Mcm2 (lanes 4-6) or Mcm2_{K549A} (lanes 7-9) was titrated into a constant concentration of Mcm4/6/7. The percent DNA unwound was calculated as the proportion of total DNA that migrates as ssDNA on the gel. DNA unwinding was inhibited at all concentrations of Mcm2 assayed, reaching a maximum at equimolar ratios of Mcm2 monomer to Mcm4/6/7 hexamer (Figure 2-5B; circles). In contrast, Mcm2_{K549A} was unable to inhibit DNA unwinding by Mcm4/6/7 (Figure 2-5B; squares). Neither wild type Mcm2 nor Mcm2_{K549A} contained contaminating helicase or nuclease activities that would interfere with these results (Figure 2-5A; lanes 10 and 11). I concluded that ATP binding or hydrolysis by Mcm2 is required for regulation of DNA unwinding by Mcm4/6/7. Furthermore, these results indicate that Mcm2_{K549A} is a valuable tool to evaluate models of the mechanism by which Mcm2 inhibits helicase activity.



Figure 2-5 Mcm4/6/7 DNA unwinding inhibition by wild type and mutant Mcm2. A. DNA unwinding in the presence of mutant and wild type Mcm2 was examined. The indicated concentrations of wild type Mcm2 ("2WT") or Mcm_{K549A} ("2KA") were mixed with 200 nM Mcm4/6/7 and assayed for DNA unwinding. **B.** The percentage of DNA unwinding was calculated from four replicates and the amount of ssDNA produced from total DNA.

2.2.6 DNA binding by Mcm4/6/7

Mcm2 may inhibit the helicase activity of Mcm4/6/7 by interfering with DNA binding by Mcm4/6/7^{7; 29; 31}, a necessary prelude to DNA unwinding. Before examining whether Mcm2_{K549A} inhibits single stranded DNA (ssDNA) binding by Mcm4/6/7, I first established a ssDNA-binding assay. I used a gel filtration based approach to examine binding of Mcm4/6/7 to circular DNA similar to assays previously used to examine DNA binding by the *E. coli* replicative helicase, DnaB³². One advantage of this assay is that it utilizes circular DNA and thus helicases cannot translocate off the ends, as may occur on linear DNA. I used a gel filtration column in which DNA and any bound protein elute at a

relatively small volume, while free protein elutes later. I radiolabeled Mcm4/6/7 by engineering a Protein Kinase A (PKA) target site on the N-terminus of Mcm4. The protein, Mcm4^{PK} was purified, reconstituted into a complex with Mcm6 and Mcm7 then radiolabeled to high specific activity using $[\gamma^{32}P]$ -ATP and PKA. When Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 was applied to the gel filtration column in the absence of ssDNA, the majority of the protein eluted in fractions 19-29 (Figure 2-6A; triangles). Mixing Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 and M13mp18 ssDNA followed by gel filtration resulted in most Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 co-eluting with DNA in earlier fractions (10-15), indicating that DNA binding by Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 had occurred (Figure 2-6A; squares). The elution profile of ssDNA through the gel filtration column was confirmed by agarose gel electrophoresis in a separate experiment and the presence of the Mcm6 and Mcm7 subunits in the ssDNA-containing fractions was verified by Western blotting of sample experiments (data not shown). I also examined whether $Mcm4^{PK}/6/7$ binds to circular dsDNA, using a 7.3 kb double stranded plasmid in place of M13mp18 and observed that Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 does not bind dsDNA to the same extent as ssDNA (Figure 2-6A; circles), consistent with a previous study⁵.

The experiments described above were performed in the presence of 5 mM ATP. When ATP was omitted from the DNA binding assays, very little binding of Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 to ssDNA was detected (Figure 2-6A; circles). I also examined the effects of ADP and the slowly hydrolyzed analogue, ATP γ S on DNA binding by Mcm4^{PK}/6/7. When ADP was provided to Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 in place of ATP, binding was observed, but was slightly reduced to 80 ± 10 % of Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 bound in the presence of ATP (Figure 2-6C; circles). In contrast, there was no decrease in ssDNA binding by Mcm4/6/7 when ATP γ S was provided in place of ATP (Figure 2-6D; circles). Very little Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 was observed in

the early fractions in the absence of ssDNA with any of the nucleotides (Figure 2-6A and data not shown). In summary, I have shown that Mcm4/6/7 binds to ssDNA circles in a nucleotide-dependent manner and that DNA binding with ATP and ATP γ S is slightly greater than with ADP.



Figure 2-6 Binding of Mcm4/6/7 to single stranded DNA. DNA binding was measured in a gel filtration based assay as described in "Materials and Methods". Plots indicate the amount of Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 in each fraction as determined by scintillation counting of ³²Plabeled Mcm4^{PK}. **A.** Binding of Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 to ssDNA (square) and dsDNA (circle) in the presence of ATP is shown. Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 in the presence of ATP but in the absence of DNA is also indicated (triangle). **B.** Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 binding to ssDNA in the presence (square) and absence (circle) of 5 mM ATP. **C.** Comparison of Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 binding to ssDNA with ATP (square) or ADP (circle), and (**D**) with ATP (square) or ATP γ S (circle). Note that Mcm4/6/7 binding to ssDNA was examined using a range of protein and DNA concentrations and representative assays are shown with the purpose of demonstrating the effect of Mcm2 on Mcm4/6/7 interaction with ssDNA (as described below). Relative binding of Mcm4/6/7 to ssDNA with ATP, ADP and ATP γ S was similar under all conditions tested.

2.2.7 Mcm2 requires ATP hydrolysis to inhibit ssDNA binding by Mcm4/6/7

In the presence of ATP, Mcm2 reduced ssDNA binding of Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 to 65 ± 8 % the level seen when Mcm2 is absent (Figure 2-7A; circles). I also examined the effects of ADP and ATPyS on the ability of Mcm2 to inhibit ssDNA binding by Mcm4/6/7. In the presence of the poorly hydrolyzed ATP analogue, ATPyS Mcm2 did not inhibit DNA binding of Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 (Figure 2-7B; circles). This suggests that ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 is required for inhibition of Mcm4/6/7. ATPyS is likely bound by Mcm2 since it inhibits ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2/6 (data not shown). In contrast, ADP supported Mcm2mediated inhibition to the same extent as was observed with ATP (reduction to $65 \pm 9\%$ of the amount of Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 bound to ssDNA when Mcm2 is absent; Figure 2-7C, circles). Thus, it appears that the ADP-bound state of Mcm2 is required to inhibit Mcm4/6/7 binding to ssDNA. When ATPyS is provided, inhibition may not occur since it cannot be hydrolyzed to ADP. An alternative explanation is that the different nucleotides exert their effects on Mcm4/6/7 by changing its susceptibility to Mcm2. To differentiate between these scenarios, I returned to the Mcm2 mutant and examined its ability to regulate ssDNA binding by Mcm4/6/7. Mcm2_{K549A} did not inhibit DNA binding of Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 in the presence of ATP (Figure 2-7A; triangles). This observation suggests that ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 is required for inhibition. However, the same result would occur if Mcm_{K549A} were defective in nucleotide binding. To test this possibility I examined the ability of Mcm 2_{K549A} to inhibit DNA binding by Mcm $4^{PK}/6/7$ in the presence of ADP. Recall that ADP supports inhibition by wild type Mcm2. $Mcm2_{K549A}$ inhibited Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 binding to ssDNA to 69 ± 6 % the level seen in the absence of Mcm2 (Figure 2-7C; triangles), which is approximately the same extent as seen with wild

type Mcm2 (compare circles to triangles in Figure 2-7C), therefore Mcm 2_{K549A} is not defective in nucleotide binding. Thus, I conclude that ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 is required for it to inhibit DNA binding and unwinding by Mcm4/6/7.

I tested whether Mcm2 associates with DNA-bound Mcm4/6/7 by performing quantitative Western blot analysis on the fractions from DNA binding experiments with Mcm4/6/7 and mutant or wild type Mcm2. Mcm2 co-eluted with M13 and Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 in amounts proportional to the amount of Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 (Figure 2-7D). These results emphasize that interaction of Mcm2 with Mcm4/6/7 is not sufficient for inhibition of DNA binding by Mcm4/6/7. Mcm2 may affect Mcm4/6/7 binding to ssDNA by removing bound Mcm4/6/7 from ssDNA. To test this idea, I bound Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 to ssDNA and isolated the complex from free protein using gel filtration. Equal portions of the peak fraction were incubated either with Mcm2 or with buffer and the mixtures were then subjected to a second gel filtration column. Regardless of whether Mcm2 was present, Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 was retained on the DNA after the second gel filtration column, suggesting that Mcm2 cannot remove Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 from DNA once it is bound (Figure 2-7E). Since the amount of protein and DNA that is applied to the second gel filtration column differs from our "standard" conditions, I confirmed that Mcm2 is able to inhibit DNA binding by $Mcm4^{PK}/6/7$ using the same amounts of protein and DNA as were applied to the second gel filtration column (Figure 2-7F). Thus, I concluded that Mcm2 is unable to remove Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 already bound to ssDNA. This finding suggests that Mcm2 inhibition of Mcm4/6/7 ssDNA binding occurs before or during formation of a Mcm4/6/7-ssDNA complex.



Figure 2-7 Mcm2 inhibits single stranded DNA binding by Mcm4/6/7. DNA binding was measured in a gel filtration based assay. Plots indicate the amount of Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 in each fraction. A. Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 binding to ssDNA absence (square) of and in the presence of wild type (circle) or mutant (triangle) Mcm2 with 5 mM ATP. **B & C.** Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 binding to ssDNA in the presence (circle) and absence (square) of 10 pmol Mcm2 with (B) 5 mM ATP γ S and (C) Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 binding to ssDNA absence (square) of and in the presence of wild type (circle) or mutant (triangle) Mcm2 with 5 mM ADP. D. Quantitative Western blot analysis of Mcm2 (mutant or wild type) in DNA binding experiments with 5 mM ATP. The amount of Mcm2 determined from the blots as well as the amount of Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 determined by scintillation counting in the peak fraction (fr 11) from the experiments in d and e are shown. The amount of Mcm2 that binds to M13 in the absence of Mcm4/6/7 was subtracted. DNA binding was measured in a gel filtration based assay. Plots indicate the amount of Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 in each fraction. E. Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 (4 pmol) was incubated with ssDNA (8 pmol) and applied to a gel filtration column. The peak fraction was determined and reactions containing Mcm4^{PK}/6/7-DNA complex were split in equal parts. A ~30-fold molar excess of Mcm2 (circle) was added to one half and an equal volume of buffer to the other (square) and binding to ssDNA was redetermined by gel filtration. F. As a control, the same amount of Mcm4^{PK}/6/7 and ssDNA (275 fmol of each) used in (E) was incubated in the presence (circle) or absence (square) of a ~30-fold molar excess of Mcm2.

2.2.8 Mcm2_{K549A} alters DNA binding of the Mcm2-7 complex

DNA unwinding in vivo requires all six Mcm2-7 subunits, therefore I tested whether Mcm2 ADP-mediated regulation of DNA binding applied to this complex. I reconstituted both a wild type Mcm2-7 complex and a complex containing the Mcm_{K549A} mutant (Mcm_{K549A} -7) and compared their activities. Given that Mcm_{2} inhibits Mcm4/6/7 DNA binding, but Mcm2 K549A does not (which can also be stated as $Mcm_{K549A}/4/6/7$ has a higher affinity for DNA than $Mcm_{2/4}/6/7$), I anticipated that Mcm_{K549A} -7 would have enhanced DNA binding compared to wild type Mcm2-7. The Mcm2-7 complexes were formed with a PKA target sequence on the Mcm3 subunit. The PKA tag did not affect activity of the complex and allowed labeling to high specific activity with ³²P (data not shown). I assayed for DNA binding by Mcm2-7^{3PK} and Mcm2_{K549A}-7^{3PK} using gel filtration. Both Mcm2-7^{3PK} and Mcm2_{K549A}-7^{3PK} require nucleotide to bind ssDNA and do not bind dsDNA (Figure 2-8A through E; data not shown). I next tested the relative affinities of Mcm2-7^{3PK} and Mcm2_{K549A}-7^{3PK} for ssDNA binding in the presence of ATP by decreasing the amount of DNA in the assay with a constant concentration of Mcm2-7. Decreasing the ssDNA concentration from 100 fmol to 50 fmol resulted in an 8-fold reduction in DNA binding by Mcm2-7^{3PK} (Figure 2-8C through F). In contrast, Mcm_{K549A}^{2} -7^{3PK} bound DNA robustly at all concentrations of DNA tested, including at a level of DNA that Mcm2-7^{3PK} bound very poorly (50 fmol; Figure 2-8E and F). Consistent with my DNA binding studies of Mcm4/6/7, mutation of the ATP site in Mcm2 enhances DNA binding of Mcm complexes.



Figure 2-8 DNA binding by Mcm2_{K549A}-7 is enhanced compared to Mcm2-7. Mcm2- 7^{3PK} and Mcm2_{K549A}- 7^{3PK} were reconstituted from pure subunits. A & B. DNA binding of Mcm2-7 complexes was measured using gel filtration as described in "Materials and Methods." Binding of Mcm2- 7^{3PK} (A) and Mcm2_{K549A}- 7^{3PK} (B) in the absence of nucleotide was measured in the presence (square) and absence (circle) of ssDNA. C-E. DNA binding by Mcm2- 7^{3PK} (square) or Mcm2_{K549A}-7 (circle) was measured with either 100 fmol (part C), 75 fmol (part D) or 50 fmol (part E) of ssDNA in the presence of ATP. F. The amount of DNA binding by Mcm2- 7^{3PK} found in the peak fractions (fractions 10 through 15). The amount of Mcm2- 7^{3PK} in the peak fractions for three replicates each at DNA concentrations of 50 fmol, 75 fmol and 100 fmol, less the amount of protein found in the early fractions in the absence of ssDNA, were quantified and plotted.

2.2.9 An Mcm2 mutant with minimal ATP hydrolysis regulates Mcm4/6/7 and supports viability

The observation that ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 regulates DNA binding by Mcm2-7 raises the possibility that ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 has a regulatory role and not a direct role in catalysis of DNA unwinding by Mcm2-7. Support for this idea comes from the observation that Mcm_{K549A} does not hydrolyze ATP yet is able to support DNA unwinding by Mcm2-7, albeit at a lower level than wild type Mcm2-7²⁷. If ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 is regulatory, then one might expect that an intermediate level of hydrolysis would be sufficient to support its activity. To explore this idea, I used the $Mcm2_{K549R}$ mutant which had a less drastic effect on ATP hydrolysis than $Mcm2_{K549A}$ when mixed with Mcm6 (Figure 2-2B & C). I examined whether the mutations in Mcm2 affect viability of cells on rich media. I compared the growth of S. cerevisiae when plasmids bearing MCM2, mcm_{2K549R} or mcm_{2K549A} were present as the sole copy of MCM2 after shuffling out a wild type copy of MCM2 present on a URA3 plasmid. Strains containing wild type MCM2 or $mcm2_{K549R}$ were able to grow on plates containing 5-FOA, which selects for loss of the URA3-containing plasmid bearing MCM2 (Figure 2-9A). As observed previously^{25; 26}, $mcm2_{K549A}$ was unable to support growth. The lower level of ATP hydrolysis observed with $Mcm2_{K549R}$ was sufficient for viability at all temperatures tested (Figure 2-9A) and is consistent with the ability of this mutant to modulate Mcm4/6/7 DNA unwinding to the same extent as wild type Mcm2 (Figure 2-9B). These data suggest that ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 is essential for its regulatory function, but only a minimal amount of ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 is required for this role.



Figure 2-9 Minimal ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 supports yeast cell viability and Mcm2. A. Viability of wild type MCM2 (2WT), $mcm2_{K549R}$ (2KR) and $mcm2_{K549A}$ (2KA) were determined by plasmid shuffling on media containing 5-FOA. "V" indicates a vector control with no MCM2 insert. Growth of shuffled strains containing MCM2 (WT) or $mcm2_{K549R}$ (KR) at 16°C, 30°C and 35°C is shown on the right. B. DNA unwinding in the presence of mutant and wild type Mcm2 was examined. Wild type Mcm2, Mcm2_{K549R} or Mcm2_{K549A} were mixed with equimolar (200 nM) Mcm4/6/7 and assayed for DNA unwinding. Shown is a representative PhosphorImager scan. Lanes 1 and 2 are dsDNA substrate and ssDNA product, respectively and their migrations through the gel are shown on the right. The substrate includes a 5' biotin on the top strand, as indicated by the black sphere. The proteins added to each assay are indicated at the top of the gel and the lane numbers are shown underneath.

2.2.10 Mcm3/5 does not restore the activity of Mcm 2_{K549A}

DNA unwinding by Mcm4/6/7 is also inhibited by Mcm3/5 in *S. pombe*¹ and humans⁷. In these cases, Mcm2 and Mcm3/5 appear to function independently¹. To address this question with the *S. cerevisiae* proteins, I examined the ability of Mcm3/5 to inhibit DNA unwinding by Mcm4/6/7 in the presence and absence of wild type and mutant Mcm2. I found that Mcm3/5 inhibits DNA unwinding by Mcm4/6/7, but not to the same extent as the equivalent molar concentration of Mcm2 (assuming a Mcm3/5 dimer and a Mcm2 monomer; Figure 2-10A, compare lanes 4 and 6). When both Mcm2 and Mcm3/5 were added to Mcm4/6/7, DNA unwinding was inhibited further (Figure 2-10A, lane 7). However, when Mcm2_{K549A} and Mcm3/5 were added to Mcm4/6/7, the extent of Mcm4/6/7 inhibition was the same as observed for Mcm3/5 on its own (Figure 2-10A, lane 8). These results indicate that Mcm3/5 is unable to compensate for the defect in Mcm2_{K549A} and that Mcm3/5 functions independently of Mcm2 to modulate Mcm4/6/7 activity.



Figure 2-10 Inhibition of Mcm4/6/7 by Mcm3/5. A. Mcm2 and/or Mcm3/5 inhibition of DNA unwinding by Mcm4/6/7 was analyzed. Mcm2, Mcm3/5 and Mcm2_{K549A} (100 nM) were mixed as indicated with 100 nM Mcm4/6/7 and DNA unwinding was assayed. The migrations of dsDNA substrate and ssDNA product are indicated to the right of the gel. **B.** DNA unwinding by Mcm4/6/7 was examined in the presence or absence of increasing amounts of Mcm3/5 (filled circle), Mcm3_{K415A}/5 (empty circle) or Mcm3/5_{K422A} (square). The means of three experiments are plotted.

2.2.11 P-loop mutations do not affect inhibition by Mcm3/5

I utilized P-loop mutations in Mcm3 and Mcm5 to determine whether the ATP sites of these proteins are important for their ability to inhibit Mcm4/6/7. Mcm3_{K415A}/5 and Mcm3/5_{K422A} were titrated into DNA unwinding assays containing Mcm4/6/7 (Figure 2-10B). Both Mcm3/5_{K422A} and Mcm3_{K415A}/5 inhibit DNA unwinding by Mcm4/6/7 to the same extent as wild type Mcm3/5. This result suggests that ATP binding or hydrolysis is not important for the regulation of Mcm4/6/7 by Mcm3/5. It should be noted that the lysine to alanine mutations in Mcm3 and Mcm5 used here are inviable in yeast²⁵. These

results also suggest that the ADP-mediated inhibition of Mcm4/6/7 is unique to the Mcm2 subunit.

2.3 Discussions

By examining the effects of Mcm2 on the activities of Mcm4/6/7, I have shown that Mcm2 has an essential role in regulating DNA binding by Mcm complexes and that a minimal level of ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 is required for this activity. Specifically, Mcm2 inhibition of ssDNA binding by Mcm4/6/7 occurs in the presence of ATP and ADP but not with ATP γ S. Inhibition with a Mcm2 mutant unable to hydrolyze ATP occurs in the presence of ADP and not ATP. Since the mutant (Mcm2_{K549A}) interacts with Mcm4/6/7 but does not inhibit Mcm4/6/7, interaction alone is not sufficient for Mcm2 to exert its effects. Rather, my results imply that Mcm2 communicates its nucleotide binding status to the other subunits. The altered properties of Mcm2_{K549A} were also observed in Mcm2-7, indicating that my findings are relevant to the Mcm complex *in vivo*. Furthermore, the requirement for only a minimal level of ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 suggests that Mcm2 plays a regulatory rather than direct catalytic role in DNA unwinding by Mcm2-7.

2.3.1 ATP sites in Mcm proteins

The ATP sites of Mcm2-7 are located at the interface between subunits, with one subunit binding nucleotide and the other providing a *trans*-acting catalytic residue, the arginine finger^{13; 28}. A study on *S. sulfolobus* MCM has indicated that additional *trans*-acting residues, conserved in eukaryotic Mcm proteins, are important for the function of the helicase³³. Furthermore, structural studies on the viral SF3 helicases, E1 from papillomavirus and large T antigen (Tag) from simian virus 40 (also AAA+ proteins),

illustrate that these *trans*-acting residues undergo conformational changes dependent on the nucleotide bound to the neighboring subunit^{34; 35}. Interestingly, it has been noted that some *trans*-acting residues that contact the phosphates of ATP bound to the neighboring subunit are adjacent to β hairpin structures that interact with ssDNA in the E1 structure and undergo positional changes in response to ATP binding and hydrolysis^{33; 35}. Therefore, binding of nucleotide to one Mcm subunit has the potential to affect the conformation and activity of the adjacent subunit through *trans* interactions of specific residues with the phosphate moieties of the nucleotide. It is therefore reasonable to envision possible mechanisms by which Mcm2 could communicate its nucleotide bound state to Mcm4/6/7 and other subunits of Mcm2-7 to affect ssDNA binding by these complexes.

2.3.2 DNA binding by Mcm4/6/7

In contrast to my findings, Mcm4/6/7 did not bind circular ssDNA in a previous study⁵. This may be due to differences in the point of addition of nucleotide since I have found that incubation of Mcm4/6/7 with nucleotide before DNA interferes with DNA binding⁴. I also note that there are differences in the ability of ADP to support DNA binding by Mcm4/6/7 in the two studies. These are not easily explained, but I note that the type of assay utilized and the preparation of proteins were not identical in the two studies.

2.3.3 Mechanism of Mcm2 inhibition of Mcm4/6/7

Mcm2 was previously thought to inhibit Mcm4/6/7 by disrupting the oligomeric structure of Mcm4/6/7^{1; 2}. Here, I have shown that interaction with Mcm4/6/7 is not sufficient for Mcm2 to exert its effects and thus the model that Mcm2 acts solely by disrupting a Mcm4/6/7 hexamer is not upheld. Indeed, $Mcm2_{K549A}$ interacts with Mcm4/6/7 to the same extent as wild type Mcm2 suggesting that similar-sized complexes are formed with mutant and wild type Mcm2. I have considered the different mechanisms that may account for the ability of Mcm2 to disrupt ssDNA binding by Mcm4/6/7. The simplest explanation is that Mcm2 could compete with Mcm4/6/7 for binding to DNA. However, I detected only very weak ssDNA binding by Mcm2 (consistent with a previous study³⁶) such that only 1/20 ssDNA molecules were bound by Mcm2 under the conditions used in my assays (data not shown). I have also shown that Mcm2 is unable to remove Mcm4/6/7 from DNA once it is bound. Therefore, Mcm2 appears to act before or when Mcm4/6/7-ssDNA complexes are formed whereby interaction of the ADP-bound form of Mcm2 with Mcm4/6/7 results in a conformation of Mcm4/6/7 incapable of binding ssDNA.

The inability of Mcm_{K549A} to inhibit ssDNA binding and helicase activities of $Mcm_{4/6/7}$ are likely closely related. However, it is interesting to note that Mcm_{2} inhibition of DNA binding was not as robust as its inhibition of DNA unwinding. This difference may reflect a disparity in the dynamic ranges of the assays and/or the dilution of protein complexes that occurs in the gel filtration assays. Alternatively, there may be additional mechanisms by which Mcm_2 regulates Mcm_4/6/7.

The effects of ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 on DNA binding by Mcm4/6/7 are presumably communicated allosterically. I argue that the effects of ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 on DNA binding are not communicated through changes in ATP binding and hydrolysis by Mcm4/6/7 since $Mcm2_{K549A}$ inhibits Mcm4/6/7 ATPase activity but not DNA binding. In addition, Mcm4/6/7 ssDNA binding is only slightly affected by ATP hydrolysis. Rather, ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 may affect the conformation of one or more subunits in Mcm4/6/7 thereby reducing DNA binding.

2.3.4 Mcm4/6/7 inhibition by Mcm3/5

DNA unwinding by Mcm4/6/7 is also inhibited by Mcm3/5 (this study and refs. 1; 7). However in contrast to Mcm2, mutation of the Mcm5 and Mcm3 P-loops did not interfere with their abilities to regulate Mcm4/6/7. Consistent with previous studies, I have shown that Mcm3/5 and Mcm2 act independently. Interestingly, the Schwacha group has shown that the Mcm2 and Mcm3 P-loops are not essential for DNA unwinding by Mcm2-7²⁷ even though mutation of the conserved P-loop lysine to alanine in Mcm2 or Mcm3 results in inviability (as does mutation of Mcm5; ref. 25). My observation that of these three Mcms only the Mcm2 P-loop regulates DNA binding is consistent with other observations that have led to the suggestion that each ATP site within Mcm2-7 contributes differently to the activity of the complex^{25; 27; 28; 37}.

2.3.5 Mcm2 function within Mcm2-7

The ability of Mcm2 to regulate Mcm4/6/7 is coincident with its ability to support yeast growth, thus the inhibitory role of Mcm2 likely has a role *in vivo*. It is important to note that each of Mcm2-7 are required for DNA unwinding during DNA replication and Mcm4/6/7 is not sufficient to support DNA replication^{38; 39; 40}, thus a biological role for

the effects of Mcm2 on Mcm4/6/7 is found within the context of Mcm2-7. I observed that a functional Mcm2 ATP site is required to modulate ssDNA binding by the Mcm2-7 complex. As with the inhibition of Mcm4/6/7 DNA binding, the ATP binding status of Mcm2 is likely relayed to other Mcm subunits within Mcm2-7 to alter DNA binding of the complex. I can envision Mcm2 affecting DNA binding by Mcm2-7 in vivo in two ways. One is during DNA unwinding and the other is within the activation process. In general, helicases are thought to function via repeated cycles of DNA binding, translocation and DNA release¹¹. The translocation steps are coupled to ATP binding and hydrolysis, much like the effects of Mcm2 on DNA binding by Mcm4/6/7. Thus, during translocation, Mcm2 inhibition of DNA binding may be important for DNA release. It would therefore follow that mutations that severely impair ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 would cripple DNA unwinding by Mcm2-7. Interestingly, $Mcm2_{KA}$ -7 retains DNA unwinding activity, albeit at a reduced level compared to wild type Mcm2-7, unlike similar mutations in all other Mcm subunits except Mcm 3^{27} . Furthermore, Mcm 2_{K549R} with very low ATPase activity compared to wild type Mcm2 supports viability. The low catalytic rate of this mutant might suggest that the Mcm2 ATP site is not necessarily required for catalysis of helicase activity. Interestingly, Mcm2 is targeted by the Dbf4dependent kinase (DDK) comprised of the Cdc7 catalytic subunit and Dbf4 regulatory subunit^{41; 42; 43; 44}. Modification of Mcm2 by DDK may be important in modulating its regulatory activity.
2.5 <u>References</u>

- Lee, J. K. & Hurwitz, J. (2000). Isolation and characterization of various complexes of the minichromosome maintenance proteins of *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *J Biol Chem* 275, 18871-8.
- Ishimi, Y. (1997). A DNA helicase activity is associated with an MCM4, -6, and -7 protein complex. *J Biol Chem* 272, 24508-13.
- Yabuta, N., Kajimura, N., Mayanagi, K., Sato, M., Gotow, T., Uchiyama, Y., Ishimi, Y. & Nojima, H. (2003). Mammalian Mcm2/4/6/7 complex forms a toroidal structure. *Genes Cells* 8, 413-21.
- Ma, X., Stead, B. E., Rezvanpour, A. & Davey, M. J. (2010). The effects of oligomerization on Saccharomyces cerevisiae Mcm4/6/7 function. *BMC Biochem* 11, 37.
- Bochman, M. L. & Schwacha, A. (2007). Differences in the single-stranded DNA binding activities of MCM2-7 and MCM467: MCM2 and MCM5 define a slow ATP-dependent step. *J Biol Chem* 282, 33795-804.
- Kaplan, D. L., Davey, M. J. & O'Donnell, M. (2003). Mcm4,6,7 uses a "pump in ring" mechanism to unwind DNA by steric exclusion and actively translocate along a duplex. *J Biol Chem* 278, 49171-82.
- Sato, M., Gotow, T., You, Z., Komamura-Kohno, Y., Uchiyama, Y., Yabuta, N., Nojima, H. & Ishimi, Y. (2000). Electron microscopic observation and singlestranded DNA binding activity of the Mcm4,6,7 complex. *J Mol Biol* 300, 421-31.
- You, Z. & Masai, H. (2005). DNA binding and helicase actions of mouse MCM4/6/7 helicase. *Nucleic Acids Res* 33, 3033-47.
- Laskey, R. A. & Madine, M. A. (2003). A rotary pumping model for helicase function of MCM proteins at a distance from replication forks. *EMBO Rep* 4, 26-30.
- Lee, J. K. & Hurwitz, J. (2001). Processive DNA helicase activity of the minichromosome maintenance proteins 4, 6, and 7 complex requires forked DNA structures. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 98, 54-9.

- Singleton, M. R., Dillingham, M. S. & Wigley, D. B. (2007). Structure and Mechanism of Helicases and Nucleic Acid Translocases. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* 76, 23-50.
- Tomley, F. M. (1996). M13 phage growth and single-stranded DNA preparation. *Methods Mol Biol* 58, 359-62.
- Davey, M. J., Indiani, C. & O'Donnell, M. (2003). Reconstitution of the Mcm2-7p heterohexamer, subunit arrangement, and ATP site architecture. *J Biol Chem* 278, 4491-9.
- Ke, S. H. & Madison, E. L. (1997). Rapid and efficient site-directed mutagenesis by single-tube 'megaprimer' PCR method. *Nucleic Acids Res* 25, 3371-2.
- Gietz, R. D. & Sugino, A. (1988). New yeast-*Escherichia coli* shuttle vectors constructed with in vitro mutagenized yeast genes lacking six-base pair restriction sites. *Gene* 74, 527-34.
- 16. Scherer, S. & Davis, R. W. (1979). Replacement of chromosome segments with altered DNA sequences constructed in vitro. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **76**, 4951-5.
- Brachmann, C. B., Davies, A., Cost, G. J., Caputo, E., Li, J., Hieter, P. & Boeke, J. D. (1998). Designer deletion strains derived from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* S288C: a useful set of strains and plasmids for PCR-mediated gene disruption and other applications. *Yeast* 14, 115-32.
- 18. Boeke, J. D., Trueheart, J., Natsoulis, G. & Fink, G. R. (1987). 5-Fluoroorotic acid as a selective agent in yeast molecular genetics. *Methods Enzymol* **154**, 164-75.
- Cross, F. R. (1997). 'Marker swap' plasmids: convenient tools for budding yeast molecular genetics. *Yeast* 13, 647-53.
- Arndt-Jovin, D. J., Jovin, T. M., Bahr, W., Frischauf, A. M. & Marquardt, M. (1975). Covalent attachment of DNA to agarose. Improved synthesis and use in affinity chromatography. *Eur J Biochem* 54, 411-8.
- Kelman, Z., Yao, N. & O'Donnell, M. (1995). *Escherichia coli* expression vectors containing a protein kinase recognition motif, His6-tag and hemagglutinin epitope. *Gene* 166, 177-178.
- Forsburg, S. L. (2004). Eukaryotic MCM proteins: beyond replication initiation. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* 68, 109-31.

- Neuwald, A. F., Aravind, L., Spouge, J. L. & Koonin, E. V. (1999). AAA+: A class of chaperone-like ATPases associated with the assembly, operation, and disassembly of protein complexes. *Genome Res* 9, 27-43.
- 24. Walker, J. E., Saraste, M., Runswick, M. J. & Gay, N. J. (1982). Distantly related sequences in the alpha- and beta-subunits of ATP synthase, myosin, kinases and other ATP-requiring enzymes and a common nucleotide binding fold. *EMBO J* 1, 945-51.
- Schwacha, A. & Bell, S. P. (2001). Interactions between two catalytically distinct MCM subgroups are essential for coordinated ATP hydrolysis and DNA replication. *Mol Cell* 8, 1093-104.
- Forsburg, S. L., Sherman, D. A., Ottilie, S., Yasuda, J. R. & Hodson, J. A. (1997). Mutational analysis of Cdc19p, a *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* MCM protein. *Genetics* 147, 1025-41.
- Bochman, M. L. & Schwacha, A. (2008). The Mcm2-7 Complex Has In Vitro Helicase Activity. *Molecular Cell* 31, 287-293.
- Bochman, M. L., Bell, S. P. & Schwacha, A. (2008). Subunit organization of Mcm2-7 and the unequal role of active sites in ATP hydrolysis and viability. *Mol Cell Biol* 28, 5865-73.
- Ishimi, Y., Komamura, Y., You, Z. & Kimura, H. (1998). Biochemical function of mouse minichromosome maintenance 2 protein. *J Biol Chem* 273, 8369-75.
- 30. Ishimi, Y., Komamura-Kohno, Y., Arai, K. & Masai, H. (2001). Biochemical activities associated with mouse Mcm2 protein. *J Biol Chem* **276**, 42744-52.
- You, Z., Komamura, Y. & Ishimi, Y. (1999). Biochemical analysis of the intrinsic Mcm4-Mcm6-Mcm7 DNA helicase activity. *Mol Cell Biol* 19, 8003-15.
- Yuzhakov, A., Turner, J. & O'Donnell, M. (1996). Replisome assembly reveals the basis for asymmetric function in leading and lagging strand replication. *Cell* 86, 877-86.
- Moreau, M. J., McGeoch, A. T., Lowe, A. R., Itzhaki, L. S. & Bell, S. D. (2007). ATPase site architecture and helicase mechanism of an archaeal MCM. *Mol Cell* 28, 304-14.

- Enemark, E. J. & Joshua-Tor, L. (2006). Mechanism of DNA translocation in a replicative hexameric helicase. *Nature* 442, 270-275.
- Li, D., Zhao, R., Lilyestrom, W., Gai, D., Zhang, R., DeCaprio, J. A., Fanning, E., Jochimiak, A., Szakonyi, G. & Chen, X. S. (2003). Structure of the replicative helicase of the oncoprotein SV40 large tumour antigen. *Nature* 423, 512-518.
- Komamura-Kohno, Y., Tanaka, R., Omori, A., Kohno, T. & Ishimi, Y. (2008).
 Biochemical characterization of fragmented human MCM2. *Febs J* 275, 727-38.
- You, Z., Ishimi, Y., Masai, H. & Hanaoka, F. (2002). Roles of Mcm7 and Mcm4 subunits in the DNA helicase activity of the mouse Mcm4/6/7 complex. *J Biol Chem* 277, 42471-9.
- 38. Labib, K., Tercero, J. A. & Diffley, J. F. (2000). Uninterrupted MCM2-7 function required for DNA replication fork progression. *Science* **288**, 1643-7.
- Pacek, M., Tutter, A. V., Kubota, Y., Takisawa, H. & Walter, J. C. (2006). Localization of MCM2-7, Cdc45, and GINS to the site of DNA unwinding during eukaryotic DNA replication. *Mol Cell* 21, 581-7.
- 40. Ying, C. Y. & Gautier, J. (2005). The ATPase activity of MCM2-7 is dispensable for pre-RC assembly but is required for DNA unwinding. *EMBO J* 24, 4334-44.
- Lei, M., Kawasaki, Y., Young, M. R., Kihara, M., Sugino, A. & Tye, B. K. (1997). Mcm2 is a target of regulation by Cdc7-Dbf4 during the initiation of DNA synthesis. *Genes Dev.* 11, 3365-3374.
- Montagnoli, A., Valsasina, B., Brotherton, D., Troiani, S., Rainoldi, S., Tenca, P., Molinari, A. & Santocanale, C. (2006). Identification of Mcm2 phosphorylation sites by S-phase-regulating kinases. *J Biol Chem* 281, 10281-90.
- Tsuji, T., Ficarro, S. B. & Jiang, W. (2006). Essential role of phosphorylation of MCM2 by Cdc7/Dbf4 in the initiation of DNA replication in mammalian cells. *Mol Biol Cell* 17, 4459-72.
- Chuang, L. C., Teixeira, L. K., Wohlschlegel, J. A., Henze, M., Yates, J. R., Mendez, J. & Reed, S. I. (2009). Phosphorylation of Mcm2 by Cdc7 promotes pre-replication complex assembly during cell-cycle re-entry. *Mol Cell* 35, 206-16.

CHAPTER 3 REGULATION OF MCM2-7 ACTIVITY BY DDK PHOSPHORYLATION OF MCM2 OCCURS THROUGH MODULATION OF MCM2 ATPASE ACTIVITY

3.1 INTRODUCTION

The observation in Chapter 2 that ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 regulates DNA binding and unwinding by Mcm complexes is the starting point of the studies in this chapter. I surmised that since Mcm2 functions as an active regulator of DNA binding and unwinding, its regulatory activity is likely controlled. Phosphorylation of a protein is one way in which the activity of a protein may be regulated.

Unlike other replicative helicases that contain six copies of identical subunits, minichromosome maintenance proteins 2 through 7 (Mcm2-7) is comprised of six distinct, but related subunits¹. The requirement for six different subunits in eukaryotic cellular replication is thought to reflect individual roles for each subunit. For example, a subcomplex comprised of Mcm4, 6 and 7 is sufficient for DNA unwinding *in vitro*^{2; 3; 4}. Mcm2 and Mcm3/5 inhibit DNA unwinding by Mcm4/6/7^{2; 4}, leading to the suggestion that Mcm4/6/7 comprises the catalytic core of the replicative helicase with Mcm2, 3 and 5 playing essential regulatory roles. This idea is consistent with the finding that, in contrast to wild type Mcm2, mutations that severely inhibit ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 do not strongly affect DNA unwinding by Mcm2-7 in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*^{5; 6}. I have proposed that Mcm2 regulates DNA binding by Mcm2-7 during DNA unwinding since mutations that decrease ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 increase binding to single stranded DNA⁷.

Mcm2-7 is the essential target of the S-phase kinase, DDK^{8; 9; 10; 11; 12; 13}. DDK activates DNA unwinding by Mcm2-7 *in vivo* thereby triggering origin firing throughout

S phase^{9; 14; 15; 16; 17; 18; 19; 20}. Mcms were first thought to be targets for DDK based on the observation that a mutation in *mcm5* (*bob1*) allows growth with an otherwise lethal deletion of *cdc7*, the gene for the catalytic subunit of DDK²¹. Furthermore, several of the Mcm subunits are phosphorylated by DDK^{8; 22; 23; 24; 25; 26; 27; 28; 29; 30}. It should be noted that Mcm5 is not a substrate for DDK and the suppressor activity of the *mcm5-bob1* mutation is mediated allosterically. Phosphorylation of Mcm4 is likely the essential event for the initiation of DNA replication; mutations that delete a portion of the N-terminus and/or replace phosphorylation sites with phosphomimetic aspartic acid residues in the N-terminus of Mcm4 bypass the requirement for *CDC7*⁹. Phosphorylation of human and budding yeast Mcm4 is implicated in recruiting the cell division cycle 45 protein (Cdc45) to complexes at replication origins, a necessary prelude to origin firing^{8; 29; 31; 32}.

Mcm2 is also phosphorylated by DDK^{23; 27; 28; 30; 33; 34}. Multiple roles for the phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK have been postulated. One study using human cells suggested that phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK is required for initiation since serine to alanine substitutions of the DDK target sites of human Mcm2 results in a replication defect³³. Another study suggested that DDK phosphorylation of Mcm2 is required for reentry of quiescent cells into the cell cycle through control of Mcm2 association with chromatin³⁵. Interpretation of these results is complicated by the fact that there is not agreement on the identity of DDK sites in human Mcm2^{28; 30; 33}. In budding yeast, overexpression of Mcm2 in which a DDK phosphorylation site (S170) was replaced with alanine interfered with growth²⁷. This observation prompted the authors to suggest that DDK phosphorylation of Mcm2 may be essential for replication initiation. However the result may be due to overexpression of the altered allele since strains containing deletions of the Mcm2 N-terminus that includes the S170 DDK site are viable⁹.

Here, I show that DDK phosphorylation of Mcm2 at S164 and S170 is not essential for normal cell growth, but is required in response to DNA damage. Cells containing Mcm2 with alanines substitutions at the DDK sites at S164 and S170 are sensitive to caffeine and MMS. A version of Mcm2 in which S164 and S170 are replaced with glutamic acids confers a phosphomimetic phenotype; cells bearing $mcm2_{EE}$ are not sensitive to caffeine or MMS. Furthermore, the $mcm2_{EE}$ allele suppresses the HU and caffeine sensitivity of a strain deleted at cdc7 (but rendered viable by mcm5-bob1). Binding to single stranded DNA is increased with Mcm2-7 containing phosphomimetic Mcm2 (Mcm 2_{EE} -7), as observed with mutations that cause a reduction in ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2. Increased affinity of Mcm2_{EE}-7 for DNA results in decreased DNA unwinding. These effects are similar to Mcm2-7 containing Mcm2_{K549R}, a mutant severely affected for ATP hydrolysis. Indeed, Mcm_{EE} has reduced ATPase activity. Interestingly, similar to $mcm2_{AA}$ strains, $mcm2_{K549R}$ strains are sensitive to caffeine and MMS. Collectively, these results lead to a model in which DDK-dependent phosphorylation of Mcm2 controls Mcm2-7 activity via modulation of ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 in the cell's response to DNA damage.

3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.2.1 Materials

Caffeine, hydroxyurea, methyl methanesulfonate and ATP were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (\geq 99 % purity) and molecular biology enzymes from New England BioLabs, unless otherwise stated. Primers were purchased from Integrated DNA Technologies. YPD is 1 % (w/v) Yeast Extract (Difco), 2 % (w/v) Bacto Peptone (Difco) and 2 % (w/v) Dextrose (Difco).

3.2.2 Plasmids

All DNA was amplified with Elongase polymerase (Invitrogen) and the primers in Table 3-1. Plasmids and their relevant characteristics are listed in Table 3-2. The fulllength coding sequence of the mcm2 mutants was amplified using a ~300 bp mutagenic PCR fragment as a megaprimer³⁶. The resultant products were digested with NdeI and BamHI and ligated into the same sites of pET16b. The $mcm2_{AA}$ and $mcm2_{EE}$ mutations were generated similarly except that the mutagenic megaprimer was amplified from pET16b-mcm2_{S164A} and pET16b-mcm2_{S164E}, respectively. pET24a-mcm2_{EE} contained the NdeI/BamHI mcm2_{EE} fragment from pMD337 inserted into the same sites of pET24a. The mutant mcm2 genes were transferred from the pET16b vectors into the NdeI-BamHI sites of pMD240 for expression under control of the MCM6 promoter in the LEU2 centromeric plasmid, YCplac111³⁷. Mutant versions of mcm2 plasmid pMD240 containing S164E, S170E and K549R (mcm2_{EE.KR}; pMD423) or S164A, S170A and K549R (mcm2_{AA.KR}; pMD422) were generated by inserting the BsrGI-BamHI fragment of pET24a-mcm2_{K549R} into the same sites of pMD388 and pMD328, respectively. Mutations were verified by DNA sequencing (London Regional Genomics Center). The plasmids, pMD367 and pMD371 contain $mcm2_{AA}$ and $mcm2_{EE}$, respectively, and were generated by transferring the SphI-BamHI fragments of pET16b-mcm 2_{AA} and pET16b-mcm 2_{EE} into the same sites of sites of YCplac211³⁷. pMD408 is the XbaI-BamHI fragment of pET16b-*MCM2* in the same sites of YCplac211. pMD397 is the BglII-Stul fragment of pET16bbob1 in the same sites of YCplac211. CDC7 was amplified with the indicated oligonucleotides and the PCR fragment was digested with NdeI/BgIII and inserted into the NdeI/BamHI sites of pCDF-Duet (Novagen). Similarly, a *DBF4* fragment generated by PCR was digested with NdeI/BamHI and then inserted into the same sites of pET16b (Novagen). Clones encoding N-terminal deletions of Mcm2 were generated by amplifying the corresponding portion of the *MCM2* coding region from pET11a-*MCM2* using the indicated primers (Table 3-1).

pMD407 is YCplac111 containing the *GAL10* promoter. Nucleotides 275864 to 276250 of *S. cerevisiae* chromosome II which contain the 5'-untranslated region of *GAL10* were amplified with the primers MD463 and MD464 using Elongase polymerase (Invitogen). The resultant PCR fragment was digested with BamHI and PstI and ligated into the same sites of YCplac111 generating pMD407. pMD444, pMD445 and pMD446 are the NdeI-SphI fragments of YCplac111-*MCM2*, -*mcm2*_{S164} and -*mcm2*_{S1704} in the same sites of pMD407, respectively.

Purpose	Name	Sequence
Low T _m primer for megaprimer mutagensis	MD329	CGGATAACAATTCCCC
High T _m primer for megaprimer mutagensis	MD330	CTCAGCTTCCTTTCGGGGCTTTGTTAGC
<i>mcm2_{S164A}</i> mutagenesis	MD343	GTCATCAGCATTCTC
$mcm2_{S170A}$ mutagenesis	MD344	CATGTCAGCCAATAG
$mcm2_{S164E}$ mutagenesis	MD361	CGTCATCTTCATTCTC
$mcm2_{S170E}$ mutagenesis	MD362	CCATGTCTTCCAATAG
Verification of $kanMX$ insertion in $cdc7\Delta$ bob1	MD405	GGAATTCCCCGGGGGACGGAGTTTTTTAGTC AGTTC
strain	MD230	CTGCAGCGAGGAGCCGTAAT
$mcm2_{\Delta 2-15}$ mutagenic		CGATTACATATGGAAAATGAGCTACCGCCA
	MD297	TCC
$mcm2_{\Delta 2-25}$ deletion		CGATTACATATGCAGCAACATTTTAGAGGG
	MD298	GG
$mcm2_{\Delta 2-107}$ deletion		CGATTACATATGGAACGTCGCCGCATTGAT
	MD301	GC
$mcm2_{\Delta 2-170}$ deletion		CGATTACATATGGACATGGACATTGACCCA
	MD302	TTAAG
CDC7 cloning for	MD218	GCAGCCAGATCTCAGACTAG
expression in E. coli	MD219	GATATACATATGACAAGCAAAACG
DBF4 cloning for	MD220	GGAGATATCATATGGTTTCTCCAACG
expression in E. coli	MD221	GGATACTTTCCTAGGTGCACTTTACGTCG
GAL10 promoter cloning	MD463	GATCCATATGTATTGAATTTTCAAAAATTC TTACTTTTTTTTT
	MD464	TTTGTGGGGCCAGGTTAC

Table 3-1. Oligonucleotides used in these studies.

Plasmid	Characteristic	Reference
pMD248	MCM2 in pET16b	7
pMD311	<i>mcm2S164A</i> in pET16b	This study
pMD394	<i>mcm2_{S170A}</i> in pET16b	This study
pMD318	$mcm2_{AA}$ in pET16b	This study
pMD334	$mcm2_{S164E}$ in pET16b	This study
pMD393	<i>mcm2_{S170E}</i> in pET16b	This study
pMD337	$mcm2_{EE}$ in pET16b	This study
pMD353	<i>mcm2_{EE}</i> in pET24a	This study
YCplac111	Leu-selectable CEN/ARS yeast expression vector	37
pMD240	YCplac111 containing the MCM6 5'UTR	7
pMD321	<i>mcm2S164A</i> in pMD240	This study
pMD395	<i>mcm2</i> _{<i>S170A</i>} in pMD240	This study
pMD328	$mcm2_{AA}$ in pMD240	This study
pMD387	$mcm2_{S164E}$ in pMD240	This study
pMD396	$mcm2_{S170E}$ in pMD240	This study
pMD388	$mcm2_{EE}$ in pMD240	This study
YCplac211	Ura-selectable integration vector	37
pMD371	<i>mcm2_{EE}</i> full-length coding region in YCplac211	This study
pMD367	<i>mcm2</i> _{AA} full-length coding region in YCplac211	This study
pMD200	<i>bob1</i> in pET16b	M. O'Donnell
pMD397	<i>bob1</i> in YCplac211	This study
pMD303	<i>mcm2</i> ∆ <i>2-15</i> in pET16b	This study
pMD304	<i>mcm2</i> ∆ <i>2-25</i> in pET16b	This study
pMD305	<i>mcm2</i> ∆ <i>2-107</i> in pET16b	This study
pMD306	<i>mcm2</i> ∆ <i>2-170</i> in pET16b	This study
pMD309	<i>mcm2_{S105A}</i> in pET16b	This study
pMD310	<i>mcm2_{S107A} in pET16b</i>	This study
pMD281	DBF4 in pET16b	This study
pMD295	CDC7 in pCDFduet	This study
pMD407	YCplac111 containing the GAL10 5'UTR	This study
pMD444	MCM2 in pMD407	This study
pMD445	<i>mcm2_{S164A}</i> in pMD407	This study
pMD446	<i>mcm2</i> _{<i>S170A</i>} in pMD407	This study

Table 3-2. Plasmids used in these studies.

3.2.3 Yeast strains and manipulations

Two-step gene replacement³⁸ was employed to replace the *MCM2* allele in the parental BY4743 strain (*MATa/a his3Δ1 leu2Δ0 ura3Δ MET15/met15Δ0 LYS2/lys2Δ0*) with the mutant *mcm2* alleles. Briefly, the plasmids pMD367 (*mcm2_{AA}*) and pMD371 (*mcm2_{EE}*) were digested with BsrGI and PstI, respectively and transformed into BY4743 and plated on media lacking uracil. Ura+ transformants were streaked on media lacking uracil, then on YPD media and finally on media containing 5-FOA. Diploid colonies that survived were screened for the mutations by DNA sequencing, generating MDY104 (*MCM2/mcm2_{AA}*) and MDY106 (*MCM2/mcm2_{EE}*). Next, MDY104 and MDY106 were sporulated and tetrads dissected. MDY139 and MDY159 are spore colonies containing *mcm2_{AA}* or *mcm2_{EE}* as the sole copy of the *MCM2* gene, respectively, as verified by DNA sequencing.

To facilitate selection of cells containing the mutant versions of *mcm2*, the *URA3* gene was integrated downstream of the *mcm2* coding region. To do so, a YCplac211 vector containing *MCM2* (nucleotides 2023 to 2607; pMD408) was digested with MscI and transformed into MDY139 and MDY159, respectively, generating MDY169 and MDY191. Insertion of the *URA3* gene downstream of the *mcm2* coding region was verified by PCR. A strain wild type for *MCM2* (BY4741) was similarly tagged generating MDY167.

Two-step gene replacement was used to replace MCM5 with $bob1^{21}$ in a $cdc7\Delta$ Magic Marker strain (BY23713; $MATa/\alpha$ $ura3\Delta0$ $leu2\Delta0$ $his3\Delta1$ $lys2\Delta0/LYS2$ $met15\Delta0/MET15$ $can1\Delta::LEU2+-MFA1pr-HIS3/CAN1$ CDC7/cdc7::kanMX). BY23713 cells were transformed with YCplac211-bob1 linearized with MscI. Haploids were then generated through the use of "Magic Marker" technology³⁹. MDY210 is one such *MAT***a** haploid that survived on media containing G418. The deletion of *cdc7* was verified by PCR using primers MD230 and MD405. The presence of the *bob1* allele was determined by DNA sequencing.

3.2.4 Mcm2 purifications

Plasmids encoding Mcm2 N-terminal deletions were transformed in to *E. coli* and the resulting strains were grown, harvested and cell lysates were prepared as described previously^{7; 40} with one exception. The cells were resuspended in Buffer C (20 mM Tris-HCl pH7.9, 500 mM NaCl, 10 % glycerol (vol/vol)) with 5 mM imidazole. The resultant cell lysate was mixed in batch with 4 ml of a 50 % slurry of Ni-charged chelating Sepharose (Ni-Sepharose; GE Healthcare) equilibrated in Buffer C with 5 mM imidazole, washed with 10 ml of the same buffer followed by 20 ml of Buffer C with 60 mM imidazole. Bound proteins were eluted in Buffer C with 1 M imidazole and then dialyzed against Buffer A lacking DTT with 500 mM NaCl, followed by dialysis against Buffer A lacking DDT with 100 mM NaCl. After dialysis, DTT was added to a final concentration of 2 mM.

The Mcm2 point mutants were further purified by anion exchange chromatography. After elution from the Ni²⁺ resin, the protein was dialyzed against Buffer A and then applied to a 3 ml Fast-Flow Q column equilibrated in Buffer A with 50 mM NaCl. The column was washed with 30 ml of the same buffer then eluted with a 30 ml, 50-500 mM NaCl gradient in Buffer A. Protein-containing fractions, determined from Coomassie stained gels, were dialysed against Buffer A with 100 mM NaCl and stored at -80 °C.

3.2.5 DDK Purification

Lysates of cells co-expressing Cdc7 and His-Dbf4 were prepared as for Mcm2 above. Lysates were then applied to a 20 ml Ni-Sepharose column equilibrated in Buffer C with 5 mM imidazole and washed with 400 ml of the same buffer. After washing the column with 200 ml of Buffer C with 30 mM imidazole, bound proteins were eluted with a 200 ml 30 mM-1M imidazole gradient in Buffer C. Protein-containing fractions were dialyzed against Buffer A lacking DTT with 50 mM NaCl. After dialysis, DTT was added to final concentration of 2 mM and the dialysate was then applied to a 1 ml Mono Q column equilibrated in Buffer A containing 50 mM NaCl. After washing the column with 5 ml of the same buffer, the retained proteins were eluted using a 50-500 mM NaCl gradient in Buffer A. The presence of Dbf4 and Cdc7 in the peak fractions was verified by Western blotting with anti-Dbf4 and anti-Cdc7 antibodies (Santa Cruz) and MALDI mass spectrometry (London Regional Functional Proteomics Facility). Peak fractions containing Cdc7 and Dbf4 were frozen at -80°C for subsequent assays. Yields were approximately 100 µg DDK per L of cells.

3.2.6 Kinase Assays

Reactions (25 µl) contained the indicated amounts of DDK (as complex) and 500 ng of Mcm2 (wild type or mutant) in kinase buffer (40 mM HEPES-NaOH (pH 7.5), 0.5 mM EDTA, 2 mM DTT, 10 mM magnesium acetate, 80 µg/ml BSA) with 100 µM [γ^{32} P]-ATP (20 Ci/mmol). The mixtures were then incubated for 30 minutes at 30°C then stopped by addition of sample loading buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 2 % (w/v) SDS, 0.1 % bromophenol blue, 10 % (v/v) glycerol, 100 mM DTT) and analyzed by SDS-PAGE (8 %) stained with GelCode Blue (ThermoFisher Scientific). The gel was imaged,

dried and exposed to a PhosphorStorage Screen before scanning using a Storm 860 scanner (GE Healthcare). The amount of Mcm2 in each lane of the GelCode Blue-stained gel was quantified using ImageQuant 5.2 software and normalized to wild type Mcm2 (GE Healthcare). The amount of ATP incorporated (pmol) was quantified using known amounts of $[\gamma^{32}P]$ -ATP scanned in the same image.

3.2.7 Viability Assays

Viability assays in liquid media were performed as described previously⁴¹. Briefly, YMD167 and YMD169 were diluted to 1 X 10⁶ cells/ml. Ten millilitres of culture was treated with MMS or hydroxyurea (amounts indicated) for 4 hr at 30°C with shaking. An untreated control for each strain was incubated similarly. After incubation, 50 μ l of culture was removed, diluted 1000-fold and 50 μ l plated on YPD media in triplicate. These plates were incubated for 2 days at 30°C and colonies counted using the Colony Counter tool in ImageQuant TL. Percent survival was calculated as the number of cells counted on the YPD plated from the treated culture as a percent of cells in the untreated control. The assay was performed in triplicate and the mean percent survival is reported with the standard deviation of the mean.

3.2.8 Proteins

Mcm2-7 was reconstituted from constituent subunits that were purified as previously described and contained a PKA-tag on Mcm3 for radiolabeling^{7; 40}. In the final step Buffer A was used for the gel filtration (20 mM HEPES pH 7.5, 0.1 mM EDTA, 2 mM DTT, 100 mM NaCl and 10 % (v/v) glycerol). For ATPases with Mcm6 and Mcm2, an additional gel filtration step was required to remove a contaminating ATPase from the protein preparations as described⁴⁰.

3.2.9 ATP hydrolysis

ATPase assays were performed as described⁷ with the following modifications. For ATPase rates, each 15-µl reaction contained 1 mM [γ^{32} P]ATP (20 Ci/mmol; Perkin Elmer Life Sciences), 20 mM Tris–HCl (pH 7.5), 10 mM Mg(CH₃COO)₂, and 2 mM DTT, as well as 1 µM Mcm2 and/or Mcm6. The reactions were quenched with an equal volume of 40 mM EDTA (pH 8) and 0.1 % SDS and the amount of Pi produced measured by thin layer chromatography as previously described⁷. The rates are the means of three replicates.

3.2.10 DNA unwinding

DNA unwinding was assayed using an oligonucleotide substrate (1 nM) containing a 5'-biotin and 3'-d(T₆₀) tail adjacent to a duplex region was incubated with Mcm2-7 at the concentrations indicated in 6 μ l of reaction buffer (10 mM HEPES-NaOH, 10 mM Mg(CH₃COO)₂, 0.1 mM EDTA, 5 mM DTT, 40 mM NaCl and 5 % PEG 3350)⁷. For reactions containing DDK, the indicated amounts were incubated with 200 nM Mcm2-7 and ATP for 30 minutes at 30°C in the presence of an ATP-regenerating system (50 mM creatine phosphate and 2 μ g/ml creatine phosphokinase) and reaction buffer. The oligonucleotide substrate (1 nM) was then added to commence the DNA unwinding reactions. The reactions were analyzed by native (Tris-borate-EDTA) PAGE (8 %) and the resultant gels were dried and exposed to a PhosphorStorage screen that was scanned using a Storm 860 (GE Healthcare). Percent DNA unwound = volume of ssDNA/(volume of ssDNA+volume of dsDNA) X 100. The percent DNA unwound (± standard error of the mean) was plotted as a function of the molar amount of Mcm2-7 in three separate replicates.

3.2.11 DNA binding by gel filtration

DNA binding by wild type and mutant Mcm2-7 complexes was measured in a gel filtration-based assay described previously⁷. The elution of ssDNA was determined by agarose gel electrophoresis on select experiments (data not shown). Co-elution of Mcm2, Mcm4, Mcm5, Mcm6 and Mcm7 with the radiolabeled Mcm3 was detected by Western blotting of representative experiments (data not shown).

3.2.12 DNA binding by electrophoretic mobility shift assays

For DNA binding by electrophoretic mobility shift assays (EMSAs), 1 nM of 5'end ³²P-labeled poly-d(T₆₀) was incubated with the indicated amounts of wild type or mutant Mcm2-7 complexes for 10 minutes at 37°C in 6 μ l of the reaction buffer used in the DNA unwinding reactions. Glycerol was added to a final concentration of 5 % (v/v) and the reaction was then applied to a 5 % native (Tris-borate-EDTA) polyacrylamide gel (19:1 acrylamide:Bis-acrylamide; BioShop Canada) containing 5 % glycerol, 0.1 % NP-40 and 10 mM Mg(CH₃COO)₂. The gel was resolved at 30 mA for 3 hours, dried and exposed to a PhosphorStorage screen and imaged on a Storm 860 scanner (GE Healthcare). The presence of Mcm2-7 in the protein-containing band was verified by Western Blotting for Mcm2, Mcm3 and Mcm7 (data not shown) and by colloidal Coomassie Blue staining of the gel.

3.3 <u>RESULTS</u>

3.3.1 DDK modifies Mcm subunits in vitro

In order to examine the phosphorylation of Mcm subunits by DDK *in vitro*, I purified the kinase from an *E. coli* strain co-expressing *S. cerevisiae* Cdc7 and His-tagged Dbf4. The resulting complex contained equal portions of Cdc7 and Dbf4 as determined

from Coomassie Blue R250 stained gels (Figure 3-1A). I used this preparation to examine the phosphorylation of Mcm subunits individually *in vitro* (Figure 3-1B). The Mcm proteins were purified from *E. coli* expression strains, so they are not phosphorylated. Incubation of each of the Mcm subunits with DDK and $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ -ATP resulted in phosphorylated Mcm2, consistent with previous studies (Figure 3-1B, lane 1; refs. 22; 23; 28; 33). Other Mcms were phosphorylated to a lesser degree, with modification of Mcm4 being the next greatest (Figure 3-1B, lane 5). A longer incubation of Mcm2 with DDK resulted in the incorporation of approximately two phosphates per Mcm2 molecule (Figure 3-1C). Even within the Mcm2-7 complex, Mcm2 was the most highly modified subunit (Figure 3-1D). It should be noted that here, Mcm2-7 is not origin bound, which has been shown to affect target selection by DDK²⁶.



Figure 3-1 Proteins used in these studies and phosphorylation of Mcms by DDK. A. Coomassie-Blue stained gels of proteins used in these studies. Migration of size standards is indicated to the left. Mcm2-7 complexes were resolved on 6 % gels and the other proteins on 10 % gels. **B.** The ability of DDK to phosphorylate each of the Mcm subunits was assayed and the samples were analysed by SDS-PAGE. Top panel is a PhosphorImager scan of the gel. The bottom panel is a colloidal Coomassie-Blue stained image of the same gel. The migrations of size standards are indicated on the left of each

panel. C. A time course of Mcm2 phosphorylation. Mcm2 with DDK (triangles), DDK alone (filled circles) or Mcm2 alone (empty circles) is shown. D. DDK phosphorylation of Mcm2-7 complex. The left panel is a PhosphorImager scan and the right panel is a Coomassie Blue stained gel. The migration of size standards is indicated on the left and of each of the subunits (represented by number only) is indicated on the right.

3.3.2 DDK phosphorylates Mcm2 at serines 164 and 170 in vitro

Studies on human Mcm2 indicate that DDK phosphorylation sites are found in the N-terminus of Mcm2^{28; 33}. Although the exact position of the sites is not conserved from yeast to humans, I thought it likely that DDK phosphorylation would also be confined to the N-terminus of Mcm2. Indeed, elimination of amino acids 2 through 170 of Mcm2 decreased phosphorylation to background levels (Figure 3-2B, lane 6). I further narrowed the location of the phosphorylation sites to a region between residues 108 and 170 by the observation that deletions of residues 2-107 did not greatly affect the extent of phosphorylation (Figure 3-2B; lanes 3-5).

Two serines are found between amino acids 108 and 170 of Mcm2: one at residue 164 and one at residue 170 (Figure 3-2C). I predicted that at least two residues would be phosphorylated by DDK since I observe a 2:1 ratio of ³²P incorporated per Mcm2 molecule (Figure 3-2D). I mutated each of these residues to alanines individually (Mcm2_{S164A} and Mcm2_{S170A}) and in combination (Mcm2_{AA}). Mutation of either S164 or S170 to alanine was not sufficient for loss of DDK phosphorylation *in vitro* (Figure 3-2D; lanes 3 and 4). When both positions were changed to alanine, DDK phosphorylation of Mcm2 was lost (Figure 3-2D; lane 5). I concluded that S164 and S170 are sites for DDK phosphorylation *in vitro*. S164 and S170 were also identified as DDK sites by another group while my study was ongoing²⁷.



Figure 3-2 Mapping of Mcm2 phosphorylation sites. A. Schematics of full-length Mcm2 ("2WT") as well as the different deletions are shown. The position of the conserved MCM box is indicated. B. Phosphorylation assays of purified full-length Mcm2 (lane 2), and the Mcm2 deletion mutations (lanes 2-6) are shown. The stained gel and PhosphorImage are shown. C. The amino acid sequence of the region of Mcm2 comprising amino acids 161 to 180. D. A kinase assay was performed with 500 ng of purified Mcm2, Mcm2_{S164A}, Mcm2_{S170A} or Mcm2_{AA} in combination with 100 ng of DDK (lanes 3-6). Phosphorylated products were not detected with DDK alone (lane 1) or with Mcm2 alone (lane 2). "GCB" indicates the gel was stained with GelCode Blue.

3.3.3 Serines 164 and 170 of Mcm2 are not essential for normal S. cerevisiae growth

I tested whether loss of the DDK phosphorylation sites in Mcm2 affects growth

using plasmid shuffling in a haploid strain deleted at mcm2 but bearing a URA3 plasmid

with wild type *MCM2*. The strain (MDY054) was transformed with *LEU2* plasmids encoding $mcm2_{S164A}$, $mcm2_{S170A}$, $mcm2_{S164A,S170A}$ ($mcm2_{AA}$) or wild type *MCM2* under control of the *MCM6* promoter. The resulting strains were then tested for growth on 5-FOA, which is metabolized to a toxic product by Ura3 thus testing whether the *mcm2* encoded on the *LEU2*-containing plasmid will support viability. All of the alleles including $mcm2_{AA}$ supported viability (Figure 3-3A). DNA sequencing analysis of the shuffled plasmids confirmed that the mutations were present (data not shown). The growth of strains bearing the mutant alleles was comparable to that of cells with wild type *MCM2* at 30°C and 37°C (Figure 3-3A). A slight reduction in growth was observed with $mcm2_{AA}$ at 16°C whereas strains with the single mutations grew comparably to strains with wild type *MCM2* (Figure 3-3A). Similar results were observed in cells in which $mcm2_{AA}$ was integrated at the *MCM2* locus (data not shown). I concluded that S164 and S170 are not essential for yeast viability when the "normal" promoter is used.

In addition to its essential role in the initiation of DNA replication, DDK is also thought to participate in the S-phase checkpoint response^{9; 41; 42; 43; 44; 45; 46; 47}. Notably, mutations in *S. cerevisiae* and *S. pombe* Dbf4/Dfp1 result in sensitivity to drugs that induce the S-phase checkpoint, such as hydroxyurea (HU) and methyl methanesulfonate (MMS; refs. 41; 47; 48). To determine whether phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK plays a role in checkpoint response, I subjected cells deleted at *mcm2*, but supported for growth by a plasmid-encoded copy of the *mcm2* alleles to HU or MMS. Strains containing *mcm2_{AA}* are more sensitive than wild type *MCM2* strains to MMS but not HU (Figure 3-3B). When the strain containing *mcm2_{AA}* was grown on YPD containing caffeine, its growth was also reduced (Figure 3-3C). Caffeine is a purine analog that inhibits phosphatidyl inositol 3 kinase (PI3K)-like kinases, including those involved in the S- phase checkpoint (Tel1 and Mec1) and cell growth (TOR; refs. 49; 50; 51; 52). The inhibition of the checkpoint kinases likely causes DNA damage when caffeine is provided in the doses used here⁴⁹. The sensitivity to caffeine was only observed in cells bearing an alanine mutation at both S164 and S170 ($mcm2_{AA}$); the single mutations at either of these positions did not affect sensitivity to caffeine (Figure 3-3C), suggesting that, at least with respect to caffeine sensitivity, these residues are functionally redundant. In the studies of Bruck and Kaplan, $mcm2_{S170A}$ was lethal when expressed from the *GAL10* promoter. I also observed lethality with $mcm2_{S170A}$ when expressed from the *GAL10* promoter, suggesting that the differing observations were not due to strain backgrounds but rather to overexpression of $mcm2_{S170A}$ (Figure 3-3D).



Figure 3-3 Strains containing Mcm2 phosphorylation sites mutants are viable. A. The growth of haploid $mcm2\Delta$ strains bearing *CEN/ARS* plasmids encoding *MCM2*, $mcm2_{S164A}$, $mcm2_{S170A}$, or $mcm2_{AA}$ was compared. Serial 10-fold dilutions of the strains were spotted on YPD plates and grown at the indicated temperatures. **B.** The sensitivity of *MCM2* and $mcm2_{AA}$ strains to MMS and HU in liquid cultures is shown. The survival of the strains after a 4 hour exposure to the indicated concentration of drug relative to untreated cells is shown. **C.** Serial 10-fold dilutions of the indicated strains were spotted on YPD plates containing the indicated concentrations of caffeine and grown at 30°C for the indicated times. **D.** The growth of haploid $mcm2\Delta$ strains bearing CEN/ARS plasmids encoding *MCM2*, $mcm2_{S164A}$ and $mcm2_{S170A}$ under control of the *GAL10* promoter. Serial 10-fold dilutions of the strains were spotted on YP media containing 2 % (w/v) galactose and 5-FOA containing 2 % (w/v) galactose and grown at 30°C for 3 days.

3.3.4 Phosphomimetic mutations at S164 and S170

Substitution of an acidic residue in place of a phospho-acceptor residue will often mimic phosphorylation. I therefore asked whether substitution of glutamic acid for serine at positions 164 and/or 170 provided a phosphomimetic effect by examining the sensitivity to caffeine of cells bearing the mutations. Strains with the mutated alleles on *LEU2* plasmids were generated by plasmid shuffling. Cells bearing the single ($mcm2_{S164E}$, $mcm2_{S170E}$) or the double mutant ($mcm2_{EE}$) alleles grew to the same extent as cells containing wild type MCM2 on YPD media at all temperatures tested (Figure 3-4A). More importantly, strains bearing the Glu substitutions at S164 and/or S170 were not sensitive caffeine, even at the highest concentration of caffeine supplied (20 mM: Figure 3-4B). $mcm2_{EE}$ cells were also resistant to MMS (data not shown). Thus, I concluded that the Glu substitutions at S164 and S170 of Mcm2 indicated that phosphorylation at these residues was required for Mcm2 to participate in the cell's response to DNA damage.

I next asked whether the putative phosphorylation of Mcm2 at S164 and S170 is the result of the activity of DDK *in vivo*. *CDC7* is an essential gene, but viability of a *cdc7* deletion strain can be restored by the *bob1* mutation in *mcm5*, albeit with a reduced growth rate²¹. The *cdc7* Δ *bob1* strain is sensitive to HU^{21; 43}. If Mcm2 is the key target of DDK leading to the HU sensitivity of the *cdc7* Δ *bob1* strain, then the introduction of *mcm2_{EE}* into the *cdc7* Δ *bob1* strain would suppress the HU sensitivity. Comparison of *cdc7* Δ *bob1* strains containing wild type *MCM2* or *mcm2_{EE}* on plates containing HU indicates that *mcm2_{EE}* does suppress the HU sensitivity of *cdc7* Δ *bob1* (Figure 3-4C). I also compared the growth of these strains on YPD plates containing caffeine and found that *mcm2_{EE}* suppresses the caffeine sensitivity of a *cdc7* Δ *bob1* strain (Figure 3-4C). The difference in growth is dependent on the presence of the compounds; the *cdc7* Δ *bob1* strains grow similarly on YPD regardless of whether the *mcm2* allele is wild type or the phosphomimetic mutant (Figure 3-4C). These findings suggest that phosphorylation of Mcm2 at S164 and S170 is performed by DDK *in vivo*, supporting the *in vitro* data mapping the DDK target sites.



Figure 3-4 Mcm2 phosphomimetic mutants. A. The growth of haploid $mcm2\Delta$ strains bearing *CEN/ARS* plasmids encoding *MCM2*, $mcm2_{S164E}$, $mcm2_{S170E}$, or $mcm2_{EE}$ was compared. Serial 10-fold dilutions were spotted on YPD plates and grown for 3-5 days at the indicated temperatures. **B.** Serial 10-fold dilutions of the strains from part A were spotted on YPD media containing the indicated concentrations of caffeine and grown at 30°C for the indicated time. **C.** Ten-fold serial dilutions of haploid *cdc7\Deltabob1* strains with wild type *MCM2* or $mcm2::mcm2_{EE}$ ($mcm2_{EE}$) were spotted on YPD with and without caffeine (10 mM) or HU (100 mM) and incubated at 30°C for the indicated number of days.

3.3.5 Biochemical activities of the phosphomimetic Mcm2-7 complex

I sought to determine the mechanisms by which DDK phosphorylation of Mcm2

exerts its control. To do so, I examined the effect of phosphorylation of S164 and S170 on

Mcm2 activity in vitro through use of the phosphomimetic mutations in Mcm2. Thus, I

purified Mcm2 protein containing glutamic acid substitutions at S164 and S170 (Mcm2_{EE}) and reconstituted it into Mcm2-7. Note that Mcm proteins are purified from *E. coli* expression strains and thus are not phosphorylated. The final step in the reconstitution is a gel filtration column that separates excess free subunits from the complex. Additionally, the gel filtration column allows me to verify that Mcm2_{WT}-7 and Mcm2_{EE}-7 elute as hexamers (Figure 3-5A). Notably, the peak elution for both complexes occurred around fraction 23, corresponding to a size of approximately 610 kDa, close to the predicted size for Mcm2-7 of 608 kDa. Analysis of the peak fractions by quantitative Western Blotting and densitometric measurement of the Coomassie Blue R250-stained gels indicated equal ratios of the Mcm proteins (within ~20 %). Thus, I concluded that Mcm2-7 complexes containing either wild type Mcm2 or Mcm2_{EE} had formed.

I next measured DNA unwinding by $Mcm2_{WT}$ -7 and $Mcm2_{EE}$ -7 on short oligonucleotide forks whereby DNA unwinding is measured as displacement of a labeled oligonucleotide from its complementary strand. Using this assay, I detected robust unwinding by $Mcm2_{WT}$ -7, which unwound up to 57 ± 4 % of the substrate (Figure 3-5B and C). In contrast, DNA unwinding by $Mcm2_{EE}$ -7 was reduced to about 40-50% of wild type levels (Figure 3-5B and C). This result suggests that DDK-dependent modification of Mcm2 at S164 and S170 inhibits DNA unwinding by Mcm2-7. Consistent with this idea, treatment of wild type Mcm2-7 with DDK and ATP under conditions in which Mcm2 is the principal substrate for DDK (Figure 3-1B) also decreased DNA unwinding (Figure 3-5D). Interestingly, while DNA unwinding is reduced with $Mcm2_{EE}$ -7, sufficient DNA unwinding must occur to support viability (Figure 3-4A).



Figure 3-5 Reconstitution $Mcm2_{WT}$ -7 and $Mcm2_{EE}$ -7 complexes and biochemical activities. A. Mcm2-7 complexes containing wild type Mcm2 ("Mcm2_{WT}-7") or Mcm2_{EE} ("Mcm2_{EE}-7") were reconstituted from individual subunits. Shown are Coomassie Blue-stained SDS polyacrylamide (6 %) gels of the fractions from the final step. The elution of molecular size standards from the column is indicated above the gel. The migration of molecular size markers and of Mcms through the gels is indicated on the left and right, respectively. B. DNA unwinding by Mcm2_{WT}-7 and Mcm2_{EE}-7 was examined. The peak fraction (fraction 23) from each reconstitution was assayed for DNA unwinding. C. The mean extent of DNA unwinding was calculated from three replicate experiments. Standard error of the mean of each point is shown. D. DNA unwinding by Mcm2_{WT}-7 in the presence of the indicated concentrations of DDK was measured. DDK was pre-incubated with ATP and Mcm2_{WT}-7 prior to measuring DNA unwinding.

DNA unwinding requires that the helicase interact with DNA. Models for DNA unwinding by hexameric helicases include binding to single and/or double stranded DNA followed by translocation^{3; 53; 54; 55; 56; 57; 58; 59; 60; 61; 62}. Thus, I examined DNA binding by

Mcm2-7, mutant and wild type, to determine whether DNA binding is also affected. I first used a gel filtration-based approach, described previously⁷, in which binding was measured as the amount of Mcm2-7 that co-eluted with single stranded DNA (ssDNA). Radiolabeled Mcm $_{WT}$ -7 or Mcm $_{EF}$ -7 was incubated with increasing concentrations of M13mp19 circular ssDNA. Bound protein was separated from free protein via gel filtration and the amount of Mcm2-7 bound to DNA was determined from the amount of Mcm2-7 that co-eluted with ssDNA (Figure 3-6A). The results of three replicate experiments using wild type or mutant Mcm2-7 are shown in Figure 3-6B and indicate that Mcm2_{EE}-7 binds DNA with higher affinity than Mcm2-7. This effect is most apparent at the lowest concentration of ssDNA supplied (0.5 nM) where at least 3-fold more Mcm2_{EE}-7 bound to DNA than Mcm2_{WT}-7. The increased DNA binding observed with $Mcm2_{EE}$ -7 is similar to my results with Mcm2-7 complexes containing ATP site mutations in Mcm2, including $Mcm2_{K549R}$, which is viable but strongly affects ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2⁷. For comparison, I also show ssDNA binding by Mcm2_{K549R}-7 (Figure 3-6A and B). These initial experiments indicated that Mcm2-7 complexes containing $Mcm2_{EE}$ or $Mcm2_{K549R}$ had higher affinity for ssDNA than complexes containing wild type Mcm2.

DNA binding was also measured by electrophoretic mobility shift assays (EMSA), which allowed me to examine a wider range of concentrations of protein. Increasing concentrations of Mcm2_{WT}-7, Mcm2_{EE}-7 or Mcm2_{K549R}-7 were incubated with 1 nM poly-dT₆₀. Binding of Mcm2-7 to DNA resulted in a shift in the migration of the DNA to a point near the top of the gel and coincided with the migration of Mcm2-7 as visualized by staining of the gel (Figure 3-6C). Mcm2_{WT}-7 shifted up to 30 fmol of the ssDNA supplied (Figure 3-6C and D). Although modest, this binding is similar to

previous reports using this approach⁶³ and yields a similar affinity as observed in the gel filtration experiments. In contrast, Mcm2_{EE}-7 shifted 8- to 10-fold more poly- dT_{60} (Figure 3-6C and D). Mcm2_{K549R}-7 shifted even more ssDNA at levels 15- to 18-fold over Mcm2-7 (Figure 3-6C and D). Overall, these results demonstrate that the phosphomimetic mutations in Mcm2 enhance ssDNA binding by Mcm2-7.



1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

11 12

Mcm2-7 (nM)

Figure 3-6 ssDNA binding by Mcm2_{wT}-7 and Mcm2_{EE}-7. A. DNA binding was measured using a gel filtration-based assay as described in "Materials and Methods." Binding of Mcm 2_{WT} -7, Mcm 2_{EE} -7 and Mcm 2_{KR} -7 was measured in the presence of 5 mM ATP and the indicated concentrations of M13mp19 ssDNA. Shown are representative plots. The DNA-containing fractions were typically fractions 10-15. **B.** The amount of $Mcm2_{WT}$ -7 (open triangle), $Mcm2_{EE}$ -7 (filled square) and $Mcm2_{KR}$ -7 (open circle) that associated with ssDNA for three replicate experiments at each DNA concentration from part A. C. EMSAs were also used to assess ssDNA binding. Mcm2_{WT}-7 ("2_{WT}-7"; lanes 2-4), Mcm2_{EE}-7 (" 2_{EE} -7"; lanes 5-7), or Mcm2_{KR}-7 (" 2_{KR} -7"; lanes 8-10) were mixed at the indicated concentrations with 32 P-labelled poly-d(T₆₀). Shown is a Phosphor screen image of a representative binding assay resolved on a 5 % native (TBE) polyacrylamide gel. The migration of free DNA and protein-DNA complex are indicated on the left. A portion of a gel containing free protein and protein-DNA complex was removed and stained with GelCode Blue (Pierce). The presence the Mcm subunits in the proteincontaining band was verified by Western blotting (data not shown). **D.** The mean amount of DNA shifted was calculated from part B and plotted from three replicate experiments.

At first glance, my data seem contradictory. Mcm2-7 containing the Mcm2_{EE} mutant binds DNA better than wild type, but unwinds DNA less well, an activity that requires DNA binding. Thus, I hypothesized that the increased affinity of Mcm2_{EE}-7 for ssDNA interfered with the ability of Mcm2-7 to translocate along the DNA for unwinding. To test directly whether the defect in DNA unwinding by Mcm2_{EE}-7 is the result of enhanced DNA binding, I inhibited DNA binding by Mcm2_{EE}-7 by addition of NaCl. DNA unwinding and DNA binding (measured by EMSA) by Mcm2_{WT}-7 or Mcm2_{EE}-7 were performed as described for Figure 3-6 except reactions were incubated with and without 100 mM NaCl. The addition of salt disrupted the Mcm2_{EE}-7-DNA interaction; Mcm2_{EE}-7 bound DNA at levels observed with Mcm2_{WT}-7 (Figure 3-7A). Moreover, when NaCl was added to Mcm2_{EE}-7 in a DNA unwinding assay, the amount of substrate unwound was increased to a level comparable to Mcm2_{WT}-7 (Figure 3-7B). These observations demonstrate that the defect in DNA unwinding by Mcm2_{EE}-7 is likely the result of enhanced DNA binding.



Figure 3-7 Disrupting DNA binding rescues the DNA unwinding defect of Mcm2_{EE}-**7. A**. DNA binding by the indicated concentrations of Mcm2_{WT}-7^{3PK} (filled circle) and Mcm2_{EE}-7^{3PK} (open square) in the presence of 100 mM NaCl was measured by EMSA. The amount of DNA shifted was calculated from a representative experiment as described in "Materials and Methods" and plotted. DNA binding by Mcm2_{WT}-7^{3PK} (open circle) and Mcm2_{EE}-7^{3PK} (filled square) in the absence of NaCl from Figure 3-4 in the main text is shown for a comparison. **B.** DNA unwinding by the indicated concentrations of Mcm2_{WT}-7^{3PK} (filled circle) and Mcm2_{EE}-7^{3PK} (empty square) in the presence of 100 mM NaCl was measured described in the main text. The amount of DNA unwinding was quantified from a representative experiment in plotted. DNA unwinding by Mcm2_{WT}-7^{3PK} (open circle) and Mcm2_{EE}-7^{3PK} (filled square) in the absence of NaCl from Figure 4 in the main text is measured described in the main text. The amount of DNA unwinding was quantified from a representative experiment in plotted. DNA unwinding by Mcm2_{WT}-7^{3PK} (open circle) and Mcm2_{EE}-7^{3PK} (filled square) in the absence of NaCl from Figure 4 in the main text is shown for a comparison.

3.3.6 Phosphomimetic Mcm2 has reduced ATP hydrolysis

The increased ssDNA binding with both $Mcm2_{EE}$ -7 and $Mcm2_{K549R}$ -7 led me to predict that phosphorylation of Mcm2 affects ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2. The ATP sites of Mcm2-7 are found at subunit interfaces and residues from two subunits are required to form a functional ATP site⁴⁰. Accordingly, ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 is dependent on Mcm6 (Figure 3-8A; refs. 40; 64). The Mcm2/6 ATP site makes only a small contribution to the total ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2-7⁶ and even a large change in Mcm2 activity is difficult to detect in the intact complex. Thus I measured ATP hydrolysis by the Mcm2/6 pair rather than the intact Mcm2-7 complex. I mixed wild type Mcm2 or Mcm2_{EE} with Mcm6 and measured the rate of ATP hydrolysis. Wild type Mcm2 mixed with Mcm6 hydrolyzed ATP at a rate of 4.8 ± 0.2 pmol ATP/min (Figure 3-8B). When Mcm2_{EE} was mixed with Mcm6, ATP hydrolysis was significantly reduced to ~75 % of the wild type Mcm2/6 mixture (Figure 3-8B; 3.6 ± 0.6 pmol ATP/min; p < 0.01). For comparison, I also show ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2_{K549R} (Figure 3-8B; 0.9 ± 0 pmol ATP/min).

Interestingly, similar to $mcm2_{AA}$ cells, cells bearing $mcm2_{K549R}$ are sensitive to caffeine (Figure 3-8C). Since Mcm 2_{K549R} has reduced ATP hydrolysis like Mcm 2_{EE} , which does not result in sensitivity to caffeine, this suggests that there is a certain level of Mcm2 ATPase activity that is required in response to caffeine. Specifically, if the level is too low (Mcm 2_{K549R}) or if the level is too high (unphosphorylated Mcm2 or Mcm 2_{AA}) then cells cannot respond properly to caffeine. This idea predicts that a strain containing a *mcm2* allele with both the EE and K549R mutations would result in a greater sensitivity to caffeine than a strain bearing the $mcm2_{K549R}$ allele alone. Likewise, a strain with a *mcm2* allele with both the AA and K549R mutations would not be sensitive to caffeine. I generated plasmids expressing $mcm_{2K549R,EE}$ and $mcm_{2K549R,AA}$ under control of the MCM6 promoter and used plasmid shuffling to introduce them into cells as the sole copy of MCM2. Cells containing each of the mutants grew similarly to wild type cells on YPD media (Figure 3-8C). However, when the same cells were spotted onto YPD media containing caffeine, the growth of the $mcm2_{K549R,EE}$ strain was markedly reduced relative to both wild type cells and cells containing the individual mutations (Figure 3-8C). The increased sensitivity of $mcm_{2K549R,EE}$ cells to caffeine suggests that phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK functions through modulation of Mcm2 ATPase activity. Furthermore, strains with the non-phosphorylatable version of the ATP site mutant $(mcm2_{K549R,AA})$ were not sensitive to caffeine and grew comparably to cells containing wild type MCM2.

Collectively, these data suggest that phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK controls Mcm2-7 activity through modulation of ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2.



Figure 3-8 Phosphomimetic substitutions of Mcm2 reduce ATP hydrolysis. A. A schematic showing the Mcm2/6 subunit interface. The phosphate binding loop (P-loop) of Mcm2 and the SRF motif of Mcm6, required for ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 are shown. **B.** ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2, Mcm2_{EE} and Mcm2_{K549R} in the presence of Mcm6 was measured. The rate of ATP hydrolysis by each pair was calculated and plotted with the standard error of the mean. Each complex hydrolyzed ATP above background (no protein) and the rates of hydrolysis were significantly different from one another (p < 0.01; n = 3). C. Haploid strains deleted at *mcm2* and containing *CEN/ARS* plasmids bearing wild type *MCM2*, *mcm2_{AA}*, *mcm2_{EE}*, *mcm2_{AA,K549R}* or *mcm2_{EE,K549R}* were serially diluted 10-fold and then spotted on YPD and YPD containing the indicated concentrations of caffeine and grown for the indicated times at 30°C.

3.4 **DISCUSSION**

3.4.1 Phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK and cell viability

Here, I show that cells in which *mcm2* is lacking the DDK phosphorylation sites, S164 and/or S170, are viable when expressed at endogenous levels. It was previously suggested that mutation of S170 to alanine affected viability²⁷. However, it should be noted that $mcm2_{S1704}$ was expressed from the strong *GAL10* promoter in that study. When I utilised *GAL10* to express the *mcm2* alleles, I also observed lethality with $mcm2_{S1704}$, suggesting that the differing observations were not due to strain backgrounds but rather to overexpression of $mcm2_{S1704}$.

The finding that that the N-terminal region of Mcm2 can be deleted without affecting cell growth⁹ agrees with my observation that mutation of the DDK sites in Mcm2 does not affect viability. Consistent with the idea that phosphorylation of Mcm2 is not required for initiation of DNA replication, a recent study from Sheu and Stillman indicated that phosphorylation of Mcm4 by DDK is sufficient for replication initiation in budding yeast⁹. Moreover, *in vitro* phosphorylation of origin-bound Mcm2-7 by DDK results in only low levels of Mcm2 phosphorylation, but higher levels of Mcm4 phosphorylation²⁶. Together these observations suggest that DDK phosphorylation of Mcm2 is not essential for DNA replication initiation. Rather, I propose that phosphorylation of Mcm2 is important in response to DNA damage. This provides a possible explanation for the lethality of $mcm2_{S1704}$ when it is expressed from the *GAL10* promoter. I suspect that overexpression of *MCM2* induces genomic instability.
3.4.2 Regulation of Mcm2-7 activities by DDK phosphorylation of Mcm2

I propose that DDK-dependent phosphorylation of Mcm2 at S164 and/or S170 controls Mcm2-7 activity through its effects on ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2. I have defined a link between phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK and ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2. Specifically, phosphomimetic substitutions of glutamic acids at S164 and S170 reduce ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2. The N-terminus of Mcm2, where the DDK sites are located, is predicted to be unstructured and is in a separate domain from the sequences required for ATP hydrolysis. Thus, DDK phosphorylation of Mcm2 likely affects ATP hydrolysis allosterically.

Interestingly, both the non-phosphorylatable Mcm2 mutant ($mcm2_{AA}$), which is predicted to have higher ATPase activity, and a mutant severely affected in ATP hydrolysis ($mcm2_{K549R}$) are sensitive to caffeine. This suggests that there is a specific range of ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 that is required for cells to survive in the presence of caffeine. In the absence of phosphorylation, ATP hydrolysis is too high, resulting in improper regulation of DNA binding and unwinding by Mcm2-7. If ATP hydrolysis is too low ($mcm2_{K549R}$) then Mcm2 cannot perform its essential function in response to caffeine. The lack of the caffeine sensitivity of cells containing $mcm2_{K549R,AA}$ also supports this idea.

ATP sites require residues from two Mcm subunits to function and are found at the interface of subunits⁴⁰. The location of the ATP sites at the subunit interfaces is thought to facilitate communication of the nucleotide binding status between subunits. The proposed communication between Mcm subunits may account for the enhanced DNA binding of Mcm2_{EE}-7 and Mcm2_{K549R}-7. Mcm2/6 is thought to communicate its nucleotide binding status to Mcm2/5. The Mcm2/5 interface has been proposed to function as a "gate" that opens to allow passage of DNA into the interior of the helicase ring and then closes for DNA unwinding⁵. Opening and closing of the gate is mediated by ATP binding and hydrolysis by adjacent Mcm subunits including Mcm2/6⁶⁵. I did not specifically assay for function of the gate, but I note that enhanced DNA binding was observed with both linear oligonucleotides and circular ssDNA using Mcm2 mutants that affect ATP hydrolysis.

3.4.3 The potential functions of DDK phosphorylation of Mcm2 in the cell

I hypothesize, based on my data, that DDK likely targets Mcm2 in response to DNA damage. Mcm2 was already known to be a substrate for DDK in cells. This was demonstrated by the Tye lab in Western blots of 2D gels of cell lysates in which acidic spots were dependent on $Cdc7^{23}$. It should be noted that these experiments included drug treatments to synchronize cells and thus the cells were under stress.

Caffeine is a purine analog that inhibits kinases of the PI3K-like family. These kinases include the checkpoint kinases, ATM and ATR (Tel1 and Mec1 in budding yeast) as well as TOR pathway kinases^{50; 51; 52}. Inhibition of the checkpoint kinases by caffeine is thought to lead to an accumulation of DNA damage⁴⁹. The sensitivity of strains containing $mcm2_{AA}$ to MMS suggests a role for DDK-modification of Mcm2 in response to DNA damage. Thus, DDK phosphorylation of Mcm2 may not occur in response to inhibition of PI3K-like kinases *per se* but rather in response to DNA damage generated by inhibiting the checkpoint kinases. I suggest that DDK phosphorylation of Mcm2 may stabilize binding of Mcm2-7 to chromatin when the cell responds to DNA damage. Mcm2-7 is more abundant on chromatin than is expected for one complex at each replication fork¹. In mammalian and *Xenopus* cells, the "excess" Mcm2-7 is not required

for normal cell growth but is important when cells are placed under replicative stress^{66; 67;} ⁶⁸. Decreased DNA unwinding may also be required in response to DNA damage to either slow growth of cells and/or to allow time for repair of damaged DNA.

3.5 <u>REFERENCES</u>

- Forsburg, S. L. (2004). Eukaryotic MCM proteins: beyond replication initiation. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* 68, 109-31.
- Ishimi, Y. (1997). A DNA helicase activity is associated with an MCM4, -6, and -7 protein complex. *J Biol Chem* 272, 24508-13.
- Kaplan, D. L., Davey, M. J. & O'Donnell, M. (2003). Mcm4,6,7 uses a "pump in ring" mechanism to unwind DNA by steric exclusion and actively translocate along a duplex. *J Biol Chem* 278, 49171-82.
- Lee, J. K. & Hurwitz, J. (2000). Isolation and characterization of various complexes of the minichromosome maintenance proteins of *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *J Biol Chem* 275, 18871-8.
- Bochman, M. L. & Schwacha, A. (2008). The Mcm2-7 Complex Has In Vitro Helicase Activity. *Molecular Cell* 31, 287-293.
- Bochman, M. L., Bell, S. P. & Schwacha, A. (2008). Subunit organization of Mcm2-7 and the unequal role of active sites in ATP hydrolysis and viability. *Mol Cell Biol* 28, 5865-73.
- Stead, B. E., Sorbara, C. D., Brandl, C. J. & Davey, M. J. (2009). ATP binding and hydrolysis by Mcm2 regulate DNA binding by Mcm complexes. *J Mol Biol* 391, 301-13.
- Sheu, Y. J. & Stillman, B. (2006). Cdc7-Dbf4 phosphorylates MCM proteins via a docking site-mediated mechanism to promote S phase progression. *Mol Cell* 24, 101-13.
- 9. Sheu, Y. J. & Stillman, B. (2010). The Dbf4-Cdc7 kinase promotes S phase by alleviating an inhibitory activity in Mcm4. *Nature* **463**, 113-7.
- Bousset, K. & Diffley, J. F. (1998). The Cdc7 protein kinase is required for origin firing during S phase. *Genes Dev* 12, 480-90.
- Donaldson, A. D., Fangman, W. L. & Brewer, B. J. (1998). Cdc7 is required throughout the yeast S phase to activate replication origins. *Genes Dev* 12, 491-501.

- Hartwell, L. H., Mortimer, R. K., Culotti, J. & Culotti, M. (1973). Genetic Control of the Cell Division Cycle in Yeast: V. Genetic Analysis of cdc Mutants. *Genetics* 74, 267-86.
- Jiang, W., McDonald, D., Hope, T. J. & Hunter, T. (1999). Mammalian Cdc7-Dbf4 protein kinase complex is essential for initiation of DNA replication. *EMBO* J18, 5703-13.
- Jares, P., Donaldson, A. & Blow, J. J. (2000). The Cdc7/Dbf4 protein kinase: target of the S phase checkpoint? *EMBO Rep* 1, 319-22.
- Masuda, T., Mimura, S. & Takisawa, H. (2003). CDK- and Cdc45-dependent priming of the MCM complex on chromatin during S-phase in Xenopus egg extracts: possible activation of MCM helicase by association with Cdc45. *Genes Cells* 8, 145-61.
- Masumoto, H., Muramatsu, S., Kamimura, Y. & Araki, H. (2002). S-Cdkdependent phosphorylation of Sld2 essential for chromosomal DNA replication in budding yeast. *Nature* 415, 651-5.
- Mimura, S. & Takisawa, H. (1998). Xenopus Cdc45-dependent loading of DNA polymerase alpha onto chromatin under the control of S-phase Cdk. *EMBO J* 17, 5699-707.
- Tanaka, S., Umemori, T., Hirai, K., Muramatsu, S., Kamimura, Y. & Araki, H. (2007). CDK-dependent phosphorylation of Sld2 and Sld3 initiates DNA replication in budding yeast. *Nature* 445, 328-32.
- Tanaka, T. & Nasmyth, K. (1998). Association of RPA with chromosomal replication origins requires an Mcm protein, and is regulated by Rad53, and cyclin- and Dbf4-dependent kinases. *EMBO J* 17, 5182-91.
- Zou, L. & Stillman, B. (2000). Assembly of a complex containing Cdc45p, replication protein A, and Mcm2p at replication origins controlled by S-phase cyclin-dependent kinases and Cdc7p-Dbf4p kinase. *Mol Cell Biol* 20, 3086-96.
- Hardy, C. F., Dryga, O., Seematter, S., Pahl, P. M. & Sclafani, R. A. (1997). mcm5/cdc46-bob1 bypasses the requirement for the S phase activator Cdc7p. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 94, 3151-5.

- Sato, N., Arai, K. & Masai, H. (1997). Human and Xenopus cDNAs encoding budding yeast Cdc7-related kinases: in vitro phosphorylation of MCM subunits by a putative human homologue of Cdc7. *EMBO J* 16, 4340-51.
- Lei, M., Kawasaki, Y., Young, M. R., Kihara, M., Sugino, A. & Tye, B. K. (1997). Mcm2 is a target of regulation by Cdc7-Dbf4 during the initiation of DNA synthesis. *Genes Dev.* 11, 3365-3374.
- 24. Brown, G. W. & Kelly, T. J. (1998). Purification of Hsk1, a minichromosome maintenance protein kinase from fission yeast. *J Biol Chem* **273**, 22083-90.
- Snaith, H. A., Brown, G. W. & Forsburg, S. L. (2000). Schizosaccharomyces pombe Hsk1p is a potential cds1p target required for genome integrity. *Mol Cell Biol* 20, 7922-32.
- Francis, L. I., Randell, J. C., Takara, T. J., Uchima, L. & Bell, S. P. (2009). Incorporation into the prereplicative complex activates the Mcm2-7 helicase for Cdc7-Dbf4 phosphorylation. *Genes Dev* 23, 643-54.
- 27. Bruck, I. & Kaplan, D. (2009). Dbf4-Cdc7 phosphorylation of Mcm2 is required for cell growth. *J Biol Chem* **284**, 28823-31.
- Montagnoli, A., Valsasina, B., Brotherton, D., Troiani, S., Rainoldi, S., Tenca, P., Molinari, A. & Santocanale, C. (2006). Identification of Mcm2 phosphorylation sites by S-phase-regulating kinases. *J Biol Chem* 281, 10281-90.
- Masai, H., Taniyama, C., Ogino, K., Matsui, E., Kakusho, N., Matsumoto, S., Kim, J. M., Ishii, A., Tanaka, T., Kobayashi, T., Tamai, K., Ohtani, K. & Arai, K. (2006). Phosphorylation of MCM4 by Cdc7 kinase facilitates its interaction with Cdc45 on the chromatin. *J Biol Chem* 281, 39249-61.
- 30. Cho, W. H., Lee, Y. J., Kong, S. I., Hurwitz, J. & Lee, J. K. (2006). CDC7 kinase phosphorylates serine residues adjacent to acidic amino acids in the minichromosome maintenance 2 protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103, 11521-6.
- 31. Im, J. S., Ki, S. H., Farina, A., Jung, D. S., Hurwitz, J. & Lee, J. K. (2009). Assembly of the Cdc45-Mcm2-7-GINS complex in human cells requires the Ctf4/And-1, RecQL4, and Mcm10 proteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 106, 15628-32.

- Yabuuchi, H., Yamada, Y., Uchida, T., Sunathvanichkul, T., Nakagawa, T. & Masukata, H. (2006). Ordered assembly of Sld3, GINS and Cdc45 is distinctly regulated by DDK and CDK for activation of replication origins. *EMBO J* 25, 4663-74.
- Tsuji, T., Ficarro, S. B. & Jiang, W. (2006). Essential role of phosphorylation of MCM2 by Cdc7/Dbf4 in the initiation of DNA replication in mammalian cells. *Mol Biol Cell* 17, 4459-72.
- 34. Weinreich, M. & Stillman, B. (1999). Cdc7p-Dbf4p kinase binds to chromatin during S phase and is regulated by both the APC and the RAD53 checkpoint pathway. *EMBO J* 18, 5334-46.
- Chuang, L. C., Teixeira, L. K., Wohlschlegel, J. A., Henze, M., Yates, J. R., Mendez, J. & Reed, S. I. (2009). Phosphorylation of Mcm2 by Cdc7 promotes pre-replication complex assembly during cell-cycle re-entry. *Mol Cell* 35, 206-16.
- 36. Ke, S. H. & Madison, E. L. (1997). Rapid and efficient site-directed mutagenesis by single-tube 'megaprimer' PCR method. *Nucleic Acids Res* **25**, 3371-2.
- Gietz, R. D. & Sugino, A. (1988). New yeast-*Escherichia coli* shuttle vectors constructed with in vitro mutagenized yeast genes lacking six-base pair restriction sites. *Gene* 74, 527-34.
- 38. Scherer, S. & Davis, R. W. (1979). Replacement of chromosome segments with altered DNA sequences constructed in vitro. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **76**, 4951-5.
- Pan, X., Yuan, D. S., Xiang, D., Wang, X., Sookhai-Mahadeo, S., Bader, J. S., Hieter, P., Spencer, F. & Boeke, J. D. (2004). A robust toolkit for functional profiling of the yeast genome. *Mol Cell* 16, 487-96.
- Davey, M. J., Indiani, C. & O'Donnell, M. (2003). Reconstitution of the Mcm2-7p heterohexamer, subunit arrangement, and ATP site architecture. *J Biol Chem* 278, 4491-9.
- Varrin, A. E., Prasad, A. A., Scholz, R. P., Ramer, M. D. & Duncker, B. P. (2005). A mutation in Dbf4 motif M impairs interactions with DNA replication factors and confers increased resistance to genotoxic agents. *Mol Cell Biol* 25, 7494-504.

- Costanzo, V., Shechter, D., Lupardus, P. J., Cimprich, K. A., Gottesman, M. & Gautier, J. (2003). An ATR- and Cdc7-dependent DNA damage checkpoint that inhibits initiation of DNA replication. *Mol Cell* 11, 203-13.
- Dohrmann, P. R., Oshiro, G., Tecklenburg, M. & Sclafani, R. A. (1999). RAD53 regulates DBF4 independently of checkpoint function in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Genetics* 151, 965-77.
- 44. Duncker, B. P. & Brown, G. W. (2003). Cdc7 kinases (DDKs) and checkpoint responses: lessons from two yeasts. *Mutat Res* **532**, 21-7.
- 45. Ogi, H., Wang, C. Z., Nakai, W., Kawasaki, Y. & Masumoto, H. (2008). The role of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae Cdc7-Dbf4 complex in the replication checkpoint. *Gene* **414**, 32-40.
- 46. Tsuji, T., Lau, E., Chiang, G. G. & Jiang, W. (2008). The role of Dbf4/Drf1dependent kinase Cdc7 in DNA-damage checkpoint control. *Mol Cell* **32**, 862-9.
- Fung, A. D., Ou, J., Bueler, S. & Brown, G. W. (2002). A conserved domain of Schizosaccharomyces pombe dfp1(+) is uniquely required for chromosome stability following alkylation damage during S phase. *Mol Cell Biol* 22, 4477-90.
- Gabrielse, C., Miller, C. T., McConnell, K. H., DeWard, A., Fox, C. A. & Weinreich, M. (2006). A Dbf4p BRCA1 C-terminal-like domain required for the response to replication fork arrest in budding yeast. *Genetics* 173, 541-55.
- Kuranda, K., Leberre, V., Sokol, S., Palamarczyk, G. & Francois, J. (2006). Investigating the caffeine effects in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae brings new insights into the connection between TOR, PKC and Ras/cAMP signalling pathways. *Mol Microbiol* 61, 1147-66.
- Moser, B. A., Brondello, J. M., Baber-Furnari, B. & Russell, P. (2000). Mechanism of caffeine-induced checkpoint override in fission yeast. *Mol Cell Biol* 20, 4288-94.
- 51. Reinke, A., Chen, J. C., Aronova, S. & Powers, T. (2006). Caffeine targets TOR complex I and provides evidence for a regulatory link between the FRB and kinase domains of Tor1p. *J Biol Chem* 281, 31616-26.
- 52. Saiardi, A., Resnick, A. C., Snowman, A. M., Wendland, B. & Snyder, S. H. (2005). Inositol pyrophosphates regulate cell death and telomere length through

phosphoinositide 3-kinase-related protein kinases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**, 1911-4.

- Brewster, A. S., Slaymaker, I. M., Afif, S. A. & Chen, X. S. (2010). Mutational analysis of an archaeal minichromosome maintenance protein exterior hairpin reveals critical residues for helicase activity and DNA binding. *BMC Mol Biol* 11, 62.
- 54. Brewster, A. S., Wang, G., Yu, X., Greenleaf, W. B., Carazo, J. M., Tjajadia, M., Klein, M. G. & Chen, X. S. (2008). Crystal structure of a near-full-length archaeal MCM: functional insights for an AAA+ hexameric helicase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105, 20191-6.
- Liu, W., Pucci, B., Rossi, M., Pisani, F. M. & Ladenstein, R. (2008). Structural analysis of the Sulfolobus solfataricus MCM protein N-terminal domain. *Nucleic Acids Res* 36, 3235-43.
- 56. Kelman, Z. & Hurwitz, J. (2003). Structural lessons in DNA replication from the third domain of life. *Nat Struct Biol* **10**, 148-50.
- 57. Lee, J. K. & Hurwitz, J. (2001). Processive DNA helicase activity of the minichromosome maintenance proteins 4, 6, and 7 complex requires forked DNA structures. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 98, 54-9.
- Sato, M., Gotow, T., You, Z., Komamura-Kohno, Y., Uchiyama, Y., Yabuta, N., Nojima, H. & Ishimi, Y. (2000). Electron microscopic observation and singlestranded DNA binding activity of the Mcm4,6,7 complex. *J Mol Biol* 300, 421-31.
- VanLoock, M. S., Alexandrov, A., Yu, X., Cozzarelli, N. R. & Egelman, E. H. (2002). SV40 large T antigen hexamer structure: domain organization and DNA-induced conformational changes. *Curr Biol* 12, 472-6.
- 60. Hacker, K. J. & Johnson, K. A. (1997). A hexameric helicase encircles one DNA strand and excludes the other during DNA unwinding. *Biochemistry* **36**, 14080-7.
- Egelman, E. H., Yu, X., Wild, R., Hingorani, M. M. & Patel, S. S. (1995). Bacteriophage T7 helicase/primase proteins form rings around single-stranded DNA that suggest a general structure for hexameric helicases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 92, 3869-73.

- Fletcher, R. J., Bishop, B. E., Leon, R. P., Sclafani, R. A., Ogata, C. M. & Chen, X. S. (2003). The structure and function of MCM from archaeal M. Thermoautotrophicum. *Nat Struct Biol* 10, 160-7.
- Bochman, M. L. & Schwacha, A. (2007). Differences in the single-stranded DNA binding activities of MCM2-7 and MCM467: MCM2 and MCM5 define a slow ATP-dependent step. *J Biol Chem* 282, 33795-804.
- Schwacha, A. & Bell, S. P. (2001). Interactions between two catalytically distinct MCM subgroups are essential for coordinated ATP hydrolysis and DNA replication. *Mol Cell* 8, 1093-104.
- Bochman, M. L. & Schwacha, A. (2010). The Saccharomyces cerevisiae Mcm6/2 and Mcm5/3 ATPase active sites contribute to the function of the putative Mcm2-7 'gate'. *Nucleic Acids Res* 38, 6078-88.
- Ge, X. Q., Jackson, D. A. & Blow, J. J. (2007). Dormant origins licensed by excess Mcm2-7 are required for human cells to survive replicative stress. *Genes Dev* 21, 3331-41.
- Ibarra, A., Schwob, E. & Mendez, J. (2008). Excess MCM proteins protect human cells from replicative stress by licensing backup origins of replication. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105, 8956-61.
- Woodward, A. M., Gohler, T., Luciani, M. G., Oehlmann, M., Ge, X., Gartner, A., Jackson, D. A. & Blow, J. J. (2006). Excess Mcm2-7 license dormant origins of replication that can be used under conditions of replicative stress. *J Cell Biol* 173, 673-83.

CHAPTER 4 PHOSPHORYLATION OF SACCHAROMYCES CEREVISIAE MCM2 BY CDC7/DBF4 IS INVOLVED IN THE CELL'S RESPONSE TO DNA DAMAGE

4.1 Introduction

Phosphorylation of replication proteins by various kinases is one mechanism by which cells control the progression of DNA replication. In Chapter 3, I showed that phosphorylation of minichromosome maintenance protein (Mcm) 2 by the Dbf4-dependent kinase (DDK) comprised of the Cdc7 catalytic subunit and the Dbf4 regulatory is not essential for the normal growth of budding yeast. In the present chapter, I explore the biological function of phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK. Mcm2-7 is the replicative helicase in eukaryotic cells and subunits of Mcm2-7 are modified by DDK, including Mcm2, Mcm4 and Mcm6^{1; 2; 3; 4; 5; 6; 7; 8; 9}. Phosphorylation of Mcm4 at the time of replication initiation is likely the essential function of DDK in the budding yeast, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*¹⁰. DDK also functions in the S phase checkpoint^{11; 12; 13; 14; 15; 16; 17}. A yeast strain lacking *cdc7* but supported for growth by phosphomimetic substitutions of the DDK target site in Mcm4 is sensitive to replicative stress¹⁰. Thus, phosphorylation of another target(s) by DDK other than Mcm4 is required in the S phase checkpoint.

Checkpoints throughout the cell cycle survey for DNA damage and halt cell cycle progression in the presence of DNA damage and/or cell stress. If the DNA damage occurs during the S phase, the cell will slow replication fork progression and inhibit the initiation of late-firing origins to allow time to repair the damage (reviewed in ref. 18). The checkpoint kinase, Rad53 is a key player in the S phase checkpoint in budding yeast and its activation through autophosphorylation is a hallmark of the activation of the S phase checkpoint ¹⁹. After the DNA damage has been dealt with, the S phase checkpoint is

attenuated in part through the inactivation of Rad53 by its dephosphorylation²⁰. DNA replication resumes once the S phase checkpoint is inactivated. DDK appears to have roles in most, if not all, of the stages of the S phase checkpoint^{12; 13; 17; 21; 22; 23; 24; 25; 26; 27; 28; 29}. Studies in budding yeast and fission yeast show that DDK regulates replication fork stability¹² and may also be involved in replication fork restart during recovery from the S phase checkpoint^{16; 30}. The activities of DDK may also contribute to the activation of the S phase checkpoint in budding yeast and human cells^{17; 21; 22; 23}.

The initiation and checkpoint functions of DDK are related. In response to DNA damage, the Dbf4 subunit of DDK is a substrate for Rad53^{13; 24; 25; 26; 27; 28; 29}. Modification of Dbf4 by Rad53 causes the dissociation of DDK from origins^{13; 26; 27}. Rad53 also has a role modifying DDK activity in replication initiation independent of the S phase checkpoint³¹. This function of Rad53 appears to positively regulate the activity of DDK through stabilization of the Dbf4 subunit³¹.

In Chapter 3, I established that a version of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* Mcm2 in which the DDK phosphosites (S164 and S170) are mutated to alanines ($mcm2_{AA}$) is viable under normal growth conditions. However, in the presence of caffeine, an inhibitor of kinases involved in cell stress and cell growth^{32; 33; 34; 35; 36}, the growth of cells containing $mcm2_{AA}$ is impaired. Furthermore, the growth of $mcm2_{AA}$ -containing cells is impaired in the presence of the DNA damaging agent, methyl methanesulfonate (MMS).

In the present chapter, I examined the cellular function of DDK-dependent phosphorylation of Mcm2 through genetic studies and phenotypic analyses of strains bearing mutations in the DDK phosphorylation sites of Mcm2 ($mcm2_{AA}$). Strains

containing $mcm2_{AA}$ progress normally through the cell cycle, indicating that phosphorylation of Mcm2 is not required for initiation. However, cells containing mcm2_{AA} have a lengthened S phase in the presence of caffeine, indicating an S phasespecific growth defect in these cells. I examined the genetic interactions of $mcm2_{AA}$ using synthetic genetic array (SGA) analysis and identified 8 synthetic sick or lethal (SSL) interactions. Additionally, a checkpoint-defective mutant of rad53 (mec2-1) is synthetically lethal with $mcm2_{AA}$. The mec2-1 allele and many of these gene deletions increase DNA damage in the cell. This suggests that the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain cannot tolerate increased levels of endogenous DNA damage in the cell. I also looked for suppressors of the caffeine sensitivity of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain using SGA analysis and identified 16 deletions that suppressed the growth defect of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain in the presence of caffeine. In general, deletion of these genes contribute to replication fork slowing or suppress DNA damage. DDK phosphorylation of Mcm2 is also required for the response to specific types of DNA damage since strains with $mcm2_{AA}$ are sensitive to agents that cause DNA base damage such as MMS and 5-fluorouracil (5-FU), but is not sensitive to phleomycin which induces double strand breaks. Taken together, these studies are consistent with a model in which DDK-dependent phosphorylation of Mcm2 is required for the response to DNA base damage during the S phase checkpoint.

4.2 <u>Materials and methods</u>

4.2.1 Materials

Caffeine, hydroxyurea and methyl methane sulfonate were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (99 % purity) and molecular biology enzymes from New England BioLabs. Geneticin (G418) was purchased from either United States Biological or Santa Cruz Biotechnology and phleomycin was purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology. 5-FU was purchased from Nutritional Biochemical Corp. Primers were purchased from Integrated DNA Technologies. YPD is 1 % (w/v) Yeast Extract (Difco), 2 % (w/v) Bacto Peptone (Difco) and 2 % Dextrose (Difco).

4.2.2 Strains and manipulations

All strains used in these studies are described in Table 4-1. Unless otherwise stated, the parental strain is BY4743 ($MATa/\alpha$ $his3\Delta 1/his3\Delta 1$ $leu2\Delta 0/leu2\Delta 0$ $ura3\Delta/ura3\Delta$ $MET15/met15\Delta 0$ $LYS2/lys2\Delta 0$; ref. 37). The diploid Magic Marker collection ($MATa/\alpha$ $ura3\Delta 0/ura3\Delta 0$ $leu2\Delta 0/leu2\Delta 0$ $his3\Delta 1/his3\Delta 1$ $lys2\Delta 0/LYS+$ $met15\Delta 0/MET15+$ $can1\Delta$::LEU2+-MFA1pr-HIS3/CAN1+ $XXX/xxx\Delta$) was purchased from Open Biosystems³⁸. For growth assays on plates, 10-fold serial dilutions of a saturated culture were spotted on the indicated media and grown at 30°C. Liquid growth assays were performed as described in Chapter 3.

Strain	Relevant Phenotype	Reference/Source
MDY139	$MATa mcm2::mcm2_{AA}$	This study
MDY166	$MATa$ ura3 $\Delta 0$ leu2 $\Delta 0$ his3 $\Delta 1$ mcm2::mcm2 _{AA}	Chapter 3
MDY159	$MATammem 2::mcm 2_{EE}$	Chapter 3
MDY167	MATa MCM2-URA3	Chapter 3
MDY169	$MATa. mcm2_{AA}-URA3$	Chapter 3
MDY191	$MATa. mcm2_{EE}$ -URA3	Chapter 3
mec2-1	MATa ade2-1 can1-100, his3-11,-15, leu2-3,-	39
	112, trp1-1, GAL, psi+, dbf4::DBF4-Myc18,	
	LEU2, MEC2::mec2-1(rad53-11)	

Table 4-1. Saccharomyces cerevisiae strains used in this study.

4.2.3 Cell cycle arrest and fluorescence-activated cell sorting

The yeast strains BY4741 (*MATa* his $3\Delta 1$ leu $2\Delta 0$ ura 3Δ met $15\Delta 0$) and MDY139 were grown in YPD to an OD_{600} of 0.5. Fifteen millilitres of each culture was treated with hydroxyurea (200 mM) for 4 hours to arrest cells in the S phase. For arrests in the G1 phase, the α -factor mating pheromone (Sigma Genosys Canada) was added to a final concentration of 10 µg per ml of culture. After arrest, 1 ml of sample was removed from each strain, pelleted and fixed by resuspension in 1 ml 70 % ethanol. The remaining cells were washed twice with water, resuspended in pre-warmed (30°C) YPD or YPD containing 10 mM caffeine and grown at 30°C with shaking. One millilitre of culture was removed at 15 minute time intervals, up to 60 minutes, pelleted and fixed in 1 ml 70 % ethanol. For each fixed sample, 7×10^6 cells were pelleted, washed twice with water and then treated with 200 ug/ml RNase A (Sigma) in 50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8) for ~ 3 hours at 37°C. Cells were again pelleted and resuspended in 0.5 ml of 50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5) containing 2 mg/ml Proteinase K (BioShop) and incubated for 30 minutes at 50°C. After the Proteinase K treatment, cells were pelleted and resuspended in 100 µl 200 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5), 200 mM NaCl and 78 mM magnesium chloride. A 5000-fold dilution of Sytox Green DNA stain (Molecular Probes) in 50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5) was prepared and 750 µl was added to each 100 µl sample prior to analysis. Cell sorting was performed on a FACSCalibur (BD Biosciences) by the London Regional Flow Cytometry Facility.

4.2.4 SGA Analysis

SGA analysis was performed as described previously⁴⁰, except for the following modifications. Manipulation of the gene arrays was performed manually using a 3.18-mm 48-pinner tool following the manufacturer's directions (V&P scientific, San Diego, CA). An initial screen was first performed using MDY169 (MATa mcm2₄₄-URA3) or MDY167 (MATa MCM2-URA3) as the query strain that was mated with the haploid yeast Magic Marker deletion collection generated from the diploid strain collection³⁸. Media always lacked uracil beyond the sporulation step to ensure maintenance of the URA3 gene. After selection of haploid cells that contained a gene deletion (G418^R) and $mcm2_{AA}$ or MCM2 gene linked to URA3 (Ura⁺) the plates were scanned on a HP scanjet 3970. Colony size was then quantified with the Array Analysis tool in ImageQuant TL (GE Healthcare). A strain was determined to be slow growing if the colony size was as small or smaller than the mean colony size of 10 deletion strains that have reduced growth as annotated in the Sacccharomyces cerevisiae genome database (SGD; www.yeastgenome.org). For positive SSL interactions, the colony sizes of the same spots in the MCM2-URA3 screen were examined. The colony sizes at these spots was never below the mean colony size mentioned above, indicating that linking MCM2 to the URA3 gene was not responsible for the synthetic effects observed. A false positive rate (growth on either MCM2 or $mcm2_{AA}$ plates when the gene deletion is reported as lethal in the SGD) was roughly 5 % and is similar to false positive rates reported previously⁴⁰. From this initial screen, I compiled a list of 234 genes that had SSL interactions with $mcm2_{AA}$. An initial screen to

examine for suppression of the caffeine sensitivity of $mcm2_{AA}$ was also performed by transferring the haploid $mcm2_{AA}$ xxx Δ cells to YPD media containing 15 mM caffeine. The plates were incubated at 30°C for 4 days, imaged and then quantified. A colony was determined to be a suppressor when its size was larger than the colony size of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain. The deletions of 369 genes suppressed the growth defect of $mcm2_{AA}$ in caffeine in the initial screen.

Next, the SSL and suppressor deletions identified from each screen were retested from the mating step in triplicate. After imaging and quantification as described above, an SSL interaction with $mcm2_{AA}$ with a gene deletion was determined if a spot containing the haploid cells was below the threshold in at least two of the three replicates. Suppression of the $mcm2_{AA}$ growth defect on caffeine-containing media was determined by growth of a colony on YPD containing 15 mM caffeine in at least two of the three replicates. To ensure the quality of each plate, three genes that are known to be lethal as haploids (*EBP2*, *DAD1* and *CDC27*) and three viable gene deletions strains ($srn2\Delta$, $prx1\Delta$ and $nde2\Delta$) were included on each plate. For the caffeine suppressor screens, $mcm2_{AA}$ alone, and three gene deletions known to cause caffeine sensitivity ($ard1\Delta$, $rom2\Delta$ and $rtg2\Delta$) were included on each plate. Similarly, gene deletions that are not sensitive to caffeine ($rrf1\Delta$, $sro7\Delta$ and $rpl37B\Delta$) were included on each plate. Forty-one SSL interactions and 86 caffeine suppressors were identified in this step.

Next, the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain was re-mated with each of the gene deletions isolates in the SSL and suppressor screens, diploids selected, sporulated and tetrads were dissected. SSL interactions were verified if Ura+ and G418^R spore progeny were never recovered or grew slowly relative to the corresponding single mutation. The number of spores analyzed in each dissection is indicated Table 4-1. For the caffeine suppressors, 10-fold serial dilutions of a saturated culture of a viable $mcm2_{AA} xxx\Delta$ (G418^R and Ura⁺) spore progeny was spotted onto YPD with and without 15 mM caffeine. A spore progeny containing the corresponding single mutants ($xxx\Delta$ or $mcm2_{AA}$) were also spotted on the same plate.

4.3 <u>Results</u>

4.3.1 The cell cycle of $mcm2_{AA}$ cells

DDK functions in both replication initiation^{3; 10} and the S phase checkpoint^{12; 27}. Thus, I sought to determine if phosphorylation of Mcm2 affects the cell cycle progression of normally growing cells. Comparing cell cycle profiles of strains can determine subtle defects in cell cycle progression and/or the distributions of cells between the phases of the cell cycle. I first compared the cell cycle profiles of $mcm2_{AA}$ cells to wild type cells by fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) analysis (Figure 4-1). FACS analysis sorts cells according to their DNA content and counts them. The cell cycle profiles of the MCM2 and $mcm2_{AA}$ strains growing asynchronously in rich media were similar, indicating that phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK does not affect the distribution of cells in a given phase of the cell cycle (Figure 4-1A). I next arrested the MCM and $mcm2_{AA}$ strains in S phase with hydroxyurea and then examined their growth after released into rich media (Figure 4-1B). It should be noted that the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain is not sensitive to HU after a short exposure (Chapter 3). Similar to the results with asynchronously growing populations, the progression of the cell cycle of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain was similar to the MCM2 strain (Figure 4-1B). Next, I looked for growth defects in $mcm2_{AA}$ cells arrested in G1 with alpha factor and released into YPD media. Both MCM2 and $mcm2_{AA}$ progressed

through the cell cycle similarly and completed the cell cycle in ~45-60 minutes. Together, these data demonstrate that phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK is not necessary for cell cycle progression under normal growth conditions. Lastly, I examined the progression of the *MCM2* and $mcm2_{AA}$ strains through the cell cycle after alpha factor arrest and release into YPD media containing 10 mM caffeine. The *MCM2* strain completed cell cycle progress in 90 minutes in caffeine (Figure 4-1D). In contrast, the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain progressed slowly through S phase and did not fully complete the cell cycle, even by 120 minutes post-release (Figure 4-1D). These data suggest a growth defect in the S phase of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain in the presence of caffeine.



Figure 4-1 Analysis of the cell cycle of *MCM2* and *mcm2_{AA}* strains. A. The DNA content of asynchronously growing *MCM2* or *mcm2_{AA}* strains was analyzed by FACS analysis as described in "Materials and Methods". "1C" and "2C" indicate 1 or 2 chromosomal copies of DNA, respectively. **B.** The *MCM2* or *mcm2_{AA}* strains were treated with hydroxyurea for 4 hours ("arrested") and the DNA content determined by FACS analysis. Cells were washed and resuspended in YPD media. An aliquot of cells was removed at 15 minute intervals over 1 hour and the DNA content measured by FACS analysis. **C.** *MCM2* and *mcm2_{AA}* cells were treated with α -factor mating pheromone for 3 hours at 30°C, washed and resuspended in YPD. The DNA content of an aliquot of fixed cells was analyzed by FACS analysis at 15 minute intervals over 1 hours. **D.** *MCM2* and *mcm2_{AA}*-containing cells were treated with α -factor mating pheromone for 3 hours at 30°C, washed and resuspended in YPD containing 10 mM caffeine. The DNA content of an aliquot of fixed cells was analyzed by FACS analyzed by FACS analysis at 30 minute intervals over 2 hours.

4.3.2 Synthetic sick and lethal interactions with $mcm2_{AA}$

It is widely accepted that DDK functions in the S phase checkpoint^{13; 26; 27; 28; 29; 41;} ^{42; 43}. Rad53 is a central player in the S phase checkpoint (Reviewed in ref. 44) in budding yeast and also has a role in DDK function during replication initiation³¹. To ask whether phosphorylation of Mcm2 is important for Rad53's checkpoint function, I tested whether or not $mcm2_{AA}$ interacts with a mutant version of rad53 (mec2-1) that is defective in the checkpoint function of Rad53, but not Rad53's essential function in replication initiation. I mated cells containing either a wild type copy of MCM2 or $mcm2_{AA}$ linked to the URA3 gene with the mec2-1 strain, sporulated the diploids and examined the phenotypes of the spore progeny. I recovered spores that contained both MCM2 and the mec2-1 mutation in the expected 1 to 4 ratios (5 of 19). However, I did not recover any spore progeny that contained $mcm2_{AA}$ and mec2-1 (0 of 22), indicating that $mcm2_{AA}$ is synthetically lethal with mec2-1.

I next examined the genetic interactions of $mcm2_{AA}$ with the viable yeast haploid deletion collection. I employed synthetic genetic array (SGA) analysis using the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain as a query strain and mated it with the non-essential haploid deletion collection⁴⁰. Synthetic sick or lethal (SSL) interactions were determined by the absence or reduced growth of a yeast colony on the plates containing $mcm2_{AA}$. I detected 39 SSL interactions with $mcm2_{AA}$ in at least 3 of the 4 replicates. To eliminate the possibility of identifying false positive interactions using the SGA technique, each SSL interaction was verified by sporulation and tetrad dissection followed by screening for Ura^+ (mcm2_{AA}) and G418^R (deletion) spore progeny. Synthetic lethal interactions were verified by the absence of spore colonies that were both Ura^+ and $G418^R$ and synthetic slow interactions were examined by the relative growth of a double mutant to the corresponding single mutant strains. After manual verification, 8 deletions showed SSL interactions with $mcm2_{AA}$ and are listed in Table 4-2 (note that *mec2-1* is also listed in Table 4-2). I classified these genes based on their gene ontology (GO) terms in SGD. The genes represent diverse cellular functions, including the cell's response to replicative stress and DNA damage. These data are consistent with a role for phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK in the cell's response to DNA damage.

Gene ^a	ORF	Function	GO ^b Phenotype		
				of	
				single	
				mutant ^c	N^d
mec2-1	YPL153C	Checkpoint Kinase	1	MMS, HU	19
СНК1	YKL150W	Checkpoint Kinase	1,2,5		18
CTF4	YDR359C	Sister Chromatin Cohesion	1,2	HU, MMS	21
SOD1	YLR079W	Response to oxygen radicals	1,6,8	HU, MMS,	23
BUD23	YDR159W	Bud site selection	2,3,4	RG	16
PEP3	YOR061W	E3-ligase	3,8	RG	17
SKN1	YDR451C	Sphingolipid biosynthesis	7,8		20
IMG1	YPR139C	Respiration and mitochondrial genome	9	RG	21
		maintenance			
VMA13	YDR512C	Subunit of Vacuolar ATPase	10	CS, OS	21

Table 4-2. SSL interactions with mcm2_{AA}.

4.3.3 Suppression of the caffeine sensitivity of the mcm 2_{AA} strain

In Chapter 3, I observed that the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain is sensitive to caffeine on plate media. This observation provided a tool that was easily adaptable to the SGA technology and allowed me to query for suppressor mutations. To do so, I transferred the viable $mcm2_{AA} xxx\Delta$ haploid colonies from the SSL analysis to YPD containing caffeine and examined them for increased growth relative to cells containing $mcm2_{AA}$ alone. Eighty one gene deletions suppressed the caffeine sensitivity of $mcm2_{AA}$. To ensure that I had identified *bona fide* suppressors, haploid $mcm2_{AA} xxx\Delta$ cells were generated by tetrad

^a Genes are grouped by their GO terms as annotated in the *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* database.

^b Gene ontology: (1) Response to cell stress/chemical stimuli (2) cell cycle, (3) transport, (4) RNA metabolic process, (5) signalling process/protein modification process, (6) transcription, (7) carbohydrate metabolic process, (8) cell wall, membrane, & vesicle mediated transport, (9) mitochondrial organization, and (10) other.

^c Relevant phenotype as annotated in the *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* database. CS, sensitivity to caffeine; HU, sensitivity to hydroxyurea; MMS, sensitivity to methyl methanesulfonate; OS, sensitivity to oxidative stress; RG, respiratory growth absent or decreased.

^d Number of spore progeny checked.

dissection and the growth of serial dilutions of a $mcm2_{AA}$ xxx Δ spore colony was examined on caffeine relative to the single mutations (Figure 4-2). Sixteen of the genes were identified as suppressors after this verification step (Figure 4-2). I then classified these genes into known biological functions based on gene ontology annotations in the SGD as well as their reported functions in the literature (Table 4-3). In general, these genes are involved in the cell's response to DNA damage. These observations prompted me to more closely examine the types of cell stresses to which the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain is sensitive.



Figure 4-2 Suppressors of the sensitivity of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain to caffeine. Ten-fold serial dilutions of the indicated haploid $mcm2_{AA} xxx\Delta$ or $xxx\Delta$ strain were spotted on YPD media and YPD media containing 15 mM caffeine and grown at 30°C. YPD plates were incubated for 2 days and YPD containing caffeine plates were incubated for 4 days. The MCM2 and $mcm2_{AA}$ strains were included on each plate for comparison.

				Annotated	$mcm2_{AA} xxx\Delta$		
				phenotype	suppression ^d		
Gene ^a	ORF	Function	GO^{b}	of $xxx\Delta^{c}$	MMS	HU	5-FU
SRS2	YCR009C	DNA repair and meiosis	1	HU	+		+
MCR1	YBR274W	Oxidative stress response	1		+		+
TOF1	YCL038C	Subunit of fork pausing complex	1,2,5	HU, MMS	+	+	+
RAD9	YLR263W	Transmission of checkpoint signal	1,2,4,5 6	HU, MMS, OS,RG	-		+
RAD2	YNL072W	DNA repair	1,4,6	MMS	+	+	+
PDR15	YGR133W	Pleiotropic drug transporter	1,3		+	+	
RDS2	YNL097C	Transcription factor	1,7	RG	+	-	+
YHP1	YGR143W	Transcription factor	2,4,6		+	+	N.D.
MBP1	YDR248C	Transcription factor	2,4,6	RG	+	+	+
UME6	YNR059W	Transcription factor	2,4,5,6	CS, HU,	+		+
HRD1	YPL089C	Protein folding	8		+		+
SSM4	YIL030C	Protein folding	8		+	+	+
PAC10	YDR286C	Protein folding	8	HU		+	+
SIP18	YNL072W	Osmotic stress	9		+		+
RPL8B	YHR202W	Ribosomal protein	9		+	+	+
ETT1	YDR248C	Translational termination	9			-	+

Table 4-3. Summary of phenotypes associated with suppressors of the caffeine sensitivity of the mcm_{2AA} strain.

4.3.4 Growth of $mcm2_{AA}$ strain in agents that disrupt cell wall integrity

Caffeine also affects the cell wall integrity pathway by inhibiting the TorC1 in budding yeast³². I grew the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain in the presence of Calcofluor white and ethanol to ensure that the sensitivity of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain to caffeine is due to inhibiting the

^b Gene ontology: (1) Response to cell stress/chemical stimuli (2) cell cycle, (3) transport, (4) RNA

^a Genes are grouped by their GO terms as annotated in the *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* database. Horizontal lines separate different classes.

metabolic process, (5) signalling process/protein modification process, (6) transcription, (7) carbohydrate metabolic process, (8) ER-mediated degradation & protein-folding and (9) other.

^c Relevant phenotype as annotated in the *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* database. CS, sensitivity to caffeine; HU, sensitivity to hydroxyurea; MMS, sensitivity to methyl methanesulfonate; OS, sensitivity to oxidative stress; RG, respiratory growth absent or decreased.

^d "+" indicates enhanced growth relative to $mcm2_{AA}$ or xxx Δ cells on the same plate; "-" indicates $mcm2_{AA}$ xxx Δ cells have decreased growth of the double mutant relative to the single mutations; and "N.D." indicates phenotype not determined. Growth of all the strains was comparable on YPD plates.

checkpoint pathway and not the cell wall integrity pathway. Calcofluor white and ethanol disrupt the cell wall integrity^{45; 46}. Both the *MCM2* strain and $mcm2_{AA}$ strain grew to the same extent in the presence of these agents indicating the cell wall integrity pathway is unaltered in $mcm2_{AA}$ -containing cells (Figure 4-3).



Figure 4-3 The growth of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain in cell wall destabilizing agents. The growth of MCM and $mcm2_{AA}$ strains on YPD media containing 6 % ethanol ("EtOH") or 10 µg/ml calcofluor white ("CW").

4.3.5 Growth of mcm_{2AA} and mcm_{2EE} cells in the presence of replicative stress

To further define what types of cell stresses affect the growth of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain, I examined the growth of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain on media containing various agents that cause replicative stress (Figure 4-4A & B). Cells that contain $mcm2_{AA}$ had reduced growth relative to MCM2 cells on YPD plates containing MMS or 5-fluorouracil (5-FU; Figure 4-4A), but not on plates containing phleomycin (Figure 4-4B). Each of these agents has different effects on budding yeast cells. MMS damages DNA by methylating guanines and adenines⁴⁷. The effects of 5-fluorouracil in yeast cells are two-fold: it inhibits the pyrimidine biosynthesis pathway and misincorporates uracil into nascent DNA⁴⁸. Phleomycin, similar to the structurally-related bleomycin, causes double strand DNA breaks⁴⁹. The $mcm2_{AA}$ strain is also sensitive to hydroxyurea, an inhibitor of ribonucleotide reductase, which interferes with the integrity of DNA replication forks and induces an S phase checkpoint^{26; 50}.

I noted in Chapter 3 that a version of *MCM2* in which S164 and S170 are mutated to glutamic acids ($mcm2_{EE}$) provides phosphomimetic functions in the presence of caffeine. If caffeine inhibits the checkpoint resulting in the accumulation of DNA damage, then $mcm2_{EE}$ should provide phosphomimetic functions in the presence of agents that DNA damage directly. To examine whether this phosphomimetic phenotype applied to the growth of $mcm2_{EE}$ cells in the presence of DNA base damage, I examined the growth of $mcm2_{EE}$ cells in the presence of HU, MMS and 5-FU. As predicted, the $mcm2_{EE}$ strain grew similar to wild type cells in the presence of each of these agents (Figure 4-4C).



Figure 4-4 Growth of $mcm2_{AA}$ and $mcm2_{EE}$ cells under replicative stress. A. Ten-fold serial dilutions of MCM2 and $mcm2_{AA}$ cells were spotted onto YPD media and YPD containing 200 mM hydroxyurea ("HU"), 0.03 % methyl methane sulfonate ("MMS") or 400 μ M 5-fluorouracil ("5-FU") and grown at 30°C for the time indicated below each image. The mec2-1 strain was included on the plates containing HU, MMS and 5-FU as a quality control. **B.** Growth of MCM2 and $mcm2_{AA}$ strains in the presence of phelomycin in liquid culture. The survival of the strains after a 4 hour exposure to the indicated concentration of phelomycin relative to untreated cells is shown. **C.** Ten-fold serial

dilutions of *MCM2* or mcm_{2EE} cells were spotted on YPD media and YPD media containing 200 mM hydroxyurea ("HU"), 0.03 % methyl methane sulfonate ("MMS") or 400 μ M 5-fluorouracil ("5-FU") and grown at 30°C for the time indicated below each image. The *MCM2*, *mec2-1* and *mcm2_{EE}* strains shown were spotted on the same plate.

4.3.6 Suppressors of the sensitivity of $mcm2_{AA}$ in the presence of MMS, 5-FU and HU

It now seemed likely that the effects of caffeine on the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain were due to the inhibition of checkpoint kinases resulting in increased DNA damage. I predicted that gene deletions that suppress the sensitivity of $mcm2_{AA}$ to caffeine will also suppress the sensitivity of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain to agents that damage DNA. I tested the growth of 10fold serial dilutions of the $mcm2_{AA}$ xxx Δ strains from Figure 4-2 on YPD plates containing 0.03 % MMS, 200 mM HU and 400 μ M 5-FU and examined their growth relative to the MCM2 and $mcm2_{AA}$ strains and was done for Figure 4-2. Table 4-3 summarizes the results of visually comparing the growth of each $mcm2_{AA}$ xxx Δ strain to the strains containing the single mutations ($mcm2_{AA}$ or $xxx\Delta$). As predicted, deletion of most of these genes suppressed the growth defects of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain in the presence of MMS (13 of 16) and 5-FU (14 of 16; Table 4-3). However, fewer gene deletions (8 of 16) suppressed the sensitivity of $mcm2_{AA}$ to HU (Table 4-3). Taken together, these data support the role of phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK in the cell's response to DNA damage.

4.4 Discussion

4.4.1 Phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK is not required for replication initiation

DDK functions in both initiation and in the S phase checkpoint^{1; 2; 3; 4; 5; 6; 7; 8; 9; 13; 26; 27; 28; 29}. I previously showed that a version of budding yeast *mcm2* in which the serines targeted by DDK (S164 and S170) are mutated to alanines (*mcm2_{AA}*) does not affect the growth of *S. cerevisiae* cells when expressed at endogenous levels (Chapter 3). In

agreement with this observation, the N-terminal region of Mcm2 containing serine 164 and 170 can be deleted and support growth in budding yeast¹⁰. To further confirm that phosphorylation of Mcm2 is not required for initiation, I examined the cell cycle of the mcm2_{AA} strain by FACS analysis. Phosphorylation of Mcm4 is the essential function of DDK and is required for initiation¹⁰. Shue and Stillman (2006) generated a strain containing a mutant version of mcm4 in which the region containing the serines targeted by DDK is deleted. This strain had a large population of cells with a 2C DNA content and the cells were slow to enter the S phase relative to wild type cells, indicating a defect in initiation⁸. Conversely, here I show that the DNA content of asynchronously growing $mcm2_{AA}$ -containing cells and the progression of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain through the cell cycle are similar to wild type cells in rich media (Figure 4-1). This supports the idea that phosphorylation of Mcm2 is not required for replication initiation under normal growth conditions. In the presence of caffeine however, the progression of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain is altered. The $mcm2_{AA}$ -containing cells enter S phase at a similar time as wild type cells but then progress through the S phase slowly compared to wild type cells. This observation indicates that caffeine exerts its effects on the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain during the S phase.

4.4.2 Genetic interactions with $mcm2_{AA}$

The effects of caffeine on yeast cells are pleiotrophic, inhibiting the TorC1 kinase in the TOR signalling pathway which affects cell growth and cell wall integrity^{32; 33; 34} as well as inhibiting kinases involved in the DNA checkpoint such as Tel1/Mec1^{35; 36}. Here, the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain was not sensitive to agents that destabilize the cell wall, thus, the effects of caffeine on the growth of $mcm2_{AA}$ -containing cells are likely due to the inhibition of the S phase checkpoint and not due to inhibition of the cell wall integrity pathway. In general, the 16 gene deletions that suppress the sensitivity of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain to caffeine have functions in the cell's response to DNA damage. I previously proposed a model in which phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK is involved in slowing the progression of replication forks in the presence of DNA damage (Chapter 3). In this model, the Mcm2_{AA} mutant is defective in slowing replication forks in the presence of DNA damage. Consistent with my model, gene deletions that result in replication fork slowing in budding yeast suppress the sensitivity of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain to caffeine; Tof1 promotes replication fork progression and deletion of tof1 slows replication forks⁵¹. Additionally, deletion of *SRS2*, *RAD2* or *UME6* induces homologous recombination, which has been shown to slow replication forks⁵²; 53; 54; 55; 56; 57; 58; 59; 60; 61; 62.

Another potential mechanism for suppressing the sensitivity of mcm_{AA}^{-1} containing cells to caffeine involves reducing the amount of endogenous DNA damage in the mcm_{AA}^{-1} -containing cells. Three suppressor mutations ($rad9\Delta$, $rds2\Delta$ and $mbp1\Delta$) identified here are defective in respiratory growth (as annotated in SGD). Interestingly, respiration by the mitochondria is thought to be a major source of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which damage DNA^{63; 64}. Yeast that are grown on limiting media exchange between respiration and glycolysis in a cyclical manner and replicate only during the glycolytic phase⁶⁵. Genomic instability increases if replication is forced to occur during respiration⁶⁵. ROS damage DNA, thus mutations that interfere with respiration and decrease the amount of ROS in the cell decrease the amount of spontaneous DNA damage that occurs in S phase. This damage is likely sufficient to arrest cell growth in the presence of caffeine. Protection against ROS can also occur by protein misfolding. When proteins are misfolded, the protein misfolding response is induced and has a protective

effective against ROS in cells⁶⁶. Here, we find deletions of *hrd1*, *ssm4* and *pac10* suppress the caffeine sensitivity of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain. Hrd1, Ssm4 and Pac10 are required for targeting misfolded proteins for degradation^{67; 68}. It should also be noted that caffeine suppresses signalling in the TOR pathway. Inhibition of TOR signalling by mutation has been previously shown to increase the amount of respiration and production of ROS in yeast⁶⁹. Additionally, inhibition of ATM in human cells (Tel1 in yeast) increases ROS in the cell^{70; 71}. Thus, caffeine not only inhibits the signalling to repair DNA damage via the S phase checkpoint by inhibiting the Mec1/Tel1 kinases, but also likely increases the amount of ROS in the cell contributing to the damage of DNA.

I identified a common function among many of the gene deletions upon examination of the SSL interactions with $mcm2_{AA}$: they contribute to increased DNA damage. Rad53 is the central player in the S phase checkpoint and loss of Rad53 contributes to increased DNA damage (reviewed in ref. 44). Furthermore, the checkpoint effector kinase, Chk1 is synthetic lethal with $mcm2_{AA}$. Chk1 is activated by Mec1/Tel1 in response to DNA damage and is necessary for DNA repair^{72; 73; 74}. Ctf4 participates directly in homologous recombination repair to repair DNA damage⁷⁵ and furthermore, a genetic network mapping study finds that *CTF4* belongs to a network of genes required for the response to oxidative stress⁷⁶. *SOD1* and *PEP3* are also involved in the oxidative stress response⁷⁶ and deletion of *vma13* also increases the sensitivity of cells to oxidative DNA damage^{77; 78}. Interestingly, in a proteomics study that identified several targets of S phase checkpoint kinases in yeast cells identified Skn1, Sod1 and Vma13 indicating their activities may be regulated by the S phase checkpoint⁷⁹. Collectively, the SSL interactions with $mcm2_{AA}$ suggest that the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain cannot tolerate gene mutations that result in increased levels of endogenous DNA damage and therefore, that these two phosphosites in Mcm2 are critical for the cell's response to DNA damage.

4.4.3 The requirement for phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK in response to DNA base damage

Checkpoint activation is elicited by multiple types of cellular stress (reviewed in ref. 18). Here I find that DDK-dependent phosphorylation of Mcm² is important for the response to base damage but not for the response to double strand breaks; $mcm2_{AA}$ containing cells are sensitive to agents that cause point mutations or nucleotide misincorporations (MMS and 5-FU) but not to an agent that causes double strand breaks (phleomycin). In budding yeast, Mec1 and Tel1 do not directly bind to the DNA damage but instead recognize the complexes that assemble at the sites of DNA damage or recognize the complexes that form as part of the DNA repair processes (reviewed in ref. 80). Mec1 binds to complexes that are typically generated in base excision repair. nucleotide excision repair and mismatch repair whereas Tell binds to complexes that recognize double-strand breaks^{80; 81; 82}. Although the functions of Mec1 and Tel1 in the checkpoint partially overlap, each likely has distinct downstream consequences as part of checkpoint activation^{19; 80; 83}. I speculate that phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK requires the Mec1-mediated response since the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain is sensitive to agents that cause point mutations. The $mcm2_{AA}$ strain is also sensitive to HU. The primary effect of HU on budding yeast cells is the inhibition replication fork progression by inhibiting ribonucelotide reductase (RNR)²⁶. RNR catalyzes the rate limiting step in the production of deoxyribonucleotides and inhibition of RNR by HU lowers dNTP levels in the cell^{84; 85;} ⁸⁶. However, insufficient RNR activity in fission yeast has been shown to increase the rate of spontaneous mutations by more than 10-fold⁸⁷. I surmise the sensitivity of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain to HU is due to the secondary effect of increased mutations caused by HU. This idea is supported by the fact that the growth of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain is reduced only after long-term exposure to HU on plate media and not after short-term exposures in liquid culture (Chapter 3).

4.4.4 The growth of mcm $2_{AA}xxx\Delta$ cells in replicative stress

Gene deletions that suppressed the caffeine sensitivity of $mcm2_{AA}$ -containing cells also largely suppressed the MMS and 5-FU sensitivity of the mcm2_{AA} strain (13 and 14 of 16, respectively; Table 4-3). However, deletion of rad9 in combination with $mcm2_{AA}$ enhanced the sensitivity of cells to MMS on plates and in liquid media (Table 4-3 and data not shown). In budding yeast, Rad9 has important roles in both DNA mismatch repair⁸⁸ and in activating Rad53⁸⁹. These dual roles may reflect the differences in phenotypes observed when $mcm2_{AA}$ rad9 Δ cells are subjected to caffeine versus MMS. Noteworthy also are the differences in sensitivity of $mcm2_{AA} xxx\Delta$ cells to hydroxyurea. Fewer of gene deletions suppress the sensitivity of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain to HU (8 of 16; Table 4-3). Interestingly, studies in budding yeast of the genetic networks that are required in response to HU-induced stress and MMS-induced stress indicate that although common mechanisms exist for the cell to deal with both stresses, unique gene networks are also utilized to deal with either MMS or HU^{90; 91}. I speculate that the differences in the number of suppressors of the sensitivity of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain to HU and MMS arise from how budding yeast deal with these different types of stresses.

4.4.5 The role of Mcm2 phosphorylation by DDK in budding yeast

Mutations of genes involved in the S phase checkpoint can result in the accumulation of ssDNA in budding yeast and increased DNA damage^{92; 93; 94}. When the S phase checkpoint is activated, slowing of DNA unwinding by Mcm2-7 is likely required to prevent the inadvertent accumulation of ssDNA and to allow the cell time to repair damaged DNA. DNA unwinding by a Mcm2-7 complex containing the DDK-specific phosphomimetic version of the Mcm2 subunit (Mcm2_{EE}-7) is reduced (Chapter 3). I propose a model in which phosphorylation of budding yeast Mcm2 by DDK slows DNA unwinding, and thus replication fork progression, during the S phase checkpoint in response to DNA base damage.

4.5 <u>References</u>

- Sato, N., Arai, K. & Masai, H. (1997). Human and Xenopus cDNAs encoding budding yeast Cdc7-related kinases: in vitro phosphorylation of MCM subunits by a putative human homologue of Cdc7. *EMBO J* 16, 4340-51.
- Lei, M., Kawasaki, Y., Young, M. R., Kihara, M., Sugino, A. & Tye, B. K. (1997). Mcm2 is a target of regulation by Cdc7-Dbf4 during the initiation of DNA synthesis. *Genes Dev.* 11, 3365-3374.
- 3. Brown, G. W. & Kelly, T. J. (1998). Purification of Hsk1, a minichromosome maintenance protein kinase from fission yeast. *J Biol Chem* **273**, 22083-90.
- Snaith, H. A., Brown, G. W. & Forsburg, S. L. (2000). Schizosaccharomyces pombe Hsk1p is a potential cds1p target required for genome integrity. *Mol Cell Biol* 20, 7922-32.
- Francis, L. I., Randell, J. C., Takara, T. J., Uchima, L. & Bell, S. P. (2009). Incorporation into the prereplicative complex activates the Mcm2-7 helicase for Cdc7-Dbf4 phosphorylation. *Genes Dev* 23, 643-54.
- 6. Bruck, I. & Kaplan, D. (2009). Dbf4-Cdc7 phosphorylation of Mcm2 is required for cell growth. *J Biol Chem* **284**, 28823-31.
- Montagnoli, A., Valsasina, B., Brotherton, D., Troiani, S., Rainoldi, S., Tenca, P., Molinari, A. & Santocanale, C. (2006). Identification of Mcm2 phosphorylation sites by S-phase-regulating kinases. *J Biol Chem* 281, 10281-90.
- Sheu, Y. J. & Stillman, B. (2006). Cdc7-Dbf4 phosphorylates MCM proteins via a docking site-mediated mechanism to promote S phase progression. *Mol Cell* 24, 101-13.
- Masai, H., Taniyama, C., Ogino, K., Matsui, E., Kakusho, N., Matsumoto, S., Kim, J. M., Ishii, A., Tanaka, T., Kobayashi, T., Tamai, K., Ohtani, K. & Arai, K. (2006). Phosphorylation of MCM4 by Cdc7 kinase facilitates its interaction with Cdc45 on the chromatin. *J Biol Chem* 281, 39249-61.
- 10. Sheu, Y. J. & Stillman, B. (2010). The Dbf4-Cdc7 kinase promotes S phase by alleviating an inhibitory activity in Mcm4. *Nature* **463**, 113-7.

- Costanzo, V., Shechter, D., Lupardus, P. J., Cimprich, K. A., Gottesman, M. & Gautier, J. (2003). An ATR- and Cdc7-dependent DNA damage checkpoint that inhibits initiation of DNA replication. *Mol Cell* 11, 203-13.
- Dolan, W. P., Le, A. H., Schmidt, H., Yuan, J. P., Green, M. & Forsburg, S. L. (2010). Fission Yeast Hsk1 (Cdc7) Kinase is Required After Replication Initiation for Induced Mutagenesis and Proper Response to DNA Alkylation Damage. *Genetics* 185, 39-53.
- Duncker, B. P., Shimada, K., Tsai-Pflugfelder, M., Pasero, P. & Gasser, S. M. (2002). An N-terminal domain of Dbf4p mediates interaction with both origin recognition complex (ORC) and Rad53p and can deregulate late origin firing. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 99, 16087-92.
- Gabrielse, C., Miller, C. T., McConnell, K. H., DeWard, A., Fox, C. A. & Weinreich, M. (2006). A Dbf4p BRCA1 C-terminal-like domain required for the response to replication fork arrest in budding yeast. *Genetics* 173, 541-55.
- Jares, P., Donaldson, A. & Blow, J. J. (2000). The Cdc7/Dbf4 protein kinase: target of the S phase checkpoint? *EMBO Rep* 1, 319-22.
- Jones, D. R., Prasad, A. A., Chan, P. K. & Duncker, B. P. (2010). The Dbf4 motif C zinc finger promotes DNA replication and mediates resistance to genotoxic stress. *Cell Cycle* 9, In press.
- Ogi, H., Wang, C. Z., Nakai, W., Kawasaki, Y. & Masumoto, H. (2008). The role of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae Cdc7-Dbf4 complex in the replication checkpoint. *Gene* 414, 32-40.
- Branzei, D. & Foiani, M. (2006). The Rad53 signal transduction pathway: Replication fork stabilization, DNA repair, and adaptation. *Exp Cell Res* 312, 2654-9.
- Sanchez, Y., Desany, B. A., Jones, W. J., Liu, Q., Wang, B. & Elledge, S. J. (1996). Regulation of RAD53 by the ATM-like kinases MEC1 and TEL1 in yeast cell cycle checkpoint pathways. *Science* 271, 357-60.
- Leroy, C., Lee, S. E., Vaze, M. B., Ochsenbien, F., Guerois, R., Haber, J. E. & Marsolier-Kergoat, M. C. (2003). PP2C phosphatases Ptc2 and Ptc3 are required for DNA checkpoint inactivation after a double-strand break. *Mol Cell* 11, 827-35.

- Takeda, T., Ogino, K., Tatebayashi, K., Ikeda, H., Arai, K. & Masai, H. (2001). Regulation of initiation of S phase, replication checkpoint signaling, and maintenance of mitotic chromosome structures during S phase by Hsk1 kinase in the fission yeast. *Mol Biol Cell* 12, 1257-74.
- 22. Tsuji, T., Lau, E., Chiang, G. G. & Jiang, W. (2008). The role of Dbf4/Drf1dependent kinase Cdc7 in DNA-damage checkpoint control. *Mol Cell* **32**, 862-9.
- Tenca, P., Brotherton, D., Montagnoli, A., Rainoldi, S., Albanese, C. & Santocanale, C. (2007). Cdc7 is an active kinase in human cancer cells undergoing replication stress. *J Biol Chem* 282, 208-15.
- 24. Weinreich, M. & Stillman, B. (1999). Cdc7p-Dbf4p kinase binds to chromatin during S phase and is regulated by both the APC and the RAD53 checkpoint pathway. *EMBO J* 18, 5334-46.
- Kihara, M., Nakai, W., Asano, S., Suzuki, A., Kitada, K., Kawasaki, Y., Johnston, L. H. & Sugino, A. (2000). Characterization of the yeast Cdc7p/Dbf4p complex purified from insect cells. Its protein kinase activity is regulated by Rad53p. *J Biol Chem* 275, 35051-62.
- 26. Santocanale, C. & Diffley, J. F. (1998). A Mec1- and Rad53-dependent checkpoint controls late-firing origins of DNA replication. *Nature* **395**, 615-8.
- 27. Duncker, B. P. & Brown, G. W. (2003). Cdc7 kinases (DDKs) and checkpoint responses: lessons from two yeasts. *Mutat Res* **532**, 21-7.
- Tercero, J. A. & Diffley, J. F. (2001). Regulation of DNA replication fork progression through damaged DNA by the Mec1/Rad53 checkpoint. *Nature* 412, 553-7.
- Lopes, M., Cotta-Ramusino, C., Pellicioli, A., Liberi, G., Plevani, P., Muzi-Falconi, M., Newlon, C. S. & Foiani, M. (2001). The DNA replication checkpoint response stabilizes stalled replication forks. *Nature* 412, 557-61.
- Szyjka, S. J., Aparicio, J. G., Viggiani, C. J., Knott, S., Xu, W., Tavare, S. & Aparicio, O. M. (2008). Rad53 regulates replication fork restart after DNA damage in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Genes Dev* 22, 1906-20.
- Dohrmann, P. R., Oshiro, G., Tecklenburg, M. & Sclafani, R. A. (1999). RAD53 regulates DBF4 independently of checkpoint function in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Genetics* 151, 965-77.
- 32. Kuranda, K., Leberre, V., Sokol, S., Palamarczyk, G. & Francois, J. (2006). Investigating the caffeine effects in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae brings new insights into the connection between TOR, PKC and Ras/cAMP signalling pathways. *Mol Microbiol* 61, 1147-66.
- Reinke, A., Chen, J. C., Aronova, S. & Powers, T. (2006). Caffeine targets TOR complex I and provides evidence for a regulatory link between the FRB and kinase domains of Tor1p. *J Biol Chem* 281, 31616-26.
- Wanke, V., Cameroni, E., Uotila, A., Piccolis, M., Urban, J., Loewith, R. & De Virgilio, C. (2008). Caffeine extends yeast lifespan by targeting TORC1. *Mol Microbiol* 69, 277-85.
- Hall-Jackson, C. A., Cross, D. A., Morrice, N. & Smythe, C. (1999). ATR is a caffeine-sensitive, DNA-activated protein kinase with a substrate specificity distinct from DNA-PK. *Oncogene* 18, 6707-13.
- 36. Zhou, B. B., Chaturvedi, P., Spring, K., Scott, S. P., Johanson, R. A., Mishra, R., Mattern, M. R., Winkler, J. D. & Khanna, K. K. (2000). Caffeine abolishes the mammalian G(2)/M DNA damage checkpoint by inhibiting ataxia-telangiectasiamutated kinase activity. *J Biol Chem* 275, 10342-8.
- Winzeler, E. A., Shoemaker, D. D., Astromoff, A., Liang, H., Anderson, K., Andre, B., Bangham, R., Benito, R., Boeke, J. D., Bussey, H., Chu, A. M., Connelly, C., Davis, K., Dietrich, F., Dow, S. W., El Bakkoury, M., Foury, F., Friend, S. H., Gentalen, E., Giaever, G., Hegemann, J. H., Jones, T., Laub, M., Liao, H., Liebundguth, N., Lockhart, D. J., Lucau-Danila, A., Lussier, M., M'Rabet, N., Menard, P., Mittmann, M., Pai, C., Rebischung, C., Revuelta, J. L., Riles, L., Roberts, C. J., Ross-MacDonald, P., Scherens, B., Snyder, M., Sookhai-Mahadeo, S., Storms, R. K., Veronneau, S., Voet, M., Volckaert, G., Ward, T. R., Wysocki, R., Yen, G. S., Yu, K., Zimmermann, K., Philippsen, P., Johnston, M. & Davis, R. W. (1999). Functional characterization of the S. cerevisiae genome by gene deletion and parallel analysis. *Science* 285, 901-6.

- Pan, X., Yuan, D. S., Xiang, D., Wang, X., Sookhai-Mahadeo, S., Bader, J. S., Hieter, P., Spencer, F. & Boeke, J. D. (2004). A robust toolkit for functional profiling of the yeast genome. *Mol Cell* 16, 487-96.
- Weinert, T. A., Kiser, G. L. & Hartwell, L. H. (1994). Mitotic checkpoint genes in budding yeast and the dependence of mitosis on DNA replication and repair. *Genes Dev* 8, 652-65.
- Tong, A. & Boone, C. (2005). Synthetic Genetic Array (SGA) Analysis in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. In *Methods in Molecular Biology*, Vol. 313, pp. 171-92. The Humana Press, Inc., Totowa, NJ, U. S. A.
- 41. Michel, B., Grompone, G., Flores, M. J. & Bidnenko, V. (2004). Multiple pathways process stalled replication forks. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101, 12783-8.
- 42. Heideker, J., Lis, E. T. & Romesberg, F. E. (2007). Phosphatases, DNA damage checkpoints and checkpoint deactivation. *Cell Cycle* **6**, 3058-64.
- Yan, S. & Michael, W. M. (2009). TopBP1 and DNA polymerase alpha-mediated recruitment of the 9-1-1 complex to stalled replication forks: implications for a replication restart-based mechanism for ATR checkpoint activation. *Cell Cycle* 8, 2877-84.
- 44. Segurado, M. & Tercero, J. A. (2009). The S-phase checkpoint: targeting the replication fork. *Biol Cell* **101**, 617-27.
- Roncero, C. & Duran, A. (1985). Effect of Calcofluor white and Congo red on fungal cell wall morphogenesis: in vivo activation of chitin polymerization. J Bacteriol 163, 1180-5.
- Takahashi, T., Shimoi, H. & Ito, K. (2001). Identification of genes required for growth under ethanol stress using transposon mutagenesis in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Mol Genet Genomics* 265, 1112-9.
- 47. Beranek, D. T. (1990). Distribution of methyl and ethyl adducts following alkylation with monofunctional alkylating agents. *Mutat Res* **231**, 11-30.
- 48. Seiple, L., Jaruga, P., Dizdaroglu, M. & Stivers, J. T. (2006). Linking uracil base excision repair and 5-fluorouracil toxicity in yeast. *Nucleic Acids Res* **34**, 140-51.

- 49. Moore, C. W. (1989). Cleavage of cellular and extracellular Saccharomyces cerevisiae DNA by bleomycin and phleomycin. *Cancer Res* **49**, 6935-40.
- Cobb, J. A., Bjergbaek, L., Shimada, K., Frei, C. & Gasser, S. M. (2003). DNA polymerase stabilization at stalled replication forks requires Mec1 and the RecQ helicase Sgs1. *EMBO J* 22, 4325-36.
- Tourriere, H., Versini, G., Cordon-Preciado, V., Alabert, C. & Pasero, P. (2005). Mrc1 and Tof1 promote replication fork progression and recovery independently of Rad53. *Mol Cell* 19, 699-706.
- Willis, N. & Rhind, N. (2009). Mus81, Rhp51(Rad51), and Rqh1 form an epistatic pathway required for the S-phase DNA damage checkpoint. *Mol Biol Cell* 20, 819-33.
- 53. Frei, C. & Gasser, S. M. (2000). The yeast Sgs1p helicase acts upstream of Rad53p in the DNA replication checkpoint and colocalizes with Rad53p in Sphase-specific foci. *Genes Dev* 14, 81-96.
- 54. Young, B. R. & Painter, R. B. (1989). Radioresistant DNA synthesis and human genetic diseases. *Hum Genet* **82**, 113-7.
- 55. Willis, N. & Rhind, N. (2010). The fission yeast Rad32(Mre11)-Rad50-Nbs1 complex acts both upstream and downstream of checkpoint signaling in the S-phase DNA damage checkpoint. *Genetics* 184, 887-97.
- 56. Chahwan, C., Nakamura, T. M., Sivakumar, S., Russell, P. & Rhind, N. (2003). The fission yeast Rad32 (Mre11)-Rad50-Nbs1 complex is required for the S-phase DNA damage checkpoint. *Mol Cell Biol* 23, 6564-73.
- 57. D'Amours, D. & Jackson, S. P. (2001). The yeast Xrs2 complex functions in S phase checkpoint regulation. *Genes Dev* **15**, 2238-49.
- Andrews, C. A. & Clarke, D. J. (2005). MRX (Mre11/Rad50/Xrs2) mutants reveal dual intra-S-phase checkpoint systems in budding yeast. *Cell Cycle* 4, 1073-7.
- Krejci, L., Macris, M., Li, Y., Van Komen, S., Villemain, J., Ellenberger, T., Klein, H. & Sung, P. (2004). Role of ATP hydrolysis in the antirecombinase function of Saccharomyces cerevisiae Srs2 protein. *J Biol Chem* 279, 23193-9.

- Krejci, L., Van Komen, S., Li, Y., Villemain, J., Reddy, M. S., Klein, H., Ellenberger, T. & Sung, P. (2003). DNA helicase Srs2 disrupts the Rad51 presynaptic filament. *Nature* 423, 305-9.
- Veaute, X., Jeusset, J., Soustelle, C., Kowalczykowski, S. C., Le Cam, E. & Fabre, F. (2003). The Srs2 helicase prevents recombination by disrupting Rad51 nucleoprotein filaments. *Nature* 423, 309-12.
- Sweet, D. H., Jang, Y. K. & Sancar, G. B. (1997). Role of UME6 in transcriptional regulation of a DNA repair gene in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Mol Cell Biol* 17, 6223-35.
- 63. Boveris, A., Oshino, N. & Chance, B. (1972). The cellular production of hydrogen peroxide. *Biochem J* **128**, 617-30.
- 64. Turrens, J. F. (1997). Superoxide production by the mitochondrial respiratory chain. *Biosci Rep* 17, 3-8.
- Chen, Z., Odstrcil, E. A., Tu, B. P. & McKnight, S. L. (2007). Restriction of DNA replication to the reductive phase of the metabolic cycle protects genome integrity. *Science* 316, 1916-9.
- 66. Gregersen, N. & Bross, P. (2010). Protein misfolding and cellular stress: an overview. *Methods Mol Biol* 648, 3-23.
- 67. Ismail, N. & Ng, D. T. (2006). Have you HRD? Understanding ERAD is DOAble! Cell 126, 237-9.
- 68. Alvarez, P., Smith, A., Fleming, J. & Solomon, F. (1998). Modulation of tubulin polypeptide ratios by the yeast protein Pac10p. *Genetics* **149**, 857-64.
- Bonawitz, N. D., Chatenay-Lapointe, M., Pan, Y. & Shadel, G. S. (2007). Reduced TOR signaling extends chronological life span via increased respiration and upregulation of mitochondrial gene expression. *Cell Metab* 5, 265-77.
- Barzilai, A., Rotman, G. & Shiloh, Y. (2002). ATM deficiency and oxidative stress: a new dimension of defective response to DNA damage. *DNA Repair* (*Amst*) 1, 3-25.
- Rotman, G. & Shiloh, Y. (1997). The ATM gene and protein: possible roles in genome surveillance, checkpoint controls and cellular defence against oxidative stress. *Cancer Surv* 29, 285-304.

- 72. Chen, Y. & Sanchez, Y. (2004). Chk1 in the DNA damage response: conserved roles from yeasts to mammals. *DNA Repair (Amst)* **3**, 1025-32.
- 73. Liu, Y., Vidanes, G., Lin, Y. C., Mori, S. & Siede, W. (2000). Characterization of a Saccharomyces cerevisiae homologue of Schizosaccharomyces pombe Chk1 involved in DNA-damage-induced M-phase arrest. *Mol Gen Genet* 262, 1132-46.
- 74. Rouse, J. & Jackson, S. P. (2002). Interfaces between the detection, signaling, and repair of DNA damage. *Science* **297**, 547-51.
- Ogiwara, H., Ui, A., Lai, M. S., Enomoto, T. & Seki, M. (2007). Chl1 and Ctf4 are required for damage-induced recombinations. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 354, 222-6.
- Huang, M. E. & Kolodner, R. D. (2005). A biological network in Saccharomyces cerevisiae prevents the deleterious effects of endogenous oxidative DNA damage. *Mol Cell* 17, 709-20.
- 77. Ando, A., Nakamura, T., Murata, Y., Takagi, H. & Shima, J. (2007). Identification and classification of genes required for tolerance to freeze-thaw stress revealed by genome-wide screening of Saccharomyces cerevisiae deletion strains. *FEMS Yeast Res* 7, 244-53.
- Dudley, A. M., Janse, D. M., Tanay, A., Shamir, R. & Church, G. M. (2005). A global view of pleiotropy and phenotypically derived gene function in yeast. *Mol Syst Biol* 1, 2005 0001.
- Smolka, M. B., Albuquerque, C. P., Chen, S. H. & Zhou, H. (2007). Proteomewide identification of in vivo targets of DNA damage checkpoint kinases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104, 10364-9.
- Putnam, C. D., Jaehnig, E. J. & Kolodner, R. D. (2009). Perspectives on the DNA damage and replication checkpoint responses in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *DNA Repair (Amst)* 8, 974-82.
- 81. Ranalli, T. A., DeMott, M. S. & Bambara, R. A. (2002). Mechanism underlying replication protein a stimulation of DNA ligase I. *J Biol Chem* **277**, 1719-27.
- 82. Matsunaga, T., Park, C. H., Bessho, T., Mu, D. & Sancar, A. (1996). Replication protein A confers structure-specific endonuclease activities to the XPF-ERCC1

and XPG subunits of human DNA repair excision nuclease. *J Biol Chem* 271, 11047-50.

- Morin, I., Ngo, H. P., Greenall, A., Zubko, M. K., Morrice, N. & Lydall, D. (2008). Checkpoint-dependent phosphorylation of Exo1 modulates the DNA damage response. *EMBO J* 27, 2400-10.
- 84. Slater, M. L. (1973). Effect of reversible inhibition of deoxyribonucleic acid synthesis on the yeast cell cycle. *J Bacteriol* **113**, 263-70.
- Elledge, S. J. & Davis, R. W. (1990). Two genes differentially regulated in the cell cycle and by DNA-damaging agents encode alternative regulatory subunits of ribonucleotide reductase. *Genes Dev* 4, 740-51.
- Koc, A., Wheeler, L. J., Mathews, C. K. & Merrill, G. F. (2004). Hydroxyurea arrests DNA replication by a mechanism that preserves basal dNTP pools. *J Biol Chem* 279, 223-30.
- Holmberg, C., Fleck, O., Hansen, H. A., Liu, C., Slaaby, R., Carr, A. M. & Nielsen, O. (2005). Ddb1 controls genome stability and meiosis in fission yeast. *Genes Dev* 19, 853-62.
- He, W., Zhao, Y., Zhang, C., An, L., Hu, Z., Liu, Y., Han, L., Bi, L., Xie, Z., Xue,
 P., Yang, F. & Hang, H. (2008). Rad9 plays an important role in DNA mismatch repair through physical interaction with MLH1. *Nucleic Acids Res* 36, 6406-17.
- Sweeney, F. D., Yang, F., Chi, A., Shabanowitz, J., Hunt, D. F. & Durocher, D. (2005). Saccharomyces cerevisiae Rad9 acts as a Mec1 adaptor to allow Rad53 activation. *Curr Biol* 15, 1364-75.
- 90. Pan, X., Ye, P., Yuan, D. S., Wang, X., Bader, J. S. & Boeke, J. D. (2006). A DNA integrity network in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Cell* 124, 1069-81.
- Workman, C. T., Mak, H. C., McCuine, S., Tagne, J. B., Agarwal, M., Ozier, O., Begley, T. J., Samson, L. D. & Ideker, T. (2006). A systems approach to mapping DNA damage response pathways. *Science* 312, 1054-9.
- Sogo, J. M., Lopes, M. & Foiani, M. (2002). Fork reversal and ssDNA accumulation at stalled replication forks owing to checkpoint defects. *Science* 297, 599-602.

- 93. Yang, Y., Sterling, J., Storici, F., Resnick, M. A. & Gordenin, D. A. (2008). Hypermutability of damaged single-strand DNA formed at double-strand breaks and uncapped telomeres in yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *PLoS Genet* 4, e1000264.
- Lee, C., Liachko, I., Bouten, R., Kelman, Z. & Tye, B. K. (2010). Alternative mechanisms for coordinating polymerase alpha and MCM helicase. *Mol Cell Biol* 30, 423-35.

CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS: MCM2 AS AN ACTIVE REGULATOR OF MCM2-7 IN THE CELL'S REPONSE TO DNA DAMAGE

5.1 <u>Why study the regulation of Mcm2-7?</u>

DNA replication is an essential process for all living organisms. Study of the regulation of DNA replication is critical for understanding how perturbations in the process can result in proliferative diseases, such as cancer. Replicative helicases, the complexes responsible for unwinding DNA in cells during DNA replication, exist in different oligomeric forms, varying from monomers to dodecamers. Furthermore, they vary in their subunit compositions (reviewed in ref. 1). Many helicases function as oligomers of identical subunits^{1; 2; 3; 4; 5; 6}. In contrast, the replicative helicase in eukaryotes is comprised of six distinct subunits, Mcm2 through 7, each of which is proposed to possess unique functions^{7; 8}. Studies of the functions of each subunit are essential to understand the mechanisms of DNA unwinding within eukaryotic cells. A further level of complexity is added when examining the modification of individual Mcm subunits by kinases. One of the kinases that modulates the activity of Mcm2-7 is the Dbf4-dependent kinase (DDK), comprised of the Cdc7 catalytic subunit and the Dbf4 regulatory subunit^{9; 10; 11; 12; 13; 14; 15; 16; 17}. Further justification for studying the regulation of Mcm2-7 by DDK is highlighted in a number of studies demonstrating the potential for targeting DDK in anti-cancer therapeutics¹⁸.

In this thesis, I have defined the Mcm2 subunit as an active regulator of DNA unwinding and binding by the Mcm2-7 complex. Specifically, Mcm2 utilizes ATP binding and hydrolysis to regulate DNA unwinding and binding by Mcm complexes. I have also demonstrated that DDK regulates ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2. DNA unwinding

is inhibited in a version of the Mcm2-7 complex with a DDK-specific phosphomimetic mutant of the Mcm2 subunit. This is the first report that modification of a subunit of Mcm2-7 by DDK affects the DNA unwinding activity of the Mcm2-7 helicase. Lastly, I have defined the biological relevance of Mcm2's regulatory function in budding yeast; phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK is important for the cell's response to DNA damage.

5.2 Mcm2 is an active regulator of Mcm complexes

A subcomplex of Mcms comprised of Mcm4, Mcm6 and Mcm7 that was originally isolated from HeLa cells unwinds DNA¹⁹. Before DNA unwinding by Mcm2-7 was observed by Schwacha and Bochman²⁰, Mcm4/6/7 served as a model for DNA unwinding for many years and has generated many insights into the mechanism of how Mcm complexes unwind DNA^{21; 22; 23; 24}. Mcm2, Mcm3 and Mcm5 inhibit DNA unwinding by Mcm4/6/7^{19; 25; 26; 27; 28}. This observation has led to the suggestion that Mcm4, Mcm6 and Mcm7 form the catalytic core of Mcm2-7 and that Mcm2, Mcm3 and Mcm5 function as regulators within Mcm2-7 (Figure 5-1). The function(s) that each subunit has in the cell is essential since each subunit is essential (reviewed in ref. 29).



Figure 5-1 Model of the function of Mcm subunits within Mcm2-7. One half of the Mcm2-7 complex is comprised of the Mcm2, Mcm3 and Mcm5 subunits which are thought to function as regulators of DNA binding and unwinding by Mcm2-7. The other half of the complex is comprised of the Mcm4, Mcm6 and Mcm7 subunits which are proposed to directly catalyze DNA unwinding. Adapted from ref. 7.

The results I presented in Chapter 2 define a regulatory role for Mcm2 in the Mcm2-7 complex. Prior to my work, Mcm2 was thought to inhibit the Mcm4/6/7 complex passively, simply through interaction of Mcm2 with Mcm4/6/7^{28; 30}. Here, I provided evidence that ATP binding and hydrolysis by Mcm2 is required to regulate the DNA binding and unwinding activities of Mcm complexes (Chapter 2). Consistent with this role, recent studies show that recombinant budding yeast Mcm2-7 complexes containing the lethal lysine to alanine mutation in the P-loop of either the Mcm2 or the Mcm3 subunits unwind DNA in vitro^{31; 32}. Similar mutations in the Mcm4, Mcm5, Mcm6, or Mcm7 subunits do not support DNA unwinding in Mcm2-7 complexes and have a greater effect on ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2-7. These data are consistent with Mcm2 and Mcm3 having regulatory roles and Mcm4, 6 and 7 functioning in the catalysis of DNA unwinding. In my work, mutation of the P-loop of Mcm5 did not alter its ability to inhibit DNA unwinding by Mcm4/6/7, however, further studies are required to elucidate the nature of DNA unwinding inhibition by Mcm3 and Mcm5. The functions of each subunit may change when other factors associate with Mcm2-7, such as Cdc45 and

GINS. The formation the CMG complex by association of Cdc45 and GINS with Mcm2-7 stimulates the helicase activity of *Drosophila* Mcm2-7³³. In this study, Ilves *et al.* made 6 different CMG complexes in which each Mcm subunit contained a lysine to alanine substitution in the P-loop analogous to those used in the studies with yeast Mcms³³. In stark contrast to the findings with yeast Mcms, the lysine to alanine substitutions in the Mcm2 or Mcm3 subunits resulted in CMG complexes that unwound DNA poorly whereas similar substitutions in Mcm4, Mcm6 or Mcm7 unwound DNA similarly to wild type CMG. A CMG complex containing a mutant version of Mcm5 did not unwind DNA which is consistent with the findings using budding yeast Mcm2-7³³. The differences between *Drosophila* CMG complexes and yeast Mcm2-7 complexes may be attributed to differences in activity of Mcm2-7 when associated with Cdc45 and GINS and/or that Mcm2-7 behaves differently in *Drosophila* and budding yeast. Future studies with yeast CMG will help in addressing this question.

5.3 <u>Allosteric regulation using nucleotide</u>

My studies have determined that Mcm2 uses ATP hydrolysis to allosterically regulate the DNA binding and unwinding activity of Mcm2-7. An example of using ATP binding and hydrolysis to allosterically regulate DNA binding and unwinding can also be observed in the monomeric PcrA helicase of *E. coli*³⁴. Mutations at an arginine residue in PcrA (R260) resulted in a mutant protein that hydrolyzes ATP and binds DNA similar to the wild type protein but was unable to unwind DNA³⁴. ATP is also used to allosterically regulate the dimeric Rep DNA helicase complex from *E. coli*^{35; 36; 37}. In the Rep dimer the nucleotide binding status of one subunit is allosterically communicated to another subunit to regulate ssDNA association^{35; 36; 37}. Hexameric helicases also uses ATP to allosterically

regulate DNA unwinding and binding including the AAA+ superfamily-member RuvB which resolves Holliday junctions formed during recombinational repair and homolgous recombination at stalled replication forks in *E. coli*^{38; 39}.

5.4 <u>Mcm2 communicates its nucleotide-binding status to other subunits</u>

The mechanisms by which helicases bind and hydrolyze ATP have given insights into the potential mechanisms by which ATP binding and hydrolysis may function within complexes of Mcms. In the crystal structure of the BPV E1, the subunits vary in their nucleotide-binding status sequentially around the helicase ring⁴. When nucleotide binds to one subunit, *trans*-interacting residues of a neighbouring subunit are pulled toward the bound nucleotide causing conformational changes in the *trans*-subunit (Figure 5-2; ref. 4). SV40 LTag and the archael SsoMCM complex function similarly^{40; 41}.

Interactions in *trans* are important at the subunit interface of Mcm proteins as well. The arginine 708 of the SRF motif of Mcm6 is predicted to act in *trans* with the nucleotide bound to Mcm2⁷. Consistent with this idea, I showed in Chapter 2 that substitution of this arginine with an alanine (Mcm6_{R708A}) has the same effect on ATP hydrolysis in the Mcm2/6 pair as does mutating lysine 549 to alanine in the Mcm2 P-loop. The $mcm6_{R708A}$ mutation is lethal in budding yeast³¹ and is similar to the lethality of the $mcm2_{K549A}$ mutation I observe (Figure 2-9). These observations support the conclusion that interactions in *trans* between Mcm2 and Mcm6 are required for Mcm2's regulatory function.



Figure 5-2 Structural changes of the ATP sites of BVP E1 upon nucleotide binding. A view the subunits interfaces of the BVP E1 crystal structure (PDB ID=2GXA) and in the **(A)** ADP-bound form and **(B)** nucleotide-free form ("Apo"). In yellow is the P-loop motif of one subunit and in cyan the SRF motif of a neighbouring subunit. Highlighted in blue is the conserved lysine (K439) in the P-loop and in green the arginine (R538) of the SRF motif. Distances (in angstroms) between K439 and R538 are shown by the dashed line.

5.5 <u>The roles of nucleotide hydrolysis in regulating DNA binding and unwinding</u>

<u>in helicases</u>

The conformational changes associated with nucleotide binding and hydrolysis are critical for DNA binding and unwinding in helicases. In the crystal structure of SV40 LTag, the *trans*-interacting arginine (R538) of the SRF motif is located at the base of the pre-sensor 1 (PS1) β -hairpin (Figure 5-3A; refs. 4; 41). Mutation of the PS1 hairpin in SV40 LTag, as well as in SsoMCM and BVP E1, interfere with DNA binding and unwinding^{42; 43; 44}. However, DNA unwinding is affected more strongly than DNA binding demonstrating that mutations of the PS1 β -hairpin affect translocation of the

helicase along DNA^{42; 43; 44}. The position of this hairpin with respect to DNA is dependent on whether ATP, ADP or no nucleotide occupies a subunit's ATP site.

I theorize that the ATP-binding status of Mcm2 is communicated to the Mcm6 subunit to regulate DNA unwinding and binding by the Mcm2-7 complex. Thus Mcm2 is not directly involved in DNA binding by Mcm2-7 *per se* but indirectly through altering the conformation of a neighbouring subunit (such as Mcm6). Mutation at the ATP site of Mcm2 results in a conformation of Mcm2-7 that favours DNA binding, but decreases DNA unwinding (Figure 2-8, 3-5 and 3-6). Genetic and biochemical studies of the interactions between the ATP sites and β -hairpins of Mcm2-7 will aid in addressing this question.



Figure 5-3 *Trans*-interacting residues in SV40 LTag. A. A view of the structure of the β -hairpin (residues 495-523) of one subunit of SV40 LTag (*trans* subunit) and a residue of the phosphate binding loop of a neighbouring (*cis*) subunit (PDB ID=1SVM). Highlighted in red is a *trans*-interacting arginine residue (R498) at the base of the β -hairpin (blue), in green is a strictly conserved *cis*-interacting lysine (K432) of the phosphate binding loop and in orange the bound nucleotide (ADP). The grey background is a representation of the space occupied by the *cis* and *trans* subunits.

5.6 When is Mcm2 required to regulate DNA binding by Mcm2-7?

DNA binding by Mcm2-7 is important during at least two stages of DNA replication: initiation and elongation. During initiation, Mcm2-7 first binds to replication origins. During elongation, Mcm2-7 at the replication fork must remain associated with DNA for DNA unwinding. Here, I propose a model in which ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 is required to regulate translocation of the helicase along DNA (Figure 5-4A). In this model, wild type levels of ATP hydrolysis at the Mcm2/6 interface support translocation of the

helicase. If ATP hydrolysis by the Mcm2 subunit is inhibited then Mcm2-7 binds DNA too tightly and translocation by Mcm2-7 is inhibited.

An alternative model is possible in which DNA binding by Mcm2-7 is regulated by ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 during initiation (Figure 5-4B). I support the model in which ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 is required to regulate translocation of Mcm2-7 based on a number of observation presented in this thesis and from other works. First, complexes of Mcm2-7 that contain ATP site mutants of Mcm2 unwind DNA poorly but bind DNA tightly. This suggests that the mutant Mcm2-7 complex is not defective in binding DNA but is defective in translocating along the DNA (Figures 3-5 and 3-6). If initiation were defective I would anticipate a reduced affinity of Mcm2-7 for DNA. Second, an initiation defect would likely result in growth defects; however, cells containing an ATP site mutant of Mcm2 that is severely compromised for ATP hydrolysis ($mcm2_{K549R}$) grow like wild type cells (Figure 2-9). Third, work from Chapters 3 and 4 demonstrates that DDKdependent phosphorylation of Mcm2 regulates ATP hydrolysis. Under normal growth conditions, cells harbouring a mcm² allele that cannot be modified by DDK (mcm²_{AA}) grow normally and progress through the cell cycle similar to wild type cells when growth is unperturbed (Figures 3-3 and 4-1). In the studies of Sheu and Stillman (2006), a mutant version of mcm4 that is defective in initiation had a large 2C DNA-content in asynchronously growing cells and were slow to enter S phase relative to wild type cells¹⁶. In contrast, mcm2_{AA}-containing cells had wild type-like distributions of 1C and 2C DNA and entered S phase at a similar time as wild type cells. Lastly, the essential function of DDK in yeast is likely the phosphorylation of the Mcm4 subunit during initiation⁴⁵, thus DDK-dependent modification of Mcm2, and the consequent regulation of its ATP hydrolysis activity, is most likely not required for initiation.

A Translocation



Figure 5-4 Models of ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 regulating DNA binding and unwinding by Mcm2-7. A. A model predicting the requirement of ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 in regulating translocation of the Mcm2-7 helicase. Depicted is the movement of two Mcm2-7 hexamers at initiated replication forks. Wild type levels of ATP hydrolysis at the Mcm2/6 subunit interface support translocation of the helicase ("Mcm2/6 ATPase Uninhibited"). Mutations at the Mcm2/6 ATP site that decrease ATP hydrolysis interfere with translocation ("Mcm2/6 ATPase Inhibited"). **B.** A model depicting the involvement of ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 in regulating the DNA binding activity of Mcm2-7 during initiation. "Origin melting" refers to the production of ssDNA from dsDNA during initiation generating the replication bubble. Bi-directional replication forks are shown. ATP hydrolysis at the Mcm2/6 subunit interface is shown but ATP hydrolysis at the other subunit interfaces is omitted for simplicity. Only DNA unwinding by a single hexamer in the steric exclusion model is shown for clarity of the figure, but the other models of DNA unwinding depicted in Figure 1-5 are possible.

5.7 <u>When is ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 regulated by Mcm2 phosphorylation?</u>

I demonstrated phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK is required in the cell's response to DNA damage in Chapters 3 and 4 of this thesis. Environmental toxins, radiation and even replication itself can damage the genome⁴⁶. The cell has established intricate mechanisms to deal with DNA damage. If DNA damage occurs during the S

phase, the S phase checkpoint in cells will halt DNA replication to allow the cell time to deal with the damage^{47; 48}. Phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK provides one possible mechanism by which the advancement of replication forks can be slowed to allow time for repair in the event of DNA damage. Consistent with this hypothesis, cells that presumably cannot slow DNA unwinding $(mcm2_{AA})$ are sensitive to DNA damage (Figure 4-3). DDK is involved in the S phase checkpoint^{49; 50; 51; 52; 53; 54; 55} and likely has at least two functions in the cell's response to DNA damage. First, Rad53-mediated phosphorylation of Dbf4 inhibits the firing of late origins by removing DDK from origins^{49; 50; 51}. Second, DDK's kinase activity is likely required during the S phase checkpoint and DDK is found at replication forks during DNA damage to perform unknown functions^{52; 53; 54; 55}. My results support an active role for DDK in the S phase checkpoint with respect to Mcm2 phosphorylation; the $mcm2_{EE}$ phosphomimetic mutant suppresses growth defects of cells deleted at cdc7 (but maintained by mcm5-bob1) in caffeine and HU (Figures 3-4). Together, these data are consistent with my model in which phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK is required to slow DNA unwinding and contributes to replication fork stability.

5.8 <u>Putting it all together: a model for how phosphorylation of Mcm2 is required</u> to slow replication forks

Phosphorylation can alter a protein by affecting its activity. Phosphorylation of Mcm2 alters its ability to hydrolyze ATP and regulates the DNA binding and unwinding by Mcm2-7 complex (Figures 3-5, 3-6 and 3-7). I proposed a model in Figure 5-4A in which ATP binding and hydrolysis by Mcm2 is required to regulate translocation of Mcm2-7. Expanding on this model, an unphosphorylated Mcm2 subunit within Mcm2-7

in cells growing normally would support DNA unwinding because its ATP hydrolysis activity is uninhibited (Figure 5-5A). Upon phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK in cells under replicative stress, ATP hydrolysis is inhibited and DNA unwinding is decreased due to the tighter association of the phosphorylated Mcm2-7 complex with ssDNA (Figure 5-5B). In budding yeast, uncontrolled replication fork progression in the presence of replicative stress caused by mutant checkpoint proteins generates unprotected ssDNA which is deleterious to the cell and increases the rate of mutagenesis^{56; 57}. Similar to these checkpoint mutants, Mcm2-7 may accumulate unwanted ssDNA in the presence of replicative stress when DNA unwinding cannot be slowed, such as with the $mcm2_{AA}$ allele. Consistent with this idea, a recent study reports that depletion of Cdc7 in human cells increases the replication fork speed in Chk1-depleted cells (Chk1 in human cells is the functional homolog of Rad53 in yeast) suggesting that Cdc7 is required to slow the replication fork⁵⁸. Additionally, intact Mcm2-7, Cdc45, GINS and polymerase complexes are found at stalled replication forks thus, DNA unwinding by Mcm2-7 must be inhibited at stalled replication forks⁵⁹. It is not simply disassembly of the replisome that causes fork pausing.

The screen for suppressor mutations of the $mcm2_{AA}$ allele presented in Chapter 4 also provides evidence that phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK is required to slow replication forks. I postulate that $mcm2_{AA}$ cells are sensitive to replicative stress because DNA unwinding by Mcm2-7 in these cells cannot be slowed in response to genotoxic assaults. I therefore anticipated that intergenic mutations that slow replication forks may suppress the sensitivity of $mcm2_{AA}$ cells to replicative stress. Indeed, this is what I observed. Many of the gene deletions I identified as suppressors of the caffeine, MMS, 5FU and HU sensitivities of the $mcm2_{AA}$ strain can be attributed to slower moving replication forks. However, future studies of replication fork progression in $mcm2_{EE}$ cells are warranted to test this idea directly.



Normal Fork Progression

Slow Fork Progression

Figure 5-5 Model of phosphorylation of Mcm2 in regulating DNA unwinding by Mcm2-7 during the cell's response to DNA damage. A. Shown for comparison is the model from Figure 5-4C that would occur in cells that are undergoing unperturbed DNA replication ("Unperturbed Growth"). **B.** Depicted is a model for inhibition of replication fork progression upon phosphorylation of the Mcm2 subunit of Mcm2-7. In this model, DDK phosphorylates the Mcm2 subunit when DNA damage occurs. Consequently ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2 is reduced (dashed arrows) and DNA unwinding, and hence replication fork progression, is slowed.

5.9 How is DNA unwinding resumed if Mcm2 is phosphorylated?

The responses induced by the DNA damage checkpoint must be attenuated for growth of a cell to resume. In budding yeast, recovery from the DNA damage checkpoint is mediated in part through dephosphorylation of Rad53 by the protein phosphatases Ptc2 and Ptc3^{60; 61; 62}. Alternatively, if the cell cannot repair the damage or encounters too much DNA damage, they can undergo adaptation to the checkpoint, which also involves

the inactivation of Rad53⁶³. The adaptation response involves the cell ignoring the DNA damage and progressing through the cell cycle to repair the DNA damage in a subsequent cell cycle or continue to proliferate with the mutation. A feature common in both the recovery and adaptation responses is the resumption of DNA replication. If phosphorylation of the Mcm2 subunit leads to slower DNA unwinding by Mcm2-7 during replicative stress it implies that to resume DNA unwinding at a normal rate, Mcm2 must be dephosphorylated by a phosphatase. It is important to note that cells harbouring $mcm2_{EE}$ grow at the same rate as wild type cells under all conditions I have tested (Figure 3-4). These observations are paradoxical with the fact that DNA unwinding by Mcm_{2EE}^{2} -7 is inhibited (Figure 3-5). The concentration of Mcms in cells is ~20-fold in excess to the number required for bidirectional replication forks (reviewed in ref. 29). In human cells and Xenopus egg extracts, dormant origins that are not used for DNA replication during normal cell growth can be licensed by the excess Mcm subunits in the presence of replicative stress^{64; 65; 66}. These dormant origins fire near regions where replication forks have stalled⁶⁵. In $mcm2_{EE}$ cells, no overt phenotype such as the slowing of the S phase would be observed if licensing and firing these dormant origins negated the effects of a slow-moving replication forks. However, further studies on replication fork progression and origin utilization in $mcm2_{EE}$ cells are needed to confirm this hypothesis.

5.10 Validation of the *in vivo* Mcm2 target residues of DDK

My evidence that DDK specifically targets serines 164 and 170 in budding yeast Mcm2 is two-fold. First, phosphomimetic substitutions of these sites ($mcm2_{EE}$) can bypass a growth defect of cells lacking yeast DDK (but supported for growth by the mcm5-bob1 mutation) in the presence of caffeine and HU. Second, the *E. coli*-purified

 $Mcm2_{AA}$ protein is not a substrate for DDK *in vitro* (Figure 3-1). It is formally possible that in cells these sites are modified by other kinases downstream of DDK during the cell's response to replicative stress. However, this seems unlikely for two reasons. First, studies of Mcms from a variety of species demonstrate that DDK directly modifies Mcm subunits, including Mcm2^{10; 14; 15; 16; 17; 45; 67; 68; 69; 70; 71; 72; 73}. Second, to my knowledge, DDK has not been shown to activate other kinases that would subsequently modify Mcm subunits. The use of phospho-specific antibodies directed at phospho-S164 and -S170 of Mcm2 would be extremely useful in validating my findings in cells.

5.11 <u>Phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK and the S phase checkpoint</u>

Rad53 physically interacts with Cdc7 and Rad53 affects DDK activity^{53; 74; 75; 76;} ⁷⁷. It is perhaps not surprising then that I also detect a genetic interaction between $mcm2_{AA}$ and a checkpoint-defective version of rad53 (mec2-1). Cells deleted at chk1 are also synthetic lethal with $mcm2_{AA}$ (Table 4-2). Chk1 is an effector kinase of the DNA damage checkpoint and its activities work in parallel with Rad53 to pause replication forks^{78; 79}. Although DDK's active role in the checkpoint has been alluded to in other studies^{52; 53; 54;} ⁵⁵, it is unclear if or how Rad53 may influence DDK's function in this role. Based on the physical interactions between DDK and Rad53 and genetic studies with cdc7, dbf4, rad53and chk1 mutants^{52; 53; 54; 55; 74; 75; 76; 77}, it seems likely that Rad53 and Chk1 may act in parallel pathways to activate DDK in the S phase checkpoint. Figure 5-6 presents a summary model of the induction of phosphorylation of Mcm2 during the S phase checkpoint in response to DNA base damage. Phosphorylation of the Mcm2 by DDK subunit inhibits its ATPase activity which, in turn, inhibits DNA unwinding by Mcm2-7. I propose slowing DNA unwinding by Mcm2 is required to slow replication fork progression and allows the cell time to repair damaged DNA.



Slow Replication Fork Progression?

Figure 5-6 A summary model of the induction of DDK-dependent phosphorylation of Mcm2 and its downstream consequences. Shown is a flowchart representing the events I propose induce phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK and the consequences of this phosphorylation event on the activity of Mcm2-7.

5.12 Conclusions

Overall, the studies presented in this thesis have implications in the understanding of the fundamental cellular process of DNA replication. I have demonstrated for the first time that the Mcm2 subunit of Mcm2-7 is an active regulatory subunit that requires ATP hydrolysis for its function. Furthermore, I have shown that nucleotide-dependent regulation by Mcm2 is controlled by phosphorylation of Mcm2 by the Cdc7/Dbf4 kinase. This provides a mechanism by which the activity of Mcm2 can be controlled and also addresses the question of the function of phosphorylation of Mcm2 by DDK in budding yeast. My work also shows that phosphorylation of Mcm2 is required for the cell's response to DNA base damage. Future studies to determine if this function of DDK is conserved in human cells are warranted and have implications in targeting DDK as an anti-cancer therapeutics.

5.13 <u>References</u>

- Singleton, M. R., Dillingham, M. S. & Wigley, D. B. (2007). Structure and Mechanism of Helicases and Nucleic Acid Translocases. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* 76, 23-50.
- Yu, X., Hingorani, M. M., Patel, S. S. & Egelman, E. H. (1996). DNA is bound within the central hole to one or two of the six subunits of the T7 DNA helicase. *Nat Struct Biol* 3, 740-3.
- Shin, J. H., Heo, G. Y. & Kelman, Z. (2009). The Methanothermobacter thermautotrophicus MCM helicase is active as a hexameric ring. *J Biol Chem* 284, 540-6.
- 4. Enemark, E. J. & Joshua-Tor, L. (2006). Mechanism of DNA translocation in a replicative hexameric helicase. *Nature* **442**, 270-275.
- Enemark, E. J., Chen, G., Vaughn, D. E., Stenlund, A. & Joshua-Tor, L. (2000). Crystal structure of the DNA binding domain of the replication initiation protein E1 from papillomavirus. *Mol Cell* 6, 149-58.
- Sanders, C. M., Kovalevskiy, O. V., Sizov, D., Lebedev, A. A., Isupov, M. N. & Antson, A. A. (2007). Papillomavirus E1 helicase assembly maintains an asymmetric state in the absence of DNA and nucleotide cofactors. *Nucleic Acids Res* 35, 6451-7.
- Davey, M. J., Indiani, C. & O'Donnell, M. (2003). Reconstitution of the Mcm2-7p heterohexamer, subunit arrangement, and ATP site architecture. *J Biol Chem* 278, 4491-9.
- Schwacha, A. & Bell, S. P. (2001). Interactions between two catalytically distinct MCM subgroups are essential for coordinated ATP hydrolysis and DNA replication. *Mol Cell* 8, 1093-104.
- Sato, N., Arai, K. & Masai, H. (1997). Human and Xenopus cDNAs encoding budding yeast Cdc7-related kinases: in vitro phosphorylation of MCM subunits by a putative human homologue of Cdc7. *EMBO J* 16, 4340-51.

- Lei, M., Kawasaki, Y., Young, M. R., Kihara, M., Sugino, A. & Tye, B. K. (1997). Mcm2 is a target of regulation by Cdc7-Dbf4 during the initiation of DNA synthesis. *Genes Dev.* 11, 3365-3374.
- Brown, G. W. & Kelly, T. J. (1998). Purification of Hsk1, a minichromosome maintenance protein kinase from fission yeast. *J Biol Chem* 273, 22083-90.
- Snaith, H. A., Brown, G. W. & Forsburg, S. L. (2000). Schizosaccharomyces pombe Hsk1p is a potential cds1p target required for genome integrity. *Mol Cell Biol* 20, 7922-32.
- Francis, L. I., Randell, J. C., Takara, T. J., Uchima, L. & Bell, S. P. (2009). Incorporation into the prereplicative complex activates the Mcm2-7 helicase for Cdc7-Dbf4 phosphorylation. *Genes Dev* 23, 643-54.
- Bruck, I. & Kaplan, D. (2009). Dbf4-Cdc7 phosphorylation of Mcm2 is required for cell growth. *J Biol Chem* 284, 28823-31.
- Montagnoli, A., Valsasina, B., Brotherton, D., Troiani, S., Rainoldi, S., Tenca, P., Molinari, A. & Santocanale, C. (2006). Identification of Mcm2 phosphorylation sites by S-phase-regulating kinases. *J Biol Chem* 281, 10281-90.
- Sheu, Y. J. & Stillman, B. (2006). Cdc7-Dbf4 phosphorylates MCM proteins via a docking site-mediated mechanism to promote S phase progression. *Mol Cell* 24, 101-13.
- Masai, H., Taniyama, C., Ogino, K., Matsui, E., Kakusho, N., Matsumoto, S., Kim, J. M., Ishii, A., Tanaka, T., Kobayashi, T., Tamai, K., Ohtani, K. & Arai, K. (2006). Phosphorylation of MCM4 by Cdc7 kinase facilitates its interaction with Cdc45 on the chromatin. *J Biol Chem* 281, 39249-61.
- Swords, R., Mahalingam, D., O'Dwyer, M., Santocanale, C., Kelly, K., Carew, J. & Giles, F. (2010). Cdc7 kinase a new target for drug development. *Eur J Cancer* 46, 33-40.
- Ishimi, Y. (1997). A DNA helicase activity is associated with an MCM4, -6, and -7 protein complex. *J Biol Chem* 272, 24508-13.
- Bochman, M. L. & Schwacha, A. (2008). The Mcm2-7 Complex Has In Vitro Helicase Activity. *Molecular Cell* 31, 287-293.

- Kaplan, D. L., Davey, M. J. & O'Donnell, M. (2003). Mcm4,6,7 uses a "pump in ring" mechanism to unwind DNA by steric exclusion and actively translocate along a duplex. *J Biol Chem* 278, 49171-82.
- You, Z., Ishimi, Y., Masai, H. & Hanaoka, F. (2002). Roles of Mcm7 and Mcm4 subunits in the DNA helicase activity of the mouse Mcm4/6/7 complex. *J Biol Chem* 277, 42471-9.
- You, Z., Komamura, Y. & Ishimi, Y. (1999). Biochemical analysis of the intrinsic Mcm4-Mcm6-Mcm7 DNA helicase activity. *Mol Cell Biol* 19, 8003-15.
- You, Z. & Masai, H. (2005). DNA binding and helicase actions of mouse MCM4/6/7 helicase. *Nucleic Acids Res* 33, 3033-47.
- Lee, J. K. & Hurwitz, J. (2000). Isolation and characterization of various complexes of the minichromosome maintenance proteins of *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *J Biol Chem* 275, 18871-8.
- Sato, M., Gotow, T., You, Z., Komamura-Kohno, Y., Uchiyama, Y., Yabuta, N., Nojima, H. & Ishimi, Y. (2000). Electron microscopic observation and singlestranded DNA binding activity of the Mcm4,6,7 complex. *J Mol Biol* 300, 421-31.
- Ishimi, Y., Komamura, Y., You, Z. & Kimura, H. (1998). Biochemical function of mouse minichromosome maintenance 2 protein. *J Biol Chem* 273, 8369-75.
- Yabuta, N., Kajimura, N., Mayanagi, K., Sato, M., Gotow, T., Uchiyama, Y., Ishimi, Y. & Nojima, H. (2003). Mammalian Mcm2/4/6/7 complex forms a toroidal structure. *Genes Cells* 8, 413-21.
- Forsburg, S. L. (2004). Eukaryotic MCM proteins: beyond replication initiation. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* 68, 109-31.
- 30. Ishimi, Y., Komamura-Kohno, Y., Arai, K. & Masai, H. (2001). Biochemical activities associated with mouse Mcm2 protein. *J Biol Chem* **276**, 42744-52.
- Bochman, M. L., Bell, S. P. & Schwacha, A. (2008). Subunit organization of Mcm2-7 and the unequal role of active sites in ATP hydrolysis and viability. *Mol Cell Biol* 28, 5865-73.
- Bochman, M. L. & Schwacha, A. (2010). The Saccharomyces cerevisiae Mcm6/2 and Mcm5/3 ATPase active sites contribute to the function of the putative Mcm2-7 'gate'. *Nucleic Acids Res* 38, 6078-88.

- Ilves, I., Petojevic, T., Pesavento, J. J. & Botchan, M. R. (2010). Activation of the MCM2-7 helicase by association with Cdc45 and GINS proteins. *Mol Cell* 37, 247-58.
- 34. Dillingham, M. S., Soultanas, P. & Wigley, D. B. (1999). Site-directed mutagenesis of motif III in PcrA helicase reveals a role in coupling ATP hydrolysis to strand separation. *Nucleic Acids Res* 27, 3310-7.
- Wong, I. & Lohman, T. M. (1992). Allosteric effects of nucleotide cofactors on Escherichia coli Rep helicase-DNA binding. *Science* 256, 350-5.
- Bjornson, K. P., Wong, I. & Lohman, T. M. (1996). ATP hydrolysis stimulates binding and release of single stranded DNA from alternating subunits of the dimeric E. coli Rep helicase: implications for ATP-driven helicase translocation. J Mol Biol 263, 411-22.
- Wong, I. & Lohman, T. M. (1997). A two-site mechanism for ATP hydrolysis by the asymmetric Rep dimer P2S as revealed by site-specific inhibition with ADP-A1F4. *Biochemistry* 36, 3115-25.
- Marrione, P. E. & Cox, M. M. (1996). Allosteric effects of RuvA protein, ATP, and DNA on RuvB protein-mediated ATP hydrolysis. *Biochemistry* 35, 11228-38.
- 39. Hishida, T., Han, Y. W., Fujimoto, S., Iwasaki, H. & Shinagawa, H. (2004). Direct evidence that a conserved arginine in RuvB AAA+ ATPase acts as an allosteric effector for the ATPase activity of the adjacent subunit in a hexamer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101, 9573-7.
- 40. Moreau, M. J., McGeoch, A. T., Lowe, A. R., Itzhaki, L. S. & Bell, S. D. (2007).
 ATPase site architecture and helicase mechanism of an archaeal MCM. *Mol Cell* 28, 304-14.
- Gai, D., Zhao, R., Li, D., Finkielstein, C. V. & Chen, X. S. (2004). Mechanisms of conformational change for a replicative hexameric helicase of SV40 large tumor antigen. *Cell* 119, 47-60.
- Shen, J., Gai, D., Patrick, A., Greenleaf, W. B. & Chen, X. S. (2005). The roles of the residues on the channel beta-hairpin and loop structures of simian virus 40 hexameric helicase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102, 11248-53.

- McGeoch, A. T., Trakselis, M. A., Laskey, R. A. & Bell, S. D. (2005).
 Organization of the archaeal MCM complex on DNA and implications for the helicase mechanism. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 12, 756-762.
- Castella, S., Bingham, G. & Sanders, C. M. (2006). Common determinants in DNA melting and helicase-catalysed DNA unwinding by papillomavirus replication protein E1. *Nucleic Acids Res* 34, 3008-19.
- 45. Sheu, Y. J. & Stillman, B. (2010). The Dbf4-Cdc7 kinase promotes S phase by alleviating an inhibitory activity in Mcm4. *Nature* **463**, 113-7.
- Foiani, M., Pellicioli, A., Lopes, M., Lucca, C., Ferrari, M., Liberi, G., Muzi Falconi, M. & Plevani, P. (2000). DNA damage checkpoints and DNA replication controls in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Mutat Res* 451, 187-96.
- 47. Hartwell, L. H. & Weinert, T. A. (1989). Checkpoints: controls that ensure the order of cell cycle events. *Science* **246**, 629-34.
- 48. Hartwell, L. (1992). Defects in a cell cycle checkpoint may be responsible for the genomic instability of cancer cells. *Cell* **71**, 543-6.
- Santocanale, C. & Diffley, J. F. (1998). A Mec1- and Rad53-dependent checkpoint controls late-firing origins of DNA replication. *Nature* 395, 615-8.
- 50. Duncker, B. P., Shimada, K., Tsai-Pflugfelder, M., Pasero, P. & Gasser, S. M. (2002). An N-terminal domain of Dbf4p mediates interaction with both origin recognition complex (ORC) and Rad53p and can deregulate late origin firing. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **99**, 16087-92.
- 51. Duncker, B. P. & Brown, G. W. (2003). Cdc7 kinases (DDKs) and checkpoint responses: lessons from two yeasts. *Mutat Res* **532**, 21-7.
- Matsumoto, S., Ogino, K., Noguchi, E., Russell, P. & Masai, H. (2005). Hsk1-Dfp1/Him1, the Cdc7-Dbf4 kinase in Schizosaccharomyces pombe, associates with Swi1, a component of the replication fork protection complex. *J Biol Chem* 280, 42536-42.
- Dolan, W. P., Le, A. H., Schmidt, H., Yuan, J. P., Green, M. & Forsburg, S. L. (2010). Fission Yeast Hsk1 (Cdc7) Kinase is Required After Replication Initiation for Induced Mutagenesis and Proper Response to DNA Alkylation Damage. *Genetics* 185, 39-53.

- 54. Fung, A. D., Ou, J., Bueler, S. & Brown, G. W. (2002). A conserved domain of Schizosaccharomyces pombe dfp1(+) is uniquely required for chromosome stability following alkylation damage during S phase. *Mol Cell Biol* 22, 4477-90.
- 55. Jones, D. R., Prasad, A. A., Chan, P. K. & Duncker, B. P. (2010). The Dbf4 motif C zinc finger promotes DNA replication and mediates resistance to genotoxic stress. *Cell Cycle* 9, In press.
- Sogo, J. M., Lopes, M. & Foiani, M. (2002). Fork reversal and ssDNA accumulation at stalled replication forks owing to checkpoint defects. *Science* 297, 599-602.
- Yang, Y., Sterling, J., Storici, F., Resnick, M. A. & Gordenin, D. A. (2008). Hypermutability of damaged single-strand DNA formed at double-strand breaks and uncapped telomeres in yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *PLoS Genet* 4, e1000264.
- Petermann, E., Woodcock, M. & Helleday, T. (2010). Chk1 promotes replication fork progression by controlling replication initiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 107, 16090-5.
- Calzada, A., Hodgson, B., Kanemaki, M., Bueno, A. & Labib, K. (2005).
 Molecular anatomy and regulation of a stable replisome at a paused eukaryotic DNA replication fork. *Genes Dev* 19, 1905-19.
- Leroy, C., Lee, S. E., Vaze, M. B., Ochsenbien, F., Guerois, R., Haber, J. E. & Marsolier-Kergoat, M. C. (2003). PP2C phosphatases Ptc2 and Ptc3 are required for DNA checkpoint inactivation after a double-strand break. *Mol Cell* 11, 827-35.
- Guillemain, G., Ma, E., Mauger, S., Miron, S., Thai, R., Guerois, R., Ochsenbein,
 F. & Marsolier-Kergoat, M. C. (2007). Mechanisms of checkpoint kinase Rad53 inactivation after a double-strand break in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Mol Cell Biol* 27, 3378-89.
- Szyjka, S. J., Aparicio, J. G., Viggiani, C. J., Knott, S., Xu, W., Tavare, S. & Aparicio, O. M. (2008). Rad53 regulates replication fork restart after DNA damage in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Genes Dev* 22, 1906-20.
- 63. Vidanes, G. M., Sweeney, F. D., Galicia, S., Cheung, S., Doyle, J. P., Durocher,D. & Toczyski, D. P. (2010). CDC5 inhibits the hyperphosphorylation of the

checkpoint kinase Rad53, leading to checkpoint adaptation. *PLoS Biol* **8**, e1000286.

- Ibarra, A., Schwob, E. & Mendez, J. (2008). Excess MCM proteins protect human cells from replicative stress by licensing backup origins of replication. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105, 8956-61.
- Ge, X. Q., Jackson, D. A. & Blow, J. J. (2007). Dormant origins licensed by excess Mcm2-7 are required for human cells to survive replicative stress. *Genes Dev* 21, 3331-41.
- Woodward, A. M., Gohler, T., Luciani, M. G., Oehlmann, M., Ge, X., Gartner, A., Jackson, D. A. & Blow, J. J. (2006). Excess Mcm2-7 license dormant origins of replication that can be used under conditions of replicative stress. *J Cell Biol* 173, 673-83.
- Bousset, K. & Diffley, J. F. (1998). The Cdc7 protein kinase is required for origin firing during S phase. *Genes Dev* 12, 480-90.
- Donaldson, A. D., Fangman, W. L. & Brewer, B. J. (1998). Cdc7 is required throughout the yeast S phase to activate replication origins. *Genes Dev* 12, 491-501.
- Hartwell, L. H., Mortimer, R. K., Culotti, J. & Culotti, M. (1973). Genetic Control of the Cell Division Cycle in Yeast: V. Genetic Analysis of cdc Mutants. *Genetics* 74, 267-86.
- Jiang, W., McDonald, D., Hope, T. J. & Hunter, T. (1999). Mammalian Cdc7-Dbf4 protein kinase complex is essential for initiation of DNA replication. *EMBO* J 18, 5703-13.
- 71. Cho, W. H., Lee, Y. J., Kong, S. I., Hurwitz, J. & Lee, J. K. (2006). CDC7 kinase phosphorylates serine residues adjacent to acidic amino acids in the minichromosome maintenance 2 protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103, 11521-6.
- Chuang, L. C., Teixeira, L. K., Wohlschlegel, J. A., Henze, M., Yates, J. R., Mendez, J. & Reed, S. I. (2009). Phosphorylation of Mcm2 by Cdc7 promotes pre-replication complex assembly during cell-cycle re-entry. *Mol Cell* 35, 206-16.

- Tsuji, T., Ficarro, S. B. & Jiang, W. (2006). Essential role of phosphorylation of MCM2 by Cdc7/Dbf4 in the initiation of DNA replication in mammalian cells. *Mol Biol Cell* 17, 4459-72.
- Ogi, H., Wang, C. Z., Nakai, W., Kawasaki, Y. & Masumoto, H. (2008). The role of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae Cdc7-Dbf4 complex in the replication checkpoint. *Gene* 414, 32-40.
- Dohrmann, P. R., Oshiro, G., Tecklenburg, M. & Sclafani, R. A. (1999). RAD53 regulates DBF4 independently of checkpoint function in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Genetics* 151, 965-77.
- Aucher, W., Becker, E., Ma, E., Miron, S., Martel, A., Ochsenbein, F., Marsolier-Kergoat, M. C. & Guerois, R. (2010). A strategy for interaction site prediction between phospho-binding modules and their partners identified from proteomic data. *Mol Cell Proteomics* 9, 2745-59.
- 77. Weinreich, M. & Stillman, B. (1999). Cdc7p-Dbf4p kinase binds to chromatin during S phase and is regulated by both the APC and the RAD53 checkpoint pathway. *EMBO J* 18, 5334-46.
- Feijoo, C., Hall-Jackson, C., Wu, R., Jenkins, D., Leitch, J., Gilbert, D. M. & Smythe, C. (2001). Activation of mammalian Chk1 during DNA replication arrest: a role for Chk1 in the intra-S phase checkpoint monitoring replication origin firing. *J Cell Biol* 154, 913-23.
- 79. Naylor, M. L., Li, J. M., Osborn, A. J. & Elledge, S. J. (2009). Mrc1 phosphorylation in response to DNA replication stress is required for Mec1 accumulation at the stalled fork. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 106, 12765-70.

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Oct 31, 2010

This is a License Agreement between Brent E Stead ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

Supplier	Elsevier Limited The Boulevard,Langford Lane Kidlington,Oxford,OX5 1GB,UK
Registered Company Number	1982084
Customer name	Brent E Stead
Customer address	
License number	2538930869338
License date	Oct 30, 2010
Licensed content publisher	Elsevier
Licensed content publication	Journal of Molecular Biology
Licensed content title	ATP Binding and Hydrolysis by Mcm2 Regulate DNA Binding by Mcm Complexes
Licensed content author	Brent E. Stead, Catherine D. Sorbara, Christopher J. Brandl, Megan J. Davey
Licensed content date	14 August 2009
Licensed content volume number	391
Licensed content issue number	2
Number of pages	13
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Portion	full article
Format	electronic
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	Yes

CIRRICULUM VITAE

NAME:	Brent Edward Stead
DATE OF BIRTH	August 25, 1982
CURRENT DATE	December 19, 2010

EDUCATION

University of Western Ontario	2005-Present	Ph.D. Biochemistry
University of Western Ontario	2001-2005	B.Sc., Hon. Biochemistry

HONOURS & AWARDS

2007-2010	Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council Postgraduate Scholarship (PGS).
2006-2007	Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council Canadian Graduate Scholarship (CGS).
2005-2006	Ontario Graduate Scholarship
2001-2005	Aiming for the Top Tuition Scholarship

JOUNAL ARTICLES

Ma, X., Stead, B.E., Rezvanpour, A. and Davey, M.J. (2010). **ATP-dependent** oligomerization of Mcm4/6/7 affects DNA binding. *BMC Biochemistry*, 11(1): 37.

Stead, B. E., Sorbara, C. D. Brandl, C. J. and Davey, M. J. (2009). **ATP binding and hydrolysis by Mcm2 regulate DNA binding by Mcm complexes**. *J Mol Biol*, 391(2): 301-13.

CONFERENCES

Stead, B. E., Sorbara, C. D. Brandl, C. J. and Davey, M. J. (2009). Mcm2 is a nucleotide-dependent regulator of Mcm complexes. Poster at the 2009 *Eukaryotic DNA Replication and Genome Maintenance* meeting, Cold Spring Harbour, New York.

Stead, B.E., Brandl, C.J. and Davey, M.J. (2009). Mcm2 requires nucleotide to regulate DNA binding by Mcm complexes. Presentation at the 13th Annual Buffalo DNA Replication and Repair Symposium, Buffalo, New York.

EMPLOYMENT

2005-2009	Teaching Assistant – University of Western Ontario	
UNIVERSITY SERVICES		
2007-2009	Undergraduate Committee	
2007-2008	Departmental Representative	
2006-2008	Biochemistry Social Committee	